### **University of Alberta**

# Novel Perspectives on Foreign-born Tuberculosis: Trends, Targets, and Transmission

by

Deanne Langlois-Klassen

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Public Health Sciences

©Deanne Langlois-Klassen Spring 2012 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

#### Dedication

This thesis is dedicated first and foremost to my wife, Cherie. Your commitment to my academic pursuits was steadfast, as was your support and encouragement. Quite simply, this research would not have been possible without you. A thank you cannot capture the depth of my gratitude to you but luckily I have a lifetime to show you. This thesis is also dedicated to my children, Tate and Brynn, who demonstrated a level of understanding and patience for my studies that was well beyond their years. Thank you for your insatiable curiosity and desire for learning -- you two are such a tremendous source of inspiration to me. I also thank my parents, Edmund and Darlene, for being extraordinary role models. Your love and support fostered my curiosity, confidence and independence. I credit you with my belief that dreams can be achieved through determination, dedication and an honest effort.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my primary PhD supervisor, Richard Long, for taking me under his wing. Your mentorship and support has been tremendous, enabling me to grow as a researcher and a person. My co-supervisor, L. Duncan Saunders, cannot be thanked enough for his continual guidance and confidence in me. Together, you created a training environment which enabled me to thrive both academically and personally. I am so very fortunate to have had you as my supervisors, not solely for your expertise but because of the kind and compassionate people that you are.

I am also grateful to my committee members, Dennis Kunimoto and Ambikaipakan (Sentil) Senthilselvan, for their expertise and assistance. It was a privilege to have had the opportunity to learn from you. Finally, thank you to the external reviewers for my PhD thesis, Linda Carroll and Kamran Khan.

#### Abstract

Immigrant-receiving countries like Canada must meet the challenge of tuberculosis (TB) in their foreign-born populations. One puzzling question is why, despite fluctuating levels of immigration from high incidence source countries, only modest variations in foreign-born TB incidence have been reported for decades. An additional concern is the disproportionate reactivation of latent TB infection (LTBI) in certain groups within this population. Despite these factors, routine screening for LTBI has not been widely implemented, primarily due to concern regarding cost-effectiveness. Another issue related to foreign-born TB is the potential importation of hypervirulent strains and/or strains with increased transmissibility. It is frequently speculated that the Beijing family of strains is included in this category. If true, TB resulting from Beijing strains could impact national TB control efforts.

This thesis aimed to (i) explain the relative constancy of TB incidence in the foreign-born in Canada by examining the trends in TB incidence among immigrant groups; (ii) identify high-yield target groups for routine screening for LTBI; and (iii) determine whether Beijing strains constitute an increased public health threat relative to other genotypes in Alberta, Canada in terms of infectiousness, drug-resistance and transmission.

These investigations found that relative constancy in foreign-born TB incidence is explained by a complex convergence of factors, including annual immigration levels, age at arrival, country of birth, and time since arrival. Consequently, immigrants ≤2 years post-arrival who were aged 15-35 years at arrival and born within countries with TB incidence rates >50/100,000 population were recommended as high-yield targets for the screening for LTBI. In Alberta, Beijing strains had similar disease presentations as non-Beijing strains apart from the former having significant associations with polyresistant-TB and multidrug-resistant TB as well as an association of borderline significance with respiratory TB. Beijing strains also had no greater of an association with recent transmission than non-Beijing strains in Alberta.

The high global prevalence of TB, the emergence of extensively and totally drug-resistant TB, and unprecedented levels of human migration indicate that immigrant-receiving countries will be challenged by TB in their foreign-born populations for the foreseeable future. Serious consideration must be given to the implementation of effective screening strategies.

#### Acknowledgement

Much appreciation is extended to the members of the Tuberculosis Program and Evaluation Research Unit (University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada) for their data and laboratory assistance. The staff at the Provincial Laboratory for Public Health is also gratefully acknowledged for the work that was completed for the studies related to the Beijing family of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains. The critical reviews provided by Jure Manfreda (University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Canada) and Caitlin Pepperell (Stanford University, Stanford, USA) are also most appreciated. As well, many thanks to Caitlin Pepperell (Stanford University) and Marcel Behr (McGill University, Montreal, Canada) for the completion of secondary genotyping on a sample of case isolates.

The study related to foreign-born tuberculosis in Canada (Chapter 3) was funded, in part, by Citizenship and Immigration Canada and the Public Health Agency of Canada.

Funding for the studies related to the Beijing family of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (Chapter 4 and Chapter 5) was provided in part by the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), the University Hospital Foundation, and the First Nations and Inuit Health Branch, Health Canada. It was also supported by a Frederick Banting and Charles Best Canada Graduate Scholarship – Doctoral Award from the CIHR (D. Langlois-Klassen).

### **Table of Contents**

### CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1	Statement of the Problem	1
1.2	Study Objectives	4
1.3	Thesis Submitted for Partial Fulfillment of PhD	5
1.4	References	7

### CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1	Epide	miology of Tuberculosis	13
	2.1.1	Global Tuberculosis Epidemiology	13
	2.1.2	Tuberculosis Epidemiology in Canada	15
2.2	Molec	cular Genotyping	16
	2.2.1	Public Health Applications	16
	2.2.2	Molecular Epidemiological Studies	18
	2.2.3	Genotyping for Strain Classification	20
	2.2.4	Phylogenetic Analyses	20
2.3	The B	eijing Family of M. tuberculosis Strains	21
	2.3.1	Epidemiology of Beijing Strains	21
	2.3.2	Molecular Characteristics of Beijing Strains	22
	2.3.3	Genotyping to Differentiate Beijing Strains from	23
		Non-Beijing Strains	
	2.3.4	Beijing Strains in Canada	25
2.4	Refere	ences	27

# CHAPTER 3: PIECING THE PUZZLE TOGETHER: FOREIGN-BORN TUBERCULOSIS IN AN IMMIGRANT-RECEIVING COUNTRY

3.1	Abstract	45
3.2	Introduction	47
3.3	Methods	48
3.4	Results	51

### **Table of Contents (Con't)**

3.5	Discussion	53
3.6	References	70

CHAPTER 4: *MYCOBACTERIUM TUBERCULOSIS* BEIJING STRAINS IN AN IMMIGRANT-RECEIVING COUNTRY: AN EMERGING PUBLIC HEALTH THREAT?

4.1	Abstract	75
4.2	Introduction	77
4.3	Methods	78
4.4	Results	81
4.5	Discussion	83
4.6	References	98

## CHAPTER 5: TRANSMISSION OF BEIJING STRAINS OF MYCOBACTERIUM TUBERCULOSIS IN A LOW INCIDENCE SETTING: TIME TO SILENCE THE ALARMS?

5.1	Abstract	105
5.2	Introduction	107
5.3	Methods	108
5.4	Results	111
5.5	Discussion	115
5.6	References	133

### CHAPTER 6: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

6.1	Summ	hary of Research	141
	6.1.1	Overview of Thesis Research Studies	141
	6.1.2	Summary of Results	141

# Table of Contents (Con't)

6.2	Signif	icance of Research	143
	6.2.1	Foreign-born Tuberculosis in an Immigrant-Receiving	143
		Country	
	6.2.2	The Epidemiological and Clinical Significance of Beijing	145
		Strains	
	6.2.3	The Recent Transmission of Beijing and Non-Beijing	146
		Strains	
6.3	Streng	ths of the Research Studies	147
6.4	Limita	ations and Implications for Future Research	148
6.5	Concl	usions	150
6.6	Refere	ences	151

### APPENDICES

Appendix A:	Low TB incidence countries with very high human	154
	Development	
Appendix B:	Ethics approval for the study of Beijing strains in Alberta	156
Appendix C:	Permission to reproduce 'map maker' map	157

# List of Tables

Table 3-1	Countries of Birth within each WHO Country Risk Group by TB Incidence Rate	58
Table 3-2	Tuberculosis Incidence Among Pre-1986 Immigrant Arrivals in Canada, 1986 to 2002	61
Table 3-3	Tuberculosis Incidence Among 1986-2002 Immigrant Arrivals in Canada, 1986 to 2002	62
Table 3-4	Association of Tuberculosis Incidence and WHO Country Group Among Permanent Residents Who Arrived in Canada During the Study Period, 1986-2002	63
Table 3-5	Association Between Tuberculosis Incidence Rates and Time Since Arrival Among Permanent Residents Who Arrived in Canada in 1986-2002	64
Table 4-1	Countries in the Western Pacific Region of the World Health Organization, with Beijing 'Hotspot' Countries Highlighted	88
Table 4-2	Demographic Characteristics of Included and Excluded Mycobacterium tuberculosis Cases in Alberta, 1991- 2007	89
Table 4-3	Incidence of Beijing and Non-Beijing Strains of <i>M. tuberculosis</i> in Alberta, 1991-2007	90
Table 4-4	Association Between <i>M. tuberculosis</i> Genotype and Disease Presentation in Alberta, 1991 to mid-2007	91
Table 4-5	Associations Between <i>M. tuberculosis</i> Genotype and the Disease Presentations of Active TB Among Patients Aged 15-64 Years at Diagnosis with Known HIV Status	92
Table 4-6	Association Between <i>M. tuberculosis</i> Genotype and Disease Presentation Based the Population Group of TB Cases	93

# List of Tables (Con't)

Table 4-7	Association Between <i>M. tuberculosis</i> Genotype and Disease Presentation Based on the Age of TB Cases at Diagnosis	94
Table 5-1	Characteristics of Respiratory Cases by <i>M.</i> tuberculosis Genotype, 1991-2007	119
Table 5-2	Characteristics of Clustered and Non-clustered Cases by <i>M. tuberculosis</i> Genotype in Alberta, 1991-2007	120
Table 5-3	Comparison of Incidence Rates of Index Cases Attributed to Beijing/W and Non-Beijing/W Strains	121
Table 5-4	Incidence of Respiratory TB Index Cases Attributed to Beijing and Non-Beijing Strains in Alberta, 1993-2007	122
Table 5-5	Risk Factors for the Recent Transmission of <i>M. tuberculosis</i> in Alberta, 1993-2007	124
Table 5-6	Risk Factors for the Recent Transmission of <i>M.</i> <i>tuberculosis</i> Among Index Cases Born in the Western Pacific, 1993-2007	126
Table 5-7	Sensitivity Analysis Comparing the Use of a 2-year Versus 3-year Cut-Off Period to Define Recent Transmission	128

# List of Figures

Figure 3-1	Percentage of Foreign-Born Permanent Residents Arriving Annually in Canada by the World Health Organization Estimated TB Incidence Rate in the Country of Birth, 1986-2002	65
Figure 3-2	Tuberculosis Incidence Rates by Time Since Arrival Among Foreign-born Permanent Residents That Both Arrived in Canada and Were Diagnosed with TB in 1986-2002	66
Figure 3-3	Tuberculosis Incidence Rates Among Foreign-born Permanent Residents Who Both Arrived in Canada and Were Diagnosed with TB in 1986-2002 by Time Since Arrival and Country of Birth Group	67
Figure 3-4	Annual TB Case Counts Among Foreign-born Permanent Residents in Canada by Period of Arrival, 1986-2002	68
Figure 3-5	Annual TB Incidence Rates Among Foreign-born Permanent Residents in Canada by Period of Arrival and Time Since Arrival, 1986-2002	69
Figure 4-1	Inclusion and Exclusion of <i>M. tuberculosis</i> Cases on the Basis of Isolate Availability and Confirmatory Genotyping	95
Figure 4-2	Global origins of <i>M. tuberculosis</i> Beijing strains according to the countries of birth of TB patients in Alberta, 1991-2007	96
Figure 4-3	Annual Incidence Rates of Beijing and Non-Beijing Strains by Population Group	97
Figure 5-1	Kaplan-Meier Estimates of the Probability of an Identical DNA Fingerprint Pattern Match in Respiratory TB Cases in Alberta, 1991-2007	129
Figure 5-2	Number of Foreign-Born Clustered and Non-clustered Cases According to <i>M. tuberculosis</i> Genotype and Time Since Arrival, 1991-2007	130

# List of Figures (Con't)

Figure 5-3	Annual Incidence Rates of Beijing and Non-Beijing Index Cases in Alberta, 1993-2007	131
Figure 5-4	Annual Incidence Rates of Beijing and Non-Beijing Index Cases by Population Group, 1993-2007	132

### List of Abbreviations

AFB	Acid-fast bacteria (bacilli)	
AIDS	Acquired immune deficiency disorder	
aOR	Adjusted odds ratio	
BCG	Bacille Calmette-Guérin	
CB	Canadian-born	
CIC	Citizenship and Immigration Canada	
CNS	Central nervous system	
CTBRS	Canadian Tuberculosis Reporting System	
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	
DOTS	Directly observed therapy – short course	
EMB	Ethambutol	
FB	Foreign-born	
FB-O	Foreign-born 'other'	
FB-WP	Foreign-born Western Pacific	
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus	
ICD-9	International Classification of Diseases, 9 <sup>th</sup> edition	
IME	Immigration medical examination	
INAC	Indian and Northern Affairs Canada	
INH	Isoniazid	
IRR	Incidence rate ratio	
LSP	Large sequence polymorphism	

# List of Abbreviations (Con't)

LTBI	Latent tuberculosis infection
MDR-TB	Multidrug-resistant tuberculosis
MIRU-VNTR	Mycobacterium interspersed repetitive unit variable number
	tandem repeats
MTBC	Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex
NTF	Noise transfer function
OR	Odds ratio
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PYRs	Person-years of observation
PZA	Pyrazinamide
RD	Region of difference
RFLP	Restriction fragment length polymorphism
RMP	Rifampin
RR	Relative risk or risk ratio
SNPs	Single-nucleotide polymorphisms
STM	Streptomycin
ТВ	Tuberculosis disease
TDR-TB	Totally drug-resistant tuberculosis
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
VNTR	Variable number tandem repeats
WHO	World Health Organization
XDR-TB	Extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

"If the importance of a disease for mankind is measured by the number of fatalities it causes, then tuberculosis must be considered much more important than those most feared infectious diseases, plague, cholera and the like." Dr. Robert Koch, 1882<sup>1</sup>

#### **1.1 Statement of the Problem**

The expression "tuberculosis anywhere is tuberculosis everywhere" should resonate strongly with immigrant-receiving countries that have a low incidence of active tuberculosis disease (TB).\* Despite remarkable reductions in TB incidence since the mid-20<sup>th</sup> century, immigrant-receiving countries continue to be challenged by TB in their foreign-born populations.<sup>2-5</sup> Foreign-born individuals account for 65% or more of national TB case counts in several immigrant-receiving countries<sup>6-9</sup> and recent trends suggest that a decrease in these proportions is unlikely.<sup>7, 10, 11</sup> An ecological study conducted by the World Health Organization (WHO) also suggests that when foreign-born cases constitute 70% or more national TB cases, the use of regular TB control programs cannot be expected to achieve more than a 2% decrease in annual national TB rates.<sup>12</sup> Under these circumstances, it will be increasingly difficult for immigrant-receiving countries to continue to progress towards TB elimination (1 case per million persons).

There is a general consensus in immigrant-receiving countries that TB elimination is contingent on the successful prevention of TB in the foreign-born. Presumably, this would be achieved through the main priorities of TB control programs in immigrant-receiving countries, namely (i) to minimize *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* transmission through the early identification and curative treatment of infectious cases; and (ii) to prevent TB in individuals with

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>\*</sup>For this program of study, low TB incidence immigrant-receiving countries were defined as countries with very high levels of human development and an estimated incidence of smear positive TB of less than 15 per 100,000 population (Appendix A).

latent TB infections (LTBI) through screening and preventive therapy.<sup>13</sup> It has also been emphasized that recently arrived immigrants and refugees from high incidence countries are high risk groups for the reactivation of LTBI (the infections presumably having been acquired prior to immigration).<sup>8, 13-20</sup> Nevertheless, the screening for LTBI among foreign-born individuals has not been systematically or widely implemented due to patient, provider, and logistical barriers as well as a general lack of political will.<sup>14, 21</sup> Consequently, routine screening for LTBI remains primarily within the context of contact investigations.

In the absence of intensified prevention efforts, increased immigration from higher incidence source countries would be expected to increase the incidence of foreign-born TB given that country of birth (or origin) and time since arrival are critical determinants of TB in the foreign-born.<sup>3, 4, 9, 16, 22</sup> This has been demonstrated in the Netherlands where an increased incidence of pulmonary TB index cases coincided with an increased number of immigrants from very high incidence source countries (rate  $\geq$ 200 per 100,000 population) in the same year.<sup>23</sup> Surprisingly however, only modest variations in annual foreign-born TB incidence have been reported for decades in Canada and other immigrantreceiving countries despite fluctuating levels of immigration from high incidence source countries.<sup>3, 4, 16, 21, 24</sup> A comprehensive understanding of trends in foreignborn TB incidence and factors associated with its relative constancy is essential if effective national TB prevention strategies are to be designed and implemented.

In addition to being an important determinant of TB epidemiology in low incidence settings,<sup>12</sup> large-scale immigration can influence the *M. tuberculosis* population structure within host countries through the importation of non-stereotypical strains.<sup>19</sup> In particular, molecular epidemiological studies have revealed stable associations between the patient's region of birth and the *M. tuberculosis* lineage of the infecting pathogen ('phylogeographical lineages'), an association that persists even when transmission occurs outside of the region of origin.<sup>25-27</sup> In urban centers within a host country, individuals who are infected with phylogeographical TB lineages from outside of the their respective regions of origin disproportionately involve high-risk individuals with impaired

2

immunity.<sup>26</sup> Currently, it remains to be seen if these patterns reflect hostpathogen associations or sociological and epidemiological factors or a combination thereof.<sup>26</sup>

Given the epidemiological significance of TB in the foreign-born, the importation of hypervirulent and multidrug-resistant strains may have considerable implications for TB control efforts within immigrant-receiving countries. An example of this type of threat may be posed by the Beijing family of *M. tuberculosis* strains. Beijing strains are frequently associated with TB outbreaks,<sup>28-33</sup> multidrug-resistant TB (MDR-TB),<sup>34-41</sup> and treatment failure and relapse.<sup>42, 43</sup> It has also been suggested that Beijing strains have gained a selective advantage or accelerated dominance as a result of bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccinations.<sup>29, 44</sup> These factors, combined with the rapid global dissemination of Beijing strains, has led to speculation that Beijing strains have a selective advantage over other *M. tuberculosis* genotypes as conferred through increased virulence and transmissibility.<sup>32, 35, 41, 45, 46</sup>

The importation of Beijing strains is inevitable in Canada, as it is a country with one of the highest levels of immigration per capita internationally.<sup>47</sup> Asia, the world region with the highest reported prevalence of Beijing strains, was the source region for nearly 60% of new immigrants to Canada in 2001.<sup>41, 48</sup> Moreover, approximately 20% of new immigrants originate in the Beijing 'hotspot' countries of the Western Pacific (namely China, Vietnam, and Korea) where 54-92% of TB cases result from infections with Beijing strains.<sup>33, 49-52</sup> Between 2001 and 2004, 40% of foreign-born TB cases and 26% of total cases in Canada were found in individuals from the Western Pacific.<sup>7</sup>

Transmission from foreign-born individuals to native-born individuals is relatively uncommon in immigrant-receiving countries.<sup>18</sup> Nevertheless, the rapid dissemination of Beijing strains in some settings has been attributed to transmission from foreign-born to high risk native-born individuals.<sup>32</sup> A nativeborn group in Canada that is at significant risk for TB is Aboriginal peoples as its rate of TB is 2 times and 26 times higher than that of foreign-born and Canadianborn non-Aboriginal individuals, respectively.<sup>7</sup> In part, the prevention and control of TB among Aboriginal peoples has been hindered by numerous socioeconomic and biologic risk factors, including: poverty; inadequate and overcrowded housing; malnutrition; alcohol and drug abuse; diabetes mellitus; and end-stage renal disease.<sup>13</sup> Aboriginal peoples may also have genetic factors which increase their susceptibility to symptomatic TB.<sup>53</sup> Consequently, preliminary evidence of the presence of Beijing strains among Aboriginal peoples (R. Long, unpublished) raises substantial concern about the potential for a rapid epidemic spread of this pathogen with a propensity for multidrug-resistance.

The potential public health threat imposed by the importation and emergence of Beijing strains in Canada is currently unknown. Without an understanding of the epidemiology and transmission patterns of TB cases resulting from infections with Beijing strains relative to non-Beijing strains, it will be impossible to determine if current TB control strategies need to be adapted.

#### **1.2 Study Objectives**

The two primary aims of this thesis research were to comprehensively examine the profile of TB in the foreign-born in relation to general trends in TB incidence in Canada, as well as to determine the public health implications associated with the importation of a potentially hypervirulent *M. tuberculosis* strain family, the Beijing family of strains. To achieve the first of these goals, the objective was to deconstruct foreign-born TB incidence in Canada in order to identify the relative contributions and trends in TB incidence among immigrant groups. In doing so, it was anticipated that the factors related to the relative constancy in foreign-born TB incidence could be better understood and, as a consequence, high-yield targets for screening and treatment of LTBI could then be identified.

The second major objective was to determine if Beijing strains pose an increased public threat relative to other strains in the low incidence immigrant-receiving province of Alberta in terms of infectiousness, drug resistance and transmission. This objective stems from repeated hypotheses within the literature

4

that Beijing strains are inherently more virulent and more transmissible compared to other *M. tuberculosis* strain families.<sup>32, 35, 41, 45, 46</sup>

Secondary objectives were: (i) to determine if Beijing strains were associated with more high risk presentations of active TB compared to non-Beijing strains; (ii) to determine if the disease presentation of Beijing strains varied in relation to age or population group; (iii) to identify the risk factors for, and trends in, the transmission of Beijing and non-Beijing strains; and (iv) to determine if Beijing strains were associated with an increased number of recent transmission events relative to non-Beijing strains.

#### 1.3 Thesis Submitted for Partial Fulfillment of PhD

This thesis consisted of a comprehensive literature review and three studies designed to address the primary and secondary objectives. The literature review (Chapter 2) synthesized previous research about foreign-born TB trends in immigrant-receiving countries and in Canada in particular. It also compiled previous evidence related to trends in the incidence and disease presentations of Beijing strains in immigrant-receiving countries and elsewhere. An important component of the literature review was the identification of the various genotyping methodologies used to discriminate Beijing strains from other *M*. *tuberculosis* strains.

The first study (Chapter 3) dissected foreign-born TB incidence in Canada between 1986 and 2002 using data from national TB and immigration databases. This study was made possible by collaborations between Citizenship and Immigration Canada; the Public Health Agency of Canada, Health Canada; and the Tuberculosis Program Evaluation and Research Unit, University of Alberta.

The second study (Chapter 4) examined the incidence, demographic characteristics and clinical presentations of culture-confirmed TB cases infected with *M. tuberculosis* Beijing strains and those infected with non-Beijing strains in the province of Alberta, Canada between 1991 and mid-2007. This molecular epidemiologic study used a population-based retrospective cohort study design

and combined demographic and clinical data from the provincial TB registry with data from the Provincial Laboratory for Public Health.

The final study (Chapter 5) examined the risk factors for, and transmission of, culture-confirmed respiratory TB cases in Alberta between 1991 and mid-2007 that were attributed to Beijing and non-Beijing strain infections. This molecular epidemiologic investigation also used a population-based retrospective cohort study design. Additionally, a transmission index was used to quantify the recent transmission of Beijing and non-Beijing strains.

#### **1.4 References**

- Koch R. The aetiology of tuberculosis. In: Clendening L, ed. Source Book of Medical History. New York, NY: P.B. Hoeber, Inc.; 1942:392-406.
- Raviglione MC, Sudre P, Rieder HL, Spinaci S, Kochi A. Secular trends of tuberculosis in western Europe. *Bull World Health Organ* 1993;71(3-4):297-306.
- (3) Verver S, Veen J. Tuberculosis control and migration. In: Raviglione MC, ed. *Reichman and Hershfield's tuberculosis: a comprehensive, international approach.* 3rd ed. New York, NY: Informa Healthcare USA, Inc.; 2006:869-905.
- (4) Tuberculosis among the foreign-born in Canada. *Can Commun Dis Rep* 2003;29(2):10-6.
- (5) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Trends in tuberculosis
  -- United States, 2008. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2009;58(10):249-253.
- (6) Dahle UR, Eldholm V, Winje BA, Mannsaker T, Heldal E. Impact of immigration on the molecular epidemiology of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in a low-incidence country. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2007;176(9):930-935.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. *Tuberculosis in Canada 2007*. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2009.
- (8) Lilleback T, Andersen AB, Bauer J et al. Risk of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* transmission in a low-incidence country due to immigration from high-incidence areas. *J Clin Microbiol* 2001;39(3):855-861.
- (9) Das D, Baker M, Venugopal K, McAllister S. Why the tuberculosis incidence rate is not falling in New Zealand. *N Z Med J* 2006;119(1243): U2248.
- (10) Hollo V, Amato-Gauci A, Kodmon C, Manissero D. Tuberculosis in the EU and EEA/EFTA countries: what is the latest data telling us? *Euro Surveill* 2009;14(11). pii:19151.

- (11) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Decrease in reported tuberculosis cases -- United States, 2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2010;59(10):289-294.
- (12) World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Control: Surveillance, Planning, Financing. WHO report 2008. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2008.
- (13) Public Health Agency of Canada, Canadian Lung Association/ Canadian Thoracic Society. *Canadian Tuberculosis Standards*. Long R, Ellis E, eds. 6<sup>th</sup> ed. Ottawa, Canada: Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Health; 2007.
- (14) Greenaway C, Sandoe A, Vissandjee B et al. Tuberculosis: evidence review for newly arriving immigrants and refugees. *CMAJ* 2011;183(12): E939-E951.
- (15) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Recommendations for the prevention and control of tuberculosis among foreign-born persons. Report of the Working Group on Tuberculosis Among Foreign-born Persons. *MMWR Recomm Rep* 1998;47(RR-16):1-29.
- (16) Cain KP, Haley CA, Armstrong LR et al. Tuberculosis among foreignborn persons in the United States: achieving tuberculosis elimination. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2007;175(1):75-79.
- (17) Vanhomwegen J, Kwara A, Martin M et al. Impact of immigration on the molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis in Rhode Island. *J Clin Microbiol* 2011;49(3):834-844.
- (18) Kunimoto D, Sutherland K, Wooldrage K et al. Transmission characteristics of tuberculosis in the foreign-born and the Canadian-born populations of Alberta, Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(10):1213-1220.
- (19) Borgdorff MW, Behr MA, Nagelkerke NJ, Hopewell PC, Small PM. Transmission of tuberculosis in San Francisco and its association with immigration and ethnicity. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2000;4(4):287-294.

- (20) Small PM, Hopewell PC, Singh SP et al. The epidemiology of tuberculosis in San Francisco: a population-based study using conventional and molecular methods. *N Engl J Med* 1994;330(24):1703-1709.
- (21) Jereb J, Albalak R, Castro K. The Arden House Conference on Tuberculosis, revisited: perspectives for tuberculosis elimination in the United States. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med* 2004;25(3):255-269.
- (22) Farah MG, Meyer HE, Selmer R, Heldal E, Bjune G. Long-term risk of tuberculosis among immigrants in Norway. *Int J Epidemiol* 2005;34(5): 1005-1011.
- (23) Borgdorff MW, van den Hof S, Kremer K et al. Progress towards tuberculosis elimination: secular trend, immigration and transmission. *Eur Respir J* 2010;36(2):339-347.
- (24) Public Health Agency of Canada. *Tuberculosis in Canada 2006*. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2008.
- (25) Hirsh AE, Tsolaki AG, DeRiemer K, Feldman MW, Small PM. Stable association between strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and their human host populations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004;101(14):4871-4876.
- (26) Gagneux S, DeRiemer K, Van T et al. Variable host-pathogen compatibility in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006;103(8):2869-2873.
- (27) Reed MB, Pichler VK, McIntosh F et al. Major *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* lineages associate with patient country of origin. J Clin Microbiol 2009; 47(4):1119-1128.
- (28) Bifani PJ, Plikaytis BB, Kapur V et al. Origin and interstate spread of a New York City multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* clone family. *JAMA* 1996;275(6):452-457.
- (29) Drobniewski F, Balabanova Y, Ruddy M, et al. Rifampin- and multidrugresistant tuberculosis in Russian civilians and inmates: dominance of the Beijing strain family. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2002;8(11):1320-1326.

9

- (30) Agerton T, Valway S, Blinkhorn R et al. Spread of strain W, a highly drug-resistant strain of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, across the United States. *Clin Infect Dis* 1999;29(1):85-92.
- (31) Glynn JR, Whiteley J, Bifani P, et al. Worldwide occurrence of the Beijing/W strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: a systematic review. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2002;8(8):843-849.
- (32) Caminero J, Pena M, Campos-Herrero M, et al. Epidemiological evidence of the spread of a *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strain of Beijing genotype on Gran Canaria Island. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2001;164(7):1165-1170
- (33) van Soolingen D, Qian L, De Haas PE et al. Predominance of a single genotype of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in countries of east Asia. *J Clin Microbiol* 1995;33(12):3234-3238.
- (34) Park YK, Shin S, Ryu S et al. Comparison of drug resistance genotypes between Beijing and non-Beijing family strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in Korea. *J Microbiol Methods* 2005;63(2):165-172.
- Bifani P, Mathema B, Kurepina N, et al. Global dissemination of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* W-Beijing family strains. *Trends Microbiol* 2002;10(1):45-52.
- (36) Cox HS, Kubica T, Doshetov D, Kebede Y, Rüsch-Gerdes S, Niemann S. The Beijing genotype and drug resistant tuberculosis in the Aral Sea region of Central Asia. *Respir Res* 2005;6:134.
- (37) Jou R, Chiang CY, Huang WL. Distribution of the Beijing family genotypes of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in Taiwan. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43(1):95-100.
- (38) Hillemann D, Warren R, Kubica T, Rüsch-Gerdes S, Niemann S.
  Disequilibrium in distribution of resistance mutations among *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing and non-Beijing strains isolated from patients in Germany. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2005;49(3):1229-1231.

- (39) Kubica T, Rüsch-Gerdes S, Niemann S. The Beijing genotype is emerging among multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains from Germany. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(9):1107-1113.
- (40) Kubica T, Agzamova R, Wright A et al. The Beijing genotype is a major cause of drug-resistant tuberculosis in Kazakhstan. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2005;9(6):646-653.
- (41) European Concerted Action on New Generation Genetic Markers and Techniques for the Epidemiology and Control of Tuberculosis. Beijing/W genotype *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and drug resistance. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2006;12(5):736-743.
- (42) Sun YJ, Lee AS, Wong SY, Paton NI. Association of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype with tuberculosis relapse in Singapore. *Epidemiol Infect* 2006;134(2):329-332.
- Lan NT, Lien HT, Tung le B, Borgdorff MW, Kremer K, van Soolingen D. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype and risk for treatment failure and relapse, Vietnam. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2003;9(12):1633-1635.
- (44) López B, Aguilar D, Orozco H et al. A marked difference in pathogenesis and immune response induced by different *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotypes. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2003;133(1):30-37.
- (45) Devaux I, Kremer K, Heersma H, Van Soolingen D. Clusters of multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cases, Europe. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2009; 15(7):1052-1060.
- (46) Cowley D, Govender D, February B et al. Recent and rapid emergence of W-Beijing strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in Cape Town, South Africa. *Clin Infect Dis* 2008;47(10):1252-1259.
- (47) Citizenship and Immigration Canada. Annual Report to Parliament on Immigration, 2009. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2009.
- (48) Statistics Canada. Immigration in Canada: A Portrait of the Foreign-Born Population, Census 2006. Ottawa; Canada: Statistics Canada; 2007.

- (49) Citizenship and Immigration Canada. Facts and figures 2008 --Immigration overview: permanent and temporary residents. http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/resources/statistics/facts2008/permanent/10. asp. Published August 2009. Accessed July 12, 2011.
- (50) Kremer K, Au BK, Yip PC et al. Use of variable-number tandem-repeat typing to differentiate *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing family isolates from Hong Kong and comparison with IS6110 restriction fragment length polymorphism typing and spoligotyping. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43(1): 314-320.
- (51) Kang HY, Wada T, Iwamoto T et al. Phylogeographical particularity of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing family in South Korea based on international comparison with surrounding countries. *J Med Microbiol* 2010;59(10):1191-1197.
- (52) Anh D, Borgdorff M, Van L et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype emerging in Vietnam. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2000;6(3):302-305.
- (53) Greenwood C, Fujiwara T, Boothroid L, et al. Linkage of tuberculosis to chromosome 2q35 loci, including *NRAMP1*, in a large Aboriginal family. *Am J Hum Genet* 2000;67(2):405-416.

#### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

#### 2.1 Epidemiology of Tuberculosis

#### 2.1.1 Global Tuberculosis Epidemiology

*Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is a major but yet still largely neglected human pathogen, causing more deaths annually than any other pathogenic bacterium.<sup>1</sup> Estimated to infect one-third of the global human population,<sup>2</sup> tuberculosis disease (TB) claimed the lives of 1.7 million people in 2009, equivalent to 4700 deaths per day.<sup>3</sup> In the same year, there were an estimated 14 million prevalent cases and 9.4 million incidence cases of TB.<sup>3</sup> With molecular analysis confirming a high frequency of TB as early as 3500 to 500 BC,<sup>4</sup> the success of *M. tuberculosis* has clearly not been hindered by its existence as an obligate human pathogen.

The first major step toward the elimination of TB was achieved in 1882 when Dr. Robert Koch discovered the tubercle bacillus to be the etiologic agent of TB.<sup>5</sup> Another major milestone was the introduction of effective chemotherapeutic agents for the treatment of TB beginning in the mid-1940s and an ensuing recognition of the benefits of multidrug therapy in TB.<sup>6</sup> Despite these achievements, global TB incidence rates and TB-related deaths continued to increase for decades. In 1991, the World Health Assembly resolved to achieve unprecedented levels of TB control.<sup>7</sup> This resolve, and the declaration of TB as a global emergency by the World Health Organization (WHO) in 1993,<sup>8</sup> led to the emergence of several global initiatives, including: implementation of Directly Observed Therapy, Short Course (DOTS) as a core component of the World Health Organization (WHO) TB control strategy in 1995;<sup>9</sup> establishment of the Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis and Malaria in 2002;<sup>10</sup> and the launch of the *Stop TB Strategy* by the WHO in 2006.<sup>11</sup> In 2005, the global TB incidence rate declined for what may have been the first time in history and progressive albeit slow improvements have followed since. Specifically, the global TB incidence rate declined from a peak rate of 142 cases per 100,000 population in 2004 to 137 cases per 100,000 population in 2009.<sup>3</sup> Significant achievements also include a global case detection rate of all forms of TB of 63% and the successful treatment of 86% of new smear-positive cases.<sup>3</sup> Since its launch in 1995, the DOTS program and Stop TB Strategy have been credited with saving 6 million lives.<sup>3</sup>

Demonstrable achievements in global TB control, while encouraging, are undermined by the emergence of multidrug-resistant TB (MDR-TB), extensively drug-resistant TB (XDR-TB) and most recently totally drug-resistant TB (TDR-TB).<sup>12-15</sup> Drug-resistant TB is a significant threat to TB control programs as it makes treatment more complex, more costly and less effective than that of pansusceptible TB.<sup>12, 15</sup> The emergence of TDR-TB may also be predictive of a time in which progressively fewer cases will benefit from effective chemotherapeutics for TB.<sup>16</sup> The most recent estimates indicate that MDR-TB cases account for 3.6% of global incident cases and that 5% to 10% MDR-TB cases were XDR-TB (although it is suspected that XDR-TB case numbers are significantly underestimated due to limited laboratory capacities in resource-limited areas).<sup>17, 18</sup> It is also noteworthy that 85% of global MDR-TB cases occurred within 27 high MDR-TB burden countries -- China and India account for 50% of global MDR-TB cases alone.<sup>17</sup> Despite MDR-TB having a case mortality rate of 26% in HIVnegative individuals<sup>17</sup> and the mortality rate of XDR-TB cases being generally higher than that of MDR-TB cases,<sup>15</sup> less than 3% of MDR-TB and XDR-TB cases receive treatment in accordance with WHO recommended standards.<sup>17</sup>

Global TB control efforts have also been significantly impacted by the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) epidemic. In 2009, one-third of the 33.3 million people who were living with HIV were also co-infected with TB and 11% to 13% of global TB incident cases had TB-HIV co-infection.<sup>3, 19, 20</sup> HIV significantly impairs the immunologic containment of *M. tuberculosis* by inducing cell-mediated immune deficiency.<sup>21</sup> Consequently, HIV is the most important risk factor for the development of active TB<sup>22</sup> and results in a risk of TB that is 20 to 50 times greater than in those without HIV infections.<sup>20, 22</sup> In turn, TB is leading cause of death among people living with HIV, accounting for more than 25% of deaths among those with HIV infection.<sup>23, 24</sup>

#### 2.1.2 Tuberculosis Epidemiology in Canada

There has been a remarkable improvement in TB incidence in Canada since the middle of the 20<sup>th</sup> century, the rate decreasing from nearly 100 per 100,000 population in 1951 to 4.7 per 100,000 population in 2007.<sup>25</sup> This achievement reflects not only the general success of TB control practices but also broad improvements in living conditions.<sup>21</sup>

The most substantive improvements in TB incidence have been observed among Canadian-born non-Aboriginal individuals. Tuberculosis case counts in Canadian-born non-Aboriginal individuals decreased by 95% between 1970 and 2007 (from 3100 cases to 170 cases, respectively) and resulted in an incidence rate of 0.7 per 100,000 population in 2007.<sup>21, 25</sup> Despite accounting for nearly 70% of TB cases in 1970, the burden of TB disease among Canadian-born non-Aboriginal individuals has reduced to 11%.<sup>21, 25</sup>

Progress towards TB elimination in Canadian-born Aboriginal peoples (includes Status and non-Status Indians, Métis, and Inuit) has been markedly slower than that of Canadian-born non-Aboriginal peoples. While case counts have decreased by nearly 53% between 1970 and 2007 (from 650 cases to 307 cases, respectively), the rate of TB remained high at the end of this period at 26 per 100,000 population (up from 20 per 100,000 population in 2000).<sup>21, 25</sup> Consequently, in 2007, the rate of TB among Canadian-born Aboriginal peoples was 37 times higher than that of Canadian-born non-Aboriginal individuals. Furthermore, despite comprising only 3.8% of the Canadian population,<sup>26</sup> 20% of TB cases in Canada were among Aboriginal peoples.<sup>25</sup>

Like other high-income immigrant-receiving countries,<sup>27-29</sup> in Canada there has been a dramatic increase in the proportion of TB cases contributed by individuals not born in Canada ('foreign-born'); from 18% in 1970 to 67% in 2007.<sup>21, 25, 30</sup> This trend, which began in the 1960s following a shift in immigration pattern from low to high TB incidence source countries, was accelerated by a concurrent reduction in TB incidence among Canadian-born non-Aboriginal individuals.<sup>25, 30-32</sup> Additionally, the proportion of the Canadian population that was foreign-born increased from 15% to 20% between 1970 and 2007 due to nearly a 2-fold increase in the foreign-born population.<sup>33</sup> Between 1970 and 2007, there was also a 34% increase in the annual case counts of TB among the foreign-born.<sup>21, 25</sup> With a rate of 14 per 100,000 population in 2007, the rate of TB in the foreign-born was 21 times greater than that of Canadian-born non-Aboriginals and 0.6 times that of Canadian-born Aboriginal peoples.<sup>25</sup> Given that country of birth/origin and time since arrival are key determinants of foreign-born TB incidence,<sup>27, 30, 34-37</sup> it is surprising that only modest variations in annual foreign-born TB case counts and rates have been reported for the past few decades (rate reductions in the last decade being largely attributed to increasing annual immigration levels).<sup>21, 25, 30</sup> This trend remains unexplained despite similar situations in other immigrant-receiving countries.<sup>27, 38, 39</sup>

Geographic variations in the incidence of TB within Canada correlate closely with the distributions of the foreign-born and Canadian-born population groups. Among the Canadian-born, differences in the distribution of TB between the non-Aboriginal and Aboriginal populations, as well as within the Aboriginal population, is a function of time since first contact with Old World explorers and traders.<sup>40</sup> The highest TB rates in Canada are consistently associated with the territories (Yukon, Northwest Territories and Nunavut) and the provinces of Saskatchewan and Manitoba, where Aboriginal populations than elsewhere in Canada.<sup>25, 26, 33</sup> Conversely, foreign-born and Aboriginal populations in the Atlantic provinces than in the other provinces or territories, which record consistently lower TB rates than the rest of country.<sup>25, 26, 33</sup>

#### 2.2 Molecular Genotyping

#### 2.2.1 Public Health Applications

The *Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex* (MTBC) is a genetically monomorphic bacterial pathogen due to its low DNA sequence variation.<sup>41, 42</sup> Nevertheless, several sub-species exist within the MTBC including the human pathogen *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Initial reports indicated negligible

amounts of DNA sequence variation in *M. tuberculosis* compared to other bacteria, suggesting that bacterial factors have minimal influence on the clinical manifestations of TB.<sup>43, 44</sup> An increasing body of evidence, however, indicates that the initial sequence diversity was underestimated<sup>45-47</sup> and that genetic diversity does have significant phenotypic consequences in experimental models.<sup>43, 48-50</sup> It currently remains uncertain if, and to what extent, human disease is influenced by *M. tuberculosis* genetic variation.<sup>50</sup>

Initially, genotyping of *M. tuberculosis* isolates was used to supplement conventional contact tracing investigations.<sup>51</sup> In particular, it was used as a means of differentiating between TB cases resulting from reactivation of LTBI and those resulting from recent transmission.<sup>52</sup> This required the primary assumption that isolates with the same genotype were either (in)directly part of the same transmission cluster and hence epidemiologically linked whereas unique ('unmatched') genotypes developed from the reactivation of LTBI that was presumably acquired outside of the geographical and temporal limitations of the investigation.

The application of genotyping extends significantly beyond the ability to merely differentiate between reactivated and recently transmitted disease. Genotyping has been used to: trace chains of transmission; identify unsuspected transmission; confirm outbreaks or transmission chains as suspected by conventional contact tracing; and identify the risk factors for, and groups at risk of, transmission.<sup>52-54</sup> Genotyping has also been utilized to detect mixed infections and to discriminate between recurrent TB due to reactivation or exogenous reinfection.<sup>55, 56</sup> Molecular techniques have also been used to identify predominant strain types (clonal strains) within specific populations;<sup>57, 58</sup> evaluate the incidence, transmission and broader geographic dissemination of specific *M*. *tuberculosis* families;<sup>59-61</sup> identify strain-specific differences in virulence and transmissibility;<sup>62-65</sup> and investigate the evolution of MTBC.<sup>66, 67</sup> It has also identified vast differences in TB trends within and between native-born and foreign-born populations in immigrant-receiving countries.<sup>68-70</sup> The application of genotyping has also highlighted the need for improved quality control practices

within laboratories through the detection of laboratory cross-contamination<sup>71, 72</sup> and assisted in the evaluation and enhancement of TB control programs (e.g. level of clustering, number of outbreaks, etc).<sup>53, 73</sup>

Genotyping has become a requisite tool for TB control in higher-income settings. However, due to the high levels of transmission and lack of capacity to conduct routine cultures of isolates, genotyping in high-burden settings has largely been limited to research programs.<sup>52</sup>

#### 2.2.2 Molecular Epidemiological Studies

The first commonly-used and standardized genotyping method for molecular epidemiologic studies of *M. tuberculosis* was IS6110 restriction fragment length polymorphism (IS6110 RFLP) analysis.<sup>74, 75</sup> IS6110 RFLP provides for a high degree of differentiation between individual strains of *M. tuberculosis* on account of the high positional and numerical polymorphism of the transposable element IS6110.<sup>75-78</sup> Importantly, however, secondary genotyping with an alternate method is necessary in isolates with less than six copies of IS6110 due to the limited discriminatory power of IS6110 RFLP in such isolates.<sup>79-84</sup> IS6110 RFLP is also a gel-based method that does not involve nucleic acid amplification and hence relatively large quantities of DNA are required (i.e. biological amplification via bacterial culture).<sup>74</sup> As bacterial cultures require several weeks, IS6110 RFLP is incapable of providing real-time results. In addition to analysis with sophisticated computer software, the analogue band patterns generated by IS6110 RFLP frequently require visual interpretation, further impeding the inter-laboratory comparison of fingerprinting patterns.<sup>21, 85-87</sup>

Spoligotyping (or spacer oligotyping) is a commonly used genotyping method that is based on the detection of 43 interspersed spacer sequences of variable length located between the direct repeats (DR) in the genome.<sup>88</sup> Sufficient amounts of DNA can be obtained from clinical samples as polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is used as an amplifying step,<sup>74</sup> thereby providing spoligotyping with a real-time advantage over IS*6110* RFLP.<sup>81, 83, 88</sup> In addition to being highly reproducible, spoligotype patterns are highly amenable to intralaboratory comparisons as the patterns can be stored in a simple digital format with basic computer software  $.^{53, 81, 89, 90}$  This has facilitated the development of an international spoligotyping database SpolDB4.<sup>91</sup> Although spoligotyping can adequately differentiate between strains with few or no copies of IS6110,<sup>82, 83, 92</sup> its main limitation is that it has lower discriminatory power than IS6110 among strains with more than 5 copies of IS6110.<sup>81, 88, 89, 93</sup> Consequently, spoligotyping is an unreliable stand-alone method for assessment of transmission chains.<sup>81, 89, 93</sup> At the same time, several *M. tuberculosis* strain families (e.g. Beijing, Manila, Central Asia) can be identified by their respective spoligotype patterns<sup>57, 94-96</sup> and spoligotyping can be used to differentiate between *M. tuberculosis* and *M. bovis*.<sup>83, 88</sup>

The 'gold standard' for the first-line genotyping of *M. tuberculosis* is changing from IS6110 RFLP to mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unitvariable number tandem repeat (MIRU-VNTR) typing.as<sup>52, 97</sup> The polymorphic nature of MIRU-VNTR is derived from the variable number of copies of the repeat unit at different loci scattered throughout the *M. tuberculosis* genome (41 loci have been identified).<sup>98, 99</sup> The initial 12 loci MIRU-VNTR methodology had less discriminatory power than IS6110 RFLP in isolates with high copy numbers of IS6110 and therefore was used conjunction with spoligotyping for first-line genotyping.<sup>79, 92, 98, 100</sup> As the discriminatory power of MIRU-VNTR can exceed that of IS6110 RFLP with an increased number of loci,<sup>79, 85, 87, 101</sup> it is recommended that a standardized set of 15 highly discriminatory MIRU loci be used for first-line genotyping and an optimized set of 24 MIRU loci (or more) be used for phylogenetic analysis.<sup>101</sup> As another PCR-based method, MIRU-VNTR has many of the same advantages as spoligotyping: it can be applied to small quantities of DNA obtained from clinical samples; the results are highly reproducible; it provides 'real-time' genotyping; and it has a numeric pattern that is unambiguous, easily stored, and easily compared between laboratories.<sup>85, 87, 98</sup> One potential limitation is that the discriminatory power of MIRU loci may differ by *M. tuberculosis* lineage.<sup>102</sup>

Although IS*6110* RFLP, spoligotyping and MIRU-VNTR have been used for evolutionary studies of *M. tuberculosis*, these techniques have a propensity for convergent evolution (homoplasies) that limit their use for strain classification and phylogenetics.<sup>102</sup>

#### 2.2.3 Genotyping for Strain Classification

Following completion of the first whole genome sequence of *M*. tuberculosis laboratory strain H37Rv in 1998,<sup>103</sup> whole-genome sequencing was used to compare a clinical *M. tuberculosis* strain (CDC1551) with H37Rv.<sup>45</sup> In doing so, several genomic deletions in the form of large sequence polymorphisms (LSPs; also known as regions of difference [RD]) were detected as were singlenucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs).<sup>45</sup> LSPs behave as irreversible and often unique events due to the absence of ongoing horizontal gene transfer in the MTBC.<sup>66, 74, 104</sup> LSPs in a progenitor strain will also be detectable in the progenies of that strain because LSPs result from successive deletions and not independent events.<sup>50, 105</sup> Consequently, LSPs are ideal genetic markers for strain classification and for tracking single strains with specific and previously identified LSPs via real-time PCR with probes for LSP detection.<sup>52, 53, 66</sup> At the same time, genomic LSPs evolve too slowly to serve as suitable markers for molecular epidemiological investigations of individual strains within the same strain family but are better suited for phylogenetic investigations of MTBC than IS6110 RFLP, spoligotyping or MIRU-VNTR as LSP-defined lineages do not suffer from convergent evolution.<sup>53</sup>

#### 2.2.4 Phylogenetic Analyses

Evolutionary analyses of MTBC can be performed through the comparison of the entire genome of multiple clinical strains of MTBC. A single phylogenetic tree with minimal homoplasy has been identified for MTBC with a high degree of congruency in the phylogenetic trees derived through LSPs,<sup>66, 67</sup> SNPs (using multilocus sequence analysis of 89 complete genes in 108 strains),<sup>46</sup> and other DNA sequencing analyses.<sup>44, 47, 102, 106</sup> Of these techniques, however, *de novo*  DNA sequencing provides the most complete MTBC phylogeny (as opposed to phylogenies based on previously known LSPs or SNPs as identified through one-way comparisons with the laboratory strain H37Rv).<sup>50</sup>

Using this highly congruous phylogeny, human MTBC strains have been classified into six discrete strain lineages (Lineage 1 through 6).<sup>46, 47, 67, 102</sup> Within the MTBC literature however, inconsistent nomenclature abounds due to the frequent use of more traditional names for MTBC strain families and lineages. This is especially true for a sublineage within Lineage 2 which is commonly referred to as Beijing family of strains (East Asian Lineage; Beijing strains; strain-W; Beijing/W strains; N-strains).<sup>102</sup>

The unambiguous and robust classification of MTBC strains via DNA sequence data has provided invaluable insights into the evolutionary history and global spread of MTBC.<sup>44, 46</sup> Increasing evidence of strain diversity and phenotypic variations within the *M. tuberculosis* species is also being accrued through the assignment of case isolates to specific lineages.<sup>62, 102, 107</sup> However, the analysis of DNA sequences currently has limited relevance for molecular epidemiologic purposes as a higher degree of strain differentiation is required (as achieved, for example, through IS*6110* RFLP, spoligotyping or MIRU-VNTR genotyping methods).<sup>102</sup>

#### 2.3 The Beijing Family of *M. tuberculosis* Strains

#### 2.3.1 Epidemiology of Beijing Strains

The Beijing family of strains (or Beijing genotype family) accounts for 13% of strains globally<sup>91</sup> and is one of the largest genotype families of *M. tuberculosis.*<sup>94</sup> First described in 1995,<sup>57</sup> Beijing strains have disseminated worldwide, although with notably diverse distribution patterns.<sup>108</sup> Considered to be endemic in East and Southeast Asia (which broadly correlates with the Western Pacific region as defined by the World Health Organization),<sup>108</sup> Beijing strains comprise 54-92% of all *M. tuberculosis* strains in China, South Korea and Vietnam.<sup>57, 109-111</sup> Analyses of stored biopsy specimens in China also suggest that high endemic levels of Beijing strains have been sustained for at least 60 years.<sup>112</sup>

In marked contrast, there is an epidemic spread of drug resistant Beijing strains in parts of South Africa<sup>65, 113</sup> and much of the former Soviet Union<sup>108, 114, 115</sup> while Beijing strains are only emerging in other geographic areas.<sup>108, 116-119</sup>

Tuberculosis resulting from infection with Beijing strains has frequently been associated with TB outbreaks,<sup>61, 120</sup> antituberculosis drug resistance,<sup>108, 111, <sup>121, 122</sup> treatment failure<sup>123</sup> and relapse.<sup>123-125</sup> Of particular concern is that Beijing strains are frequently associated with MDR-TB<sup>122, 126, 127</sup> and, more recently, XDR-TB.<sup>128-130</sup> In contrast, some studies have found no significant associations between Beijing strains and various clinical presentations of TB.<sup>108, 111, 119, 127, 131-</sup></sup>

<sup>134</sup> This inter-study variability may reflect programmatic differences in TB control, inherited and acquired host factors, socioeconomic circumstances, or chance.<sup>65, 135, 136</sup> It may also relate to the intragenotypic variations in virulence that have been described within the Beijing family of strains.<sup>64, 137, 138</sup>

The rapid global expansion of Beijing strains and their frequent association with large TB outbreaks as well as with younger patients has led to speculation that Beijing strains have a selective advantage over other *M*. *tuberculosis* genotypes as conferred through increased virulence and transmissibility.<sup>61, 108, 113, 128, 139</sup> Beijing strains also appear to have an enhanced ability to circumvent immunity induced through bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccination, potentially resulting in a selective advantage of this genotype in populations with high rates of BCG vaccination.<sup>49, 140, 141</sup> While these hypotheses cannot be directly (dis)proven by experimental evidence, they do accord with the increased virulence demonstrated by Beijing strains in animal and *in vitro* studies relative to other *M. tuberculosis* strains.<sup>48, 49, 142-144</sup> In addition, evidence suggests that the fitness of some Beijing strains is retained after the acquisition of drug resistance.<sup>145</sup> Currently, there is insufficient evidence to support or refute the proposed increased transmissibility of Beijing strains.<sup>50</sup>

#### 2.3.2 Molecular Characteristics of Beijing Strains

The Beijing family is monophyletic and the high degree of similarity in its polymorphic markers suggests that it emerged relatively recently.<sup>57, 65, 94</sup> That
Beijing strains are highly conserved genetically also allows for a precise definition of these strains on the basis of genetic markers and enables Beijing strains to be distinguished without difficulty from other *M. tuberculosis* strains. The distinctive spoligotype pattern of Beijing strains has an absence of hybridization to spacers 1 through 34 and hybridization to at least three of spacers 35-43, with hybridization to all of the last nine spacers being most common.<sup>57, 94,</sup> <sup>146</sup> Beijing strains have 15 to 26 copies of IS6110<sup>109, 139</sup> and their IS6110 RFLP patterns share more than two-thirds of the IS6110-containing PvuII restriction fragments.<sup>57, 90</sup> The molecular profile of Beijing strains also includes a specific A1 insertion of IS6110 in the origin of replication between the *dnaA-dnaN* genes  $(region A)^{147}$  and the *katG463/gyrA95* genotype (principal genetic group 1).<sup>42, 147</sup> Although Beijing strains were previously defined as having one or two IS6110 insertions in the noise transfer function (NTF) region (referred to as the "modern" Beijing subfamily; two IS6110 insertions indicate W strains), more recent evidence indicates an absence of IS6110 insertions in the NTF region of the "ancient" subfamily of Beijing strains (previously known as the N family).<sup>60, 148-</sup> <sup>150</sup> Beijing strains are also characterized by an IS1081 element on a 3.5-kb *PvuII* fragment<sup>57, 90</sup> and nearly identical VNTR types.<sup>90</sup> The molecular profile of Beijing strains was most recently expanded to include a deletion of the LSP RD105.<sup>67, 151</sup>

In addition to the division of Beijing strains into two major groups based on the specific IS*6110* insertion in the NTF (the ancient and modern subfamilies), Beijing strains have been classified into evolutionary lineages on the basis of LSPs.<sup>151</sup> This refined population structure has four monophyletic groups with a deletion of RD105 in common and invariable deletions of RD207, RD142, RD150 and RD181.<sup>119, 151, 152</sup>

#### 2.3.3 Genotyping to Differentiate Beijing Strains from Non-Beijing Strains

Several molecular markers have been used to differentiate between Beijing strains and non-Beijing strains. In general, however, molecular epidemiological investigations of Beijing strains are challenged by the close genetic relatedness within this family.<sup>153</sup>

Isolates of *M. tuberculosis* that had spoligotype patterns lacking hybridization to spacers 1 through 34 but hybridization to spacers 35 to 43 were initially considered to be Beijing strains. However, isolates with spoligotype patterns that lacked one or more of the last nine spacers were also found to be Beijing strains based on IS*6110* RFLP pattern analysis and the presence of an IS*6110* element in the origin of replication between the *dnaA* – *dnaN* genes.<sup>57, 94,</sup> <sup>139</sup> Subsequently, in an effort to minimize classification inaccuracies and to develop a standardized study approach, it was recommended that *M. tuberculosis* isolates with spoligotype patterns demonstrating an absence of hybridization to spacers 1 through 34 and concurrent hybridization to at least three of the last nine spacers (spacers 35 to 43) be classified as Beijing strains.<sup>94</sup> While this became the 'gold standard' definition for Beijing strains, spoligotyping was unable to discriminate between Beijing strains involved in different chains of transmission or between strains in the Beijing subfamilies.<sup>94, 154</sup>

Another common but more ambiguous method for the identification of Beijing strains involved the comparison of IS6110 RFLP patterns to those of 19 Beijing reference strains selected from an international database.<sup>94</sup> Fingerprint patterns that shared >80% pattern homology with one of the 19 reference strains was classified as a Beijing strain; secondary testing with an alternate genotype method (i.e. spoligotyping or region A RFLP) was recommended for strains with 75-80% pattern homology. Due to the diversity of IS6110 RFLP patterns, it was recommended that this methodology was more suitable as a database screening tool rather than a primary identification tool for Beijing strains.

Genomic deletion analysis based on LSPs is increasingly used for the identification of Beijing strains and Beijing sublineages in population-based studies (i.e. PCR-based detection of the presence/absence of RD105).<sup>62, 65, 67, 119, 152, 155</sup> This recently validated genotyping method is especially relevant for investigations aimed at understanding the role of strain variation in TB as genomic deletion analysis enables strains to be classified into unambiguous and robust strain families (lineages).<sup>119</sup> In doing so, the epidemiological characteristics and clinical presentations of Beijing strains can readily be

compared to those of non-Beijing strains within and between studies.<sup>119</sup> Genomic deletion analysis is also an appealing genotyping tool due to its efficiency and technical simplicity and a multiplex PCR approach has been developed for the high-throughput screening of LSPs.<sup>119, 156</sup>

To achieve a level of discrimination between unrelated Beijing strains that is comparable to IS*6110* RFLP, three hypervariable loci have been used to augment standardized 15-loci or 24-loci MIRU-VNTR typing.<sup>153, 157, 158</sup> However, the use of hypervarible loci for Beijing strain discrimination is best for the second-line typing of clustered Beijing strains following standardized 15-loci MIRU-VNTR due to technical concerns that previously resulted in their exclusion from standardized MIRU-VNTR typing.<sup>101, 157</sup> Importantly, there are geographic variations in the level of Beijing strain discrimination afforded by MIRU-VNTR typing, even when augmented with hypervariable loci.<sup>153</sup> In particular, some loci are less polymorphic in geographic settings that have had a more recent clonal expansion of Beijing strains compared to settings in which Beijing strains have circulated for much longer periods.<sup>153</sup>

## 2.3.4 Beijing Strains in Canada

Beijing strains are of interest in Canada on account of the strong associations noted between *M. tuberculosis* lineage and the country of origin of TB patients.<sup>119, 159</sup> Asia and the Pacific are the world region with the highest reported prevalence of Beijing strains.<sup>108</sup> They are also the source region for an average of 49% of all new permanent residents to Canada between 2000 and 2009.<sup>160</sup> Furthermore, approximately 20% of the 200,000 to 250,000 annual number of new permanent residents originated from the Western Pacific's Beijing 'hotspot' countries of China, Vietnam and South Korea.<sup>160</sup> These factors, combined with the knowledge that immigration is the most important determinant of *M. tuberculosis* population structure and TB epidemiology in low incidence settings,<sup>1, 161</sup> suggest that the inevitable importation of Beijing strains may have considerable ramifications for TB control and elimination efforts in Canada.

In addition to foreign-born individuals, the emergence of Beijing strains may have important implications for Canadian-born Aboriginal peoples. In a preliminary investigation in Alberta, the IS6110 RFLP patterns of all new active and relapsed respiratory TB case isolates in 1994 through 1998 were compared with the fingerprint patterns of the 19 international Beijing reference strains (unpublished data, R. Long). It was found that Beijing strains accounted for 26% of foreign-born TB cases, 7% of Canadian-born non-Aboriginal cases and 16% of Canadian-born Aboriginal cases. The presence of Beijing/W strains in the Aboriginal subpopulation suggests a larger role for the cross-ethnic transmission of *M. tuberculosis* than previously reported.<sup>69, 162, 163</sup> The penetration of Beijing strains, with their suspected increased virulence and transmissibility, into a vulnerable demographic group already struggling with on-going *M. tuberculosis* transmission also suggests a 'perfect storm' for Beijing strains not unlike that of New York or Gran Canaria.<sup>61, 120</sup>

The results of the preliminary investigation (unpublished data, R. Long), while insightful, are unlikely to reflect the current epidemiology of Beijing strains in Alberta. In particular, the preliminary results will have underestimated the incidence of Beijing strains due to the exclusion of non-respiratory cases and the likelihood of measurement error (that is, the use of IS*6110* RFLP patterns as a primary tool for the identification of Beijing strains). Additionally, there has been ongoing and increasing immigration from the Western Pacific since the end of the study period.

The current epidemiological and potential public health implications of Beijing strains in Canada are essentially unknown. The single published estimate of Beijing strains in Canada came from a study investigating the *M. tuberculosis* population structure among Montreal residents (2001-2007) using different genotyping methodologies; this study found 9% of TB cases were attributed to Beijing strains based on genomic deletion analysis.<sup>119</sup> Neither the epidemiological and clinical presentations nor the transmissibility of Beijing strains relative to other *M. tuberculosis* strains have been reported in Canada.

### 2.6 References

- World Health Organization. *Global Tuberculosis Control: Surveillance, Planning, Financing. WHO Report 2008.* Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2008.
- World Health Organization. *TB/HIV: A Clinical Manual*. 2nd ed. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2004.
- World Health Organization. *Global Tuberculosis Control: WHO Report* 2010. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2010.
- (4) Zink AR, Molnár E, Motamedi N, Pálfy G, Marcsik A, Nerlich AG.
   Molecular history of tuberculosis from ancient mummies and skeletons. *Int J Osteoarchaeol* 2007;17(4):380-391.
- (5) Koch R. The aetiology of tuberculosis. In: Clendening L, ed. *Source Book* of *Medical History*. New York, NY: P.B. Hoeber, Inc.; 1942:392-406.
- Leibert E, Rom WN. Principles of tuberculosis management. In: Rom WN, Garay SM, eds. *Tuberculosis*. 2nd ed. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2004:713-728.
- World Health Organization. Resolution WHA44.8. Tuberculosis Control Program. In: Handbook of Resolutions and Decisions of the World Health Assembly and the Executive Board (1985-1992). 3rd ed. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 1993:116.
- (8) World Health Organization. WHO declares tuberculosis a global emergency [press release]. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2011:WHO/31. 4-23-1993.
- World Health Organization. WHO Tuberculosis Program Framework for Effective Tuberculosis Control. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 1994: WHO/TB/94.179.
- (10) Our History The Global Fund to Fight AIDS, Tuberculosis, and Malaria. The Global Fund Web site. http://www.theglobalfund.org/en/about/secretariat/history/. Published
   2011. Accessed on September 15, 2011

- World Health Organization. *The Stop TB Strategy: Building On and Enhancing DOTS to Meet TB-related Millennium Development Goals.* Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2006.
- (12) Gandhi NR, Nunn P, Dheda K et al. Multidrug-resistant and extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis: a threat to global control of tuberculosis. *Lancet* 2010;375(9728):1830-1843.
- (13) Velayati AA, Masjedi MR, Farnia P et al. Emergence of new forms of totally drug-resistant tuberculosis bacilli: super extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis or totally drug-resistant strains in Iran. *Chest* 2009;136(2): 420-425.
- (14) Shah NS, Richardson J, Moodley P et al. Increasing drug resistance in extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis, South Africa. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2011;17(3):510-513.
- (15) Sotgiu G, Ferrara G, Matteelli A et al. Epidemiology and clinical management of XDR-TB: a systematic review by TBNET. *Eur Respir J* 2009;33(4):871-881.
- (16) Raviglione M. XDR-TB: entering the post-antibiotic era? *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2006;10(11):1185-1187.
- World Health Organization. Multidrug and Extensively Drug-resistant TB (M/XDR-TB): 2010 Global Report on Surveillance and Response.
   Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2010.
- (18) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Emergence of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* with extensive resistance to second-line drugs Worldwide, 2000-2004. MMWR *Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2006;55(11): 301-305.
- (19) Joint United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS (UNAIDS). Global Report: UNAIDS Report on the Global AIDS Epidemic 2010. Geneva, Switzerland: Joint United Nations Program on HIV/AIDS; 2010.
- (20) World Health Organization. Frequently asked questions about TB and HIV. http://www.who.int/tb/hiv/faq/en/. Published 2011. Accessed September 6, 2011.

- Public Health Agency of Canada, Canadian Lung Association/ Canadian Thoracic Society. *Canadian Tuberculosis Standards*. Long R, Ellis E, eds.
   6<sup>th</sup> ed. Ottawa, Canada: Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Health; 2007.
- (22) World Health Organization. Guidelines for Intensified Tuberculosis Case-Finding and Isoniazid Preventive Therapy for People Living with HIV in Resource-Constrained Settings. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2011.
- (23) Getahun H, Gunneberg C, Granich R, Nunn P. HIV infection-associated tuberculosis: the epidemiology and the response. *Clin Infect Dis* 2010;50(suppl 3): S201-207.
- World Health Organization. WHO Three I's Meeting: Intensified Case Finding (ICF), Isoniazid Preventive Therapy (IPT) and TB Infection Control (IC) for People Living with HIV. Report of a Joint World Health Organization HIV/AIDS and TB Department Meeting. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2008.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. *Tuberculosis in Canada 2007*. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2009.
- (26) Statistics Canada. Aboriginal Peoples in Canada in 2006: Inuit, Métis and First Nations, 2006 Census. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada; 2008.
- (27) Verver S, Veen J. Tuberculosis control and migration. In: Raviglione MC, ed. *Reichman and Hershfield's tuberculosis: a comprehensive, international approach.* 3rd ed. New York, NY: Informa Healthcare USA, Inc.; 2006:869-905.
- (28) Raviglione MC, Sudre P, Rieder HL, Spinaci S, Kochi A. Secular trends of tuberculosis in western Europe. *Bull World Health Organ* 1993;71(3-4):297-306.
- (29) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Trends in tuberculosis
  -- United States, 2008. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2009;58(10):249-253.

- (30) Tuberculosis among the foreign-born in Canada. *Can Commun Dis Rep* 2003;29(2):10-6.
- (31) Gushulak BD, MacPherson DW. Globalization of infectious diseases: the impact of migration. *Clin Infect Dis* 2004;38(12):1742-1748.
- (32) MacPherson DW, Gushulak BD. Balancing prevention and screening among international migrants with tuberculosis: population mobility as the major epidemiological influence in low-incidence nations. *Public Health* 2006;120(8):712-723.
- (33) Statistics Canada. Immigration in Canada: A Portrait of the Foreign-Born Population, Census 2006. Ottawa; Canada: Statistics Canada; 2007.
- (34) Das D, Baker M, Venugopal K, McAllister S. Why the tuberculosis incidence rate is not falling in New Zealand. *N Z Med J* 2006;119(1243): U2248.
- (35) Farah MG, Meyer HE, Selmer R, Heldal E, Bjune G. Long-term risk of tuberculosis among immigrants in Norway. *Int J Epidemiol* 2005;34(5): 1005-1011.
- (36) Creatore MI, Lam M, Wobeser WL. Patterns of tuberculosis risk over time among recent immigrants to Ontario, Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2005;9(6):667-672.
- (37) Cain KP, Benoit SR, Winston CA, Mac Kenzie WR. Tuberculosis among foreign-born persons in the United States. *JAMA* 2008;300(4):405-412.
- (38) Cain KP, Haley CA, Armstrong LR et al. Tuberculosis among foreignborn persons in the United States: achieving tuberculosis elimination. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2007;175(1):75-79.
- (39) Jereb J, Albalak R, Castro K. The Arden house Conference on Tuberculosis, revisited: perspectives for tuberculosis elimination in the United States. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med* 2004;25(3):255-269.
- (40) Hoeppner V, Marciniuk DD. Tuberculosis in aboriginal Canadians. *Can Respir J* 2000;9(2):141-146.

- (41) Frothingham R, Hills HG, Wilson KH. Extensive DNA sequence conservation throughout the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex*. J Clin Microbiol 1994;32(7):1639-1643.
- (42) Sreevatsan S, Pan X, Stockbauer KE et al. Restricted structural gene polymorphism in the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex* indicates evolutionarily recent global dissemination. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1997;94(18):9869-74.
- (43) Musser JM, Amin A, Ramaswamy S. Negligible genetic diversity of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* host immune system protein targets:
   Evidence of limited selective pressure. *Genetics* 2000;155(1):7-16.
- (44) Gagneux S, Small PM. Global phylogeography of *Mycobacterium* tuberculosis and implications for tuberculosis product development. Lancet Infect Dis 2007;7(5):328-337.
- (45) Fleischmann RD, Alland D, Eisen JA et al. Whole-genome comparison of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* clinical and laboratory strains. *J Bacteriol* 2002;184(19):5479-5490.
- (46) Hershberg R, Lipatov M, Small PM et al. High functional diversity in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* driven by genetic drift and human demography. *PloS Biol* 2008 December 16;6(12):e311.
- (47) Comas I, Chakravartti J, Small PM et al. Human T cell epitopes of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* are evolutionarily hyperconserved. *Nat Genet* 2010;42(6):498-503.
- (48) Manca C, Reed MB, Freeman S et al. Differential monocyte activation underlies strain-specific *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* pathogenesis. *Infect Immun* 2004;72(9):5511-5514.
- (49) López B, Aguilar D, Orozco H et al. A marked difference in pathogenesis and immune response induced by different *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotypes. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2003;133(1):30-37.
- (50) Coscolla M, Gagneux S. Does *M. tuberculosis* genomic diversity explain disease diversity? *Drug Discov Today Dis Mech* 2010;7(1):e43-e59.

- (51) Small PM, Hopewell PC, Singh SP et al. The epidemiology of tuberculosis in San-Francisco: a population-based study using conventional and molecular methods. *N Engl J Med* 1994;330(24):1703-1709.
- (52) Kato-Maeda M, Metcalfe JZ, Flores L. Genotyping of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: application in epidemiologic studies. *Future Microbiol* 2011;6(2):203-216.
- (53) Mathema B, Kurepina NE, Bifani PJ, Kreiswirth BN. Molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis: current insights. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2006;19(4):658-685.
- Murray M, Nardell E. Molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis:
   achievements and challenges to current knowledge. *Bull World Health* Organ 2002;80(6):477-482.
- (55) van Rie A, Warren R, Richardson M et al. Exogenous reinfection as a cause of recurrent tuberculosis after curative treatment. *N Engl J Med* 1999;341(16):1174-1179.
- (56) Fine PEM, Small PM. Exogenous reinfection in tuberculosis. N Engl J Med 1999;341(16):1226-1227.
- (57) van Soolingen D, Qian L, De Haas PE et al. Predominance of a single genotype of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in countries of east Asia. J Clin Microbiol 1995;33(12):3234-3238.
- (58) Toungoussova OS, Mariandyshev A, Bjune G, Sandven P, Caugant DA. Molecular epidemiology and drug resistance of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates in the Archangel prison in Russia: predominance of the W-Beijing clone family. *Clin Infect Dis* 2003;37(5):665-672.
- (59) Agerton T, Valway S, Blinkhorn R et al. Spread of strain W, a highly drug-resistant strain of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, across the United States. *Clin Infect Dis* 1999;29(1):85-92.
- (60) Milan SJ, Hauge KA, Kurepina NE et al. Expanded geographical distribution of the N family of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains within the United States. *J Clin Microbiol* 2004;42(3):1064-1068.

- (61) Caminero J, Pena M, Campos-Herrero M, et al. Epidemiological evidence of the spread of a *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strain of Beijing genotype on Gran Canaria Island. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2001;164(7):1165-1170.
- (62) Thwaites G, Caws M, Chau TTH et al. Relationship between *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotype and the clinical phenotype of pulmonary and meningeal tuberculosis. J Clin Microbiol 2008;46(4):1363-1368.
- (63) Sun YJ, Lim TK, Ong AKY, Ho BCH, Seah GT, Paton NI. Tuberculosis associated with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing and non-Beijing genotypes: a clinical and immunological comparison. *BMC Infect Dis* 2006;6:105.
- (64) Dormans J, Burger M, Aguilar D, et al. Correlation of virulence, lung pathology, bacterial load and delayed type hypersensitivity responses after infection with different *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotypes in a BALB/c mouse model. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2004;137(3):460-468.
- (65) Hanekom M, van der Spuy GD, Streicher E et al. A recently evolved sublineage of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing strain family is associated with an increased ability to spread and cause disease. *J Clin Microbiol* 2007;45(5):1483-1490.
- (66) Tsolaki AG, Hirsh AE, DeRiemer K et al. Functional and evolutionary genomics of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: insights from genomic deletions in 100 strains. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004;101(14):4865-4870.
- (67) Gagneux S, DeRiemer K, Van T et al. Variable host-pathogen compatibility in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006;103(8):2869-2873.
- (68) Jasmer R, Hahn J, Small et al. A molecular epidemiologic analysis of tuberculosis trends in San Francisco, 1991-1997. Ann Intern Med 1999;130:971-978.
- (69) Kunimoto D, Sutherland K, Wooldrage K et al. Transmission characteristics of tuberculosis in the foreign-born and the Canadian-born

populations of Alberta, Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(10):1213-1220.

- (70) Borgdorff MW, Nagelkerke N, van Soolingen D, de Haas PEW, Veen J, van Embden JD. Analysis of tuberculosis transmission between nationalities in the Netherlands in the period 1993-1995 using DNA fingerprinting. *Am J Epidemiol* 1998;147(2):187-195.
- (71) Bauer J, Thomsen VO, Poulsen S, Andersen AB. False-positive results from cultures of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* due to laboratory crosscontamination confirmed by restriction fragment length polymorphism. *J Clin Microbiol* 1997;35(4):988-991.
- (72) Braden C, Templeton G, Stead W, et al. Retrospective detection of laboratory cross-contamination of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cultures with use of DNA fingerprint analysis. *Clin Infect Dis* 1997;24(1):35-40.
- (73) Miller AC, Sharnprapai S, Suruki R et al. Impact of genotyping of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* on public health practice in Massachusetts. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2002;8(11):1285-1289.
- (74) Behr MA, Mostowy S. Molecular tools for typing and branding the tubercle bacillus. *Curr Mol Med* 2007;7(3):309-317.
- (75) van Embden JD, Cave MD, Crawford JT et al. Strain identification of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by DNA fingerprinting: recommendations for a standardized methodology. *J Clin Microbiol* 1993;31(2):406-409.
- (76) de Boer AS, Borgdorff MW, de Haas PE et al. Analysis of rate of change of IS6110 RFLP patterns of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* based on serial patient isolates. *J Infect Dis* 1999;180(4):1238-1244.
- (77) Cave MD, Eisenach KD, Templeton G et al. Stability of DNA fingerprint pattern produced with IS6110 in strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J *Clin Microbiol* 1994;32(1):262-266.
- McEvoy CR, Falmer AA, van Pittius NC, Victor TC, van Helden PD,
   Warren RM. The role of IS6110 in the evolution of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Tuberculosis* 2007;87(5):393-404.

- (79) Gopaul KK, Brown TJ, Gibson AL, Yates MD, Drobniewski FA. Progression toward an improved DNA amplification-based typing technique in the study of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* epidemiology. J *Clin Microbiol* 2006;44:2492-2498.
- (80) van Soolingen D, de Haas PE, Hermans PW, Groenen PM, van Embden JD. Comparison of various repetitive DNA elements as genetic-markers for strain differentiation and epidemiology of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Clin Microbiol 1993;31(8):1987-1995.
- (81) Goyal M, Saunders NA, van Embden JD, Young DB, Shaw RJ. Differentiation of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates by spoligotyping and IS6110 restriction fragment length polymorphism. J Clin Microbiol 1997;35(3):647-651.
- (82) Cronin WA, Golub JE, Magder LS et al. Epidemiologic usefulness of spoligotyping for secondary typing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates with low copy numbers IS6110. J Clin Microbiol 2001;39(10):3709-3711.
- (83) Bauer J, Andersen AB, Kremer K, Miorner H. Usefulness of spoligotyping to discriminate IS6110 low-copy-number *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex strains cultured in Denmark. *J Clin Microbiol* 1999;37(8):2602-2606.
- (84) Yeh RW, de Leon P, Agasino CB et al. Stability of Mycobacterium tuberculosis DNA genotypes. J Infect Dis 1998;177(4):1107-1111.
- (85) Hawkey PM, Smith EG, Evans JT et al. Mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unit typing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* compared to IS6110based restriction fragment length polymorphism analysis for investigation of apparently clustered cases of tuberculosis. *J Clin Microbiol* 2003;41(8):3514-3520.
- (86) Cowan LS, Diem L, Monson T et al. Evaluation of a two-step approach for large-scale, prospective genotyping of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates in the United States. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43(2):688-695.
- (87) Supply P, Lesjean S, Savine E, Kremer K, Van SD, Locht C. Automated high-throughput genotyping for study of global epidemiology of

*Mycobacterium tuberculosis* based on mycobacterial interspersed repetitive units. *J Clin Microbiol* 2001;39(10):3563-3571.

- (88) Kamerbeek J, Schouls L, Kolk A, van Agterveld M, van Soolingen D, et al. Simultaneous detection and strain differentiation of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* for diagnosis and epidemiology. *J Clin Microbiol* 1997;35(4):907-914.
- (89) Hayward AC, Watson JM. Typing of mycobacteria using spoligotyping. *Thorax* 1998;53(5):329-330.
- (90) Kremer K, van Soolingen D, Frothingham R et al. Comparison of methods based on different molecular epidemiological markers for typing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex strains: interlaboratory study of discriminatory power and reproducibility. J Clin Microbiol 1999;37(8):2607-2618.
- (91) Brudey K, Driscoll JR, Rigouts L et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex genetic diversity: mining the fourth international spoligotyping database (SpoIDB4) for classification, population genetics and epidemiology. *BMC Microbiol* 2006;6:23.
- (92) Goguet de la Salmonière Y-O, Li HM, Torrea G, Bunschoten A, van Embden J, Gicquel B. Evaluation of spoligotyping in a study of the transmission of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Clin Microbiol 1997;35(9):2210-2214.
- (93) Diaz R, Kremer K, de Haas PE et al. Molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis in Cuba outside of Havana, July 1994 – June 1995: utility of spoligotyping versus IS6110 restriction fragment length polymorphism. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 1998;2(9):743-750.
- (94) Kremer K, Glynn JR, Lillebaek T et al. Definition of the Beijing/W lineage of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* on the basis of genetic markers. J *Clin Microbiol* 2004 September;42(9):4040-4049.
- (95) Douglas JT, Qian LS, Montoya JC et al. Characterization of the Manila family of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *J Clin Microbiol* 2003;41(6):2723-2726.

- (96) Kulkarni S, Sola C, Filliol I, Rastogi N, Kadival G. Spoligotyping of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* isolates from patients with pulmonary tuberculosis in Mumbai, India. *Res Microbiol* 2005;156(4):588-596.
- (97) Maes M, Kremer K, van Soolingen D, Takiff H, de Waard JH. 24-Locus MIRU-VNTR genotyping is a useful tool to study the molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis among Warao Amerindians in Venezuela. *Tuberculosis* 2008;88(5):490-494.
- (98) Mazars E, Lesjean S, Banuls AL et al. High-resolution minisatellite-based typing as a portable approach to global analysis of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* molecular epidemiology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001;98(4):1901-1906.
- (99) Supply P, Mazars E, Lesjean S, Vincent V, Gicquel B, Locht C. Variable human minisatellite-like regions in the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genome. *Mol Microbiol* 2000;36(3):762-771.
- (100) Scott AN, Menzies D, Tannenbaum TN et al. Sensitivities and specificities of spoligotyping and mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unit-variablenumber tandem repeat typing methods for studying molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43(1):89-94.
- (101) Supply P, Allix C, Lesjean S et al. Proposal for standardization of optimized mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unit-variable-number tandem repeat typing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Clin Microbiol 2006;44(12):4498-4510.
- (102) Comas I, Homolka S, Niemann S, Gagneux S. Genotyping of genetically monomorphic bacteria: DNA sequencing in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* highlights the limitations of current methodologies. *Plos One* 2009;4(11):e7815.
- (103) Cole ST, Brosch R, Parkhill J et al. Deciphering the biology of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* from the complete genome sequence. *Nature* 1998;393(6685):537-544.

- (104) Goguet de la Salmonière Y-O, Kim CC, Tsolaki AG, Pym AS, Siegrist MS, Small PM. High-throughput method for detecting genomic-deletion polymorphisms. *J Clin Microbiol* 2004;42(7):2913-2918.
- (105) Brosch R, Gordon SV, Marmiesse M et al. A new evolutionary scenario for the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis complex*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2002;99(6):3684-3689.
- (106) Baker L, Brown T, Maiden MC, Drobniewski F. Silent nucleotide polymorphisms and a phyogeny for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2004;10(9):1568-1577.
- (107) Brown T, Nikolayevskyy V, Velji P, Drobniewski F. Associations between *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains and phenotypes. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2010;16(2):272-280.
- (108) European Concerted Action on New Generation Genetic Markers and Techniques for the Epidemiology and Control of Tuberculosis. Beijing/W genotype *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and drug resistance. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2006;12(5):736-743.
- (109) Kremer K, Au BK, Yip PC et al. Use of variable-number tandem-repeat typing to differentiate *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing family isolates from Hong Kong and comparison with IS6110 restriction fragment length polymorphism typing and spoligotyping. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43(1): 314-320.
- (110) Kang HY, Wada T, Iwamoto T et al. Phylogeographical particularity of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing family in South Korea based on international comparison with surrounding countries. *J Med Microbiol* 2010;59(10):1191-1197.
- (111) Anh D, Borgdorff M, Van L et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype emerging in Vietnam. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2000;6(3):302-305.
- (112) Qian LS, van Embden JD, van der Zanden AG, Weltevreden EF, Duanmu H, Douglas JT. Retrospective analysis of the Beijing family of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in preserved lung tissues. *J Clin Microbiol* 1999;37(2):471-474.

- (113) Cowley D, Govender D, February B et al. Recent and rapid emergence of W-Beijing strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in Cape Town, South Africa. *Clin Infect Dis* 2008;47(10):1252-1259.
- (114) Drobniewski F, Balabanova Y, Ruddy M, et al. Rifampin- and multidrugresistant tuberculosis in Russian civilians and inmates: dominance of the Beijing strain family. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2002;8(11):1320-1326.
- (115) Cox HS, Kubica T, Doshetov D, Kebede Y, Rüsch-Gerdes S, Niemann S. The Beijing genotype and drug resistant tuberculosis in the Aral Sea region of Central Asia. *Respir Res* 2005;6:134.
- (116) Martinez-Gamboa A, Ponce-De-Leon A, Galindo-Fraga A et al. Molecular analysis of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains with an intact *pks15/1* gene in a rural community of Mexico. *Arch Med Res* 2008;39(8):809-814.
- (117) Lillebaek T, Andersen AB, Dirksen A, Glynn JR, Kremer K.
   Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype. Emerg Infect Dis 2003; 9(12):1553-1557.
- (118) Glynn JR, Alghamdi S, Mallard K et al. Changes in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotype families over 20 years in a population-based study in Northern Malawi. *Plos One* 2010;5(8):e12259.
- (119) Reed MB, Pichler VK, McIntosh F et al. Major *Mycobacterium* tuberculosis lineages associate with patient country of origin. J Clin Microbiol 2009;47(4):1119-1128.
- (120) Bifani PJ, Plikaytis BB, Kapur V et al. Origin and interstate spread of a New York City multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* clone family. *JAMA* 1996;275(6):452-457.
- (121) Jou R, Chiang CY, Huang WL. Distribution of the Beijing family genotypes of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in Taiwan. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43(1):95-100.
- (122) Caws M, Thwaites G, Stepniewska K, et al. Beijing genotype of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is significantly associated with human immunodeficiency virus infection and multidrug resistance in cases of tuberculosis meningitis. *J Clin Microbiol* 2006;44(11):3934-3939.

- (123) Lan NT, Lien HT, Tung LB, Borgdorff MW, Kremer K, van Soolingen D. Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype and risk for treatment failure and relapse, Vietnam. Emerg Infect Dis 2003;9(12):1633-1635.
- (124) Burman WJ, Bliven EE, Cowan L et al. Relapse associated with active disease caused by Beijing strain of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2009;15(7):1061-1067.
- (125) Sun YJ, Lee AS, Wong SY, Paton NI. Association of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype with tuberculosis relapse in Singapore. *Epidemiol Infect* 2006;134(2):329-332.
- (126) Kubica T, Rüsch-Gerdes S, Niemann S. The Beijing genotype is emerging among multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains from Germany. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(9):1107-1113.
- (127) Buu TN, Huyen MN, Lan NTN et al. The Beijing genotype is associated with young age and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in rural Vietnam. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2009;13(7):900-906.
- (128) Devaux I, Kremer K, Heersma H, van Soolingen D. Clusters of multidrugresistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cases, Europe. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2009;15(7):1052-1060.
- (129) Mlambo CK, Warren RM, Poswa X, Victor TC, Duse AG, Marais E. Genotypic diversity of extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis (XDR-TB) in South Africa. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2008;12(1):99-104.
- (130) Zhao M, Li X, Xu P et al. Transmission of MDR and XDR tuberculosis in Shanghai, China. *PloS One* 2009;4(2):e4370.
- (131) Buu TN, Huyen MNT, van Soolingen D et al. The *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype does not affect tuberculosis treatment failure in Vietnam. *Clin Infect Dis* 2010;51(8):879-886.
- (132) van Crevel R., Nelwan RH, de LW et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype strains associated with febrile response to treatment. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2001;7(5):880-883.

- (133) Werngren J, Hoffner SE. Drug-susceptible *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype does not develop mutation-conferred resistance to rifampin at an elevated rate. *J Clin Microbiol* 2003;41(4):1520-1524.
- (134) Borgdorff MW, de Haas P, Kremer K, van Soolingen D. Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype, the Netherlands. Emerg Infect Dis 2003;9(10):1310-1313.
- (135) Iwamoto T, Yoshida S, Suzuki K, Wada T. Population structure analysis of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing family indicates an association between certain sublineages and multidrug resistance. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2008;52(10):3805-3809.
- (136) Mokrousov I, Wei WJ, Gui ZS et al. Evolution of drug resistance in different sublineages of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006;50(8):2820-2823.
- (137) Aguilar D, Hanekom M, Mata D et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains with the Beijing genotype demonstrate variability in virulence associated with transmission. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)* 2010;90(5):319-325.
- (138) Theus S, Eisenach K, Fomukong N, Silver RF, Cave MD. Beijing family Mycobacterium tuberculosis strains differ in their intracellular growth in THP-1 macrophages. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2007;11(10):1087-1093.
- (139) Bifani P, Mathema B, Kurepina N, et al. Global dissemination of the Mycobacterium tuberculosis W-Beijing family strains. Trends Microbiol 2002;10(1):45-52.
- (140) Kremer K, van der Werf MJ, Au BKY et al. Vaccine-induced immunity circumvented by typical *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing strains. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2009;15(2):335-339.
- (141) Abebe F, Bjune G. The emergence of Beijing family genotypes of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and low level protection by bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccines: is there a link? *Clin Exp Immunol* 2006;145(3): 389-397.
- (142) Manca C, Tsenova L, Bergtold A et al. Virulence of a *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* clinical isolate in mice is determined by failure to induce Th1

type immunity and is associated with induction of IFN-alpha/beta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001;98(10):5752-5757.

- (143) Tsenova L, Ellison E, Harbacheuski R et al. Virulence of selected Mycobacterium tuberculosis clinical isolates in the rabbit model of meningitis is dependent on phenolic glycolipid produced by the bacilli. J Infect Dis 2005;192(1):98-106.
- (144) Jeon BY, Derrick SC, Lim J et al. *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG immunization induces protective immunity against nine different *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains in mice. *Infect Immun* 2008;76(11): 5173-5180.
- (145) Toungoussova OS, Caugant DA, Sandven P, Mariandyshev AO, Bjune G. Impact of drug resistance on fitness of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains of the W-Beijing genotype. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 2004;42(3): 281-290.
- (146) Bifani P, Mathema B, Liu Z et al. Identification of a W variant outbreak of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* via population-based molecular epidemiology. JAMA 1999;282(24):2321-2327.
- (147) Kurepina NE, Sreevatsan S, Plikaytis BB et al. Characterization of the phylogenetic distribution and chromosomal insertion sites of five IS6110 elements in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: non-random integration in the dnaA-dnaN region. *Tuber Lung Dis* 1998;79(1):31-42.
- (148) Mokrousov I, Ly HM, Otten T et al. Origin and primary dispersal of the Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype: clues from human phylogeography. Genome Res 2005;15(10):1357-1364.
- (149) Wada T, Iwamoto T, Maeda S. Genetic diversity of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing family in East Asia revealed through refined population structure analysis. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2009;291(1):35-43.
- (150) Mokrousov I, Narvskaya O, Otten T et al. Phylogenetic reconstruction within *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype in northwestern Russia. *Res Microbiol* 2002:153(10):629-637.

- (151) Tsolaki AG, Gagneux S, Pym AS et al. Genomic deletions classify the Beijing/W strains as a distinct genetic lineage of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Clin Microbiol 2005;43(7):3185-3191.
- (152) Kong Y, Cave MD, Zhang L et al. Population-based study of deletions in five different genomic regions of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and possible clinical relevance of the deletions. *J Clin Microbiol* 2006;44(11): 3940-3946.
- (153) Mokrousov I, Narvskaya O, Vyazovaya A et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype in Russia: in search of informative variable-number tandem-repeat loci. *J Clin Microbiol* 2008;46(11):3576-3584.
- (154) Bifani PJ, Mathema B, Kurepina NE, Kreiswirth BN. Global dissemination of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* W-Beijing family strains. *Trends Microbiol* 2002;10(1):45-52.
- (155) Dou HY, Tseng FC, Lu JJ et al. Associations of *Mycobacterium* tuberculosis genotypes with different ethnic and migratory populations in Taiwan. Infect Genet Evol 2008;8(3):323-330.
- (156) Chen J, Tsolaki AG, Shen X, Jiang X, Mei J, Gao Q. Deletion-targeted multiplex PCR (DTM-PCR) for identification of Beijing/W genotypes of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Tuberculosis* 2007;87(5):446-449.
- (157) Iwamoto T, Yoshida S, Suzuki K et al. Hypervariable loci that enhance the discriminatory ability of newly proposed 15-loci and 24-loci variablenumber tandem repeat typing method on *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains predominated by the Beijing family. *FEMS Microbiol Lett* 2007;270(1):67-74.
- (158) Alonso M, onso Rodriguez N, Garzelli C et al. Characterization of Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing isolates from the Mediterranean area. BMC Microbiol 2010;10:151.
- (159) Hirsh AE, Tsolaki AG, DeRiemer K, Feldman MW, Small PM. Stable association between strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and their human host populations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004;101(14):4871-4876.

- (160) Citizenship and Immigration Canada. Facts and figures 2008 --Immigration overview: permanent and temporary residents. http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/resources/statistics/facts2008/permanent/10. asp. Published August 2009. Accessed July 12, 2011.
- (161) Borgdorff MW, Behr MA, Nagelkerke NJ, Hopewell PC, Small PM. Transmission of tuberculosis in San Francisco and its association with immigration and ethnicity. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2000;4(4):287-294.
- (162) Dahle UR, Eldholm V, Winje BA, Mannsaker T, Heldal E. Impact of immigration on the molecular epidemiology of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in a low-incidence country. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2007;176(9):930-935.
- (163) Lillebaek T, Andersen AB, Bauer J et al. Risk of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* transmission in a low-incidence country due to immigration from high-incidence areas. *J Clin Microbiol* 2001;39(3):855-861.

## CHAPTER 3: PIECING THE PUZZLE TOGETHER: FOREIGN-BORN TUBERCULOSIS IN AN IMMIGRANT-RECEIVING COUNTRY\*

### 3.1 Abstract

*Introduction:* In immigrant-receiving countries, annual foreign-born tuberculosis case counts and rates are relatively constant. Why this is so, and who might be a high-yield target for screening for latent tuberculosis infection, remain open questions.

*Methods:* Foreign-born tuberculosis in Canada during 1986-2002 was retrospectively examined using national tuberculosis and immigration data as well as census data. Case counts and rates were analyzed in relation to demographics, immigration period, and time since arrival.

**Results:** Pre-1986 immigrants (n=3,860,853) and 1986-2002 immigrants (n=3,463,283) contributed 8,662 and 9,613 tuberculosis cases, respectively. Immigrants who were  $\leq$ 5 years since arrival and those >10 years since arrival contributed almost equally to the annual foreign-born tuberculosis case count despite a 3.5-fold difference in in-country person-years. Remarkably stable and relatively low tuberculosis incidence was observed among immigrants >10 years post-arrival. Conversely, tuberculosis incidence within 5 years of arrival was dynamic, demonstrating a strong inverse association with time since arrival and higher sensitivity to changes in immigration level than shifts toward higher incidence source countries.

**Conclusion:** Relative constancy in foreign-born TB incidence is explained by a complex convergence of several factors. Immigrants born in high incidence countries (>50/100,000 population) who were  $\leq 2$  years since arrival, and who were age 15-35 years upon arrival, constitute high-yield targets for preventive therapy.

\*A version of this paper has been published in the European Respiratory Journal:

Langlois-Klassen D, Wooldrage KM, Manfreda J, Sutherland K, Ellis E, Phypers M, Gushulak B, Long R. Piecing the puzzle together: foreign-born tuberculosis in an immigrant-receiving country. *Eur Respir J* 2011;38(4):895-902. Published ahead of print March 24, 2011.

## **3.2 Introduction**

Immigrant-receiving countries with low tuberculosis (TB) incidence are frequently challenged by TB in their foreign-born people.<sup>1-4</sup> The World Health Organization (WHO) suggests that when foreign-born cases constitute 70% or more of national TB cases, one cannot anticipate more than a 2% decrease in annual national TB rates through the use of regular TB control programs.<sup>5</sup> Under such circumstances, further reductions in national TB incidence and TB elimination require a rethinking of prevailing TB prevention and control strategies.

Canada, with one of the highest levels of immigration per capita internationally,<sup>6</sup> is acutely aware of the increasing burden that TB in the foreign-born represents. Following a shift in immigration pattern from low to high TB incidence countries in the 1960s and a substantial reduction in Canadian-born non-Aboriginal TB incidence, the proportion of foreign-born TB cases increased from 18% in 1970 to 67% in 2007.<sup>2, 7-10</sup> In the same period, the foreign-born population nearly doubled, increasing the proportion of the foreign-born Canadian population from 15% in 1970 to 20% in 2007.<sup>11</sup> Reflecting the WHO's projections, Canada's national TB incidence rate declined by an average of 2% annually between 2001 and 2007.<sup>10</sup>

That a shift in immigration pattern from low to high incidence TB countries contributed to an increased proportion of foreign-born cases is a reasonable assumption given that 'country of birth/origin' and 'time since arrival' are key determinants of foreign-born TB incidence.<sup>1, 2, 12-15</sup> Similarly, an increase in both TB case counts and rates would seem logical following a sustained shift. However, only modest variations in annual foreign-born TB case counts and rates have been reported for several decades (with recent rate reductions being primarily attributed to denominator size).<sup>2, 16</sup> This relative stability in foreign-born TB incidence remained unexplained despite similar trends elsewhere.<sup>1, 17, 18</sup>

There is a general consensus that TB elimination in immigrant-receiving countries will be contingent on the successful prevention of TB in the foreign-

born. However, without a comprehensive understanding of how foreign-born TB incidence is constructed, it will be exceedingly difficult, if not impossible, to effectively design and appropriately target any national TB prevention strategies. To bridge this knowledge gap, this study aimed to deconstruct foreign-born TB incidence in Canada in order to identify relative contributions and trends in TB incidence among immigrant groups. In doing so, it was anticipated that the factors related to the relative constancy in foreign-born TB incidence would be elucidated and high-yield targets for screening and treatment of latent TB infection (LTBI) be identified.

## 3.3 Methods

#### Study population

The population of foreign-born permanent residents (stock) in Canada from January 1, 1986 through December 31, 2002 ("study period") was divided into two groups:

i. Immigrants who arrived in 1986-2002: Individual level data from Citizenship and Immigration Canada, the federal government department responsible for immigration and settlement, was used to identify immigrants and refugees who were granted permanent residency and arrived in Canada during the study period ("1986-2002 immigrants"). Data abstraction included year of arrival, age-at-arrival, sex and country of birth.

ii. Immigrants who arrived before 1986: Canadian census data was used to estimate the size and age-sex distribution of the foreign-born permanent resident population in 1986.<sup>19, 20</sup>

Temporary foreign-born residents (visitors, students, workers, and refugee claimants [whose status remained to be determined] within the refugee determination process) were excluded from the denominator as this information was not maintained by Citizenship and Immigration Canada.

## Tuberculosis cases

Foreign-born TB cases diagnosed during the study period were identified from the Canadian Tuberculosis Reporting System (CTBRS), a prospective national TB registry of all active cases. Cases were included in the study if immigration status at the time of diagnosis was reported as 'permanent resident' or if immigration status was unknown. The diagnosis of active TB is based upon positive bacteriology in 80% of cases; in the remainder, it is based upon a standardized case definition.<sup>21</sup>

## WHO country groups

Countries of birth for 1986-2002 immigrants were divided into four groups based on the average country-specific WHO estimated incidence rate of smear-positive  $TB^{22}$  in 1993 through 1995: <15 (Group 1); 15-50 (Group 2); 51-100 (Group 3); and >100 (Group 4) per 100,000 population (Table 3-1).

#### Statistical analysis

'Time since arrival' denotes the number of years between the year of arrival and the year of diagnosis. Cases diagnosed in the calendar year of arrival were categorized as 'year 0' cases (i.e. <1 year since arrival), cases occurring in the calendar year following the year of arrival were 'year 1' cases, etc. Thus, cases diagnosed in year 1 could have been in Canada between one day and two years, or one year on the average. For the cohort of immigrants who arrived in Canada prior to 1986, 1986 was considered to be year 0.

Incidence rates per 100,000 person-years were calculated overall as well as for sex, age-at-arrival, country group, and time since arrival strata. The calculation of 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for rates assumed a Poisson distribution for case counts. Standardized incidence rates were calculated using the direct method with the age and/or sex distribution of total 1986-2002 immigrants as the standard population. Rates were compared with incidence rate ratios (RR) and 95% CIs. Summary statistics consist of the mean and standard deviation ( $\bar{x}$  [SD]), and *P* values were two-sided and considered significant if <0.05.<sup>23</sup>

The size of each annual cohort of immigrants for each year between their arrival and the end of 2002 was estimated with the age-sex-calendar year specific survival rates of the total Canadian population.<sup>24-29</sup> Person-years of observation were obtained by adding annual cohort sizes over the total or partial observation period or across cohorts for a specific year. This was also done for each sex, age-at-arrival, and country group. In the year of arrival, each 1986-2002 immigrant was assumed to contribute 0.5 person-years. Person-years for pre-1986 immigrants were estimated with the same procedure except that each immigrant was assumed to contribute a whole year of observation in 1986.

The relative contributions of immigrants who had arrived within 0-5, 6-10 and >10 years to the total burden of TB was assessed for those who arrived in 1986-2002 and for all immigrants. Of necessity, the latter group was limited to data from the 1995-2002 period, as 1995 was the earliest year in which all pre-1986 immigrants resided in Canada for >10 years after the arrival year.

Among 1986-2002 immigrants, the potential impact of prevalent active but unrecognized disease upon arrival on TB incidence rates in year 0-2 was explored with sensitivity analysis. Based on the assumption that a proportion of year 0-1 cases were "actually" active upon arrival (by inference to have developed TB between the date of the immigration medical examination [IME] and date of arrival), the absolute number of cases in year 0-1 were incrementally reduced until statistically insignificant RRs (year 0-2 compared to year 3-5) were observed.

Stata/IC 11.1 for Windows (StataCorp, College Station, TX) was used for data analysis.

Ethics approval was not required as anonymous and routinely collected surveillance data were used.

## 3.4 Results

The CTBRS received notification of 18,524 foreign-born TB cases during the study period. After excluding 1.3% of cases due to record errors, 18,275 were analyzed; 8,662 (47.4%) among pre-1986 immigrants and 9,613 (52.6%) in 1986-2002 immigrants.

### Tuberculosis among pre-1986 immigrants

There were 3,860,853 immigrants who resided in Canada before 1986.<sup>19</sup> During the study period, the TB rate in this group was 14.2/100,000 person-years. Higher rates were associated with males and those aged >64 years (Table 3-2).

#### *Tuberculosis among 1986-2002 immigrants*

There were 3,436,283 individuals who immigrated during the study period. Average annual immigration was 202,134 (SD 30,418) individuals, ranging from 113,513 in 1986 to 245,927 in 1990. The majority of immigrants (49.1%) were born in countries with TB incidence rates of 15-50/100,000 population. Nonetheless, a shift in immigration pattern to higher incidence countries of birth was evident and primarily involved a progressive increase in the proportion of immigrants from WHO Group 3 (51-100/100,000 population) (Figure 3-1), from 17.1% in 1986-1990 to 24.9% in 1998-2002.

The overall rate of TB among 1986-2002 immigrants was 34.3/100,000 person-years, i.e. 2.4 (95%CI: 2.4, 2.5) times that of pre-1986 immigrants. Males and those aged >64 years at arrival also had the highest TB rates (Table 3-3).

Rates varied substantially by WHO country group and progressively increased from Group 1 (<15/100,000 population) to Group 4 (>100/100,000 population) (Table 3-4). As a result, countries of birth within Groups 3-4 (>51/100,000 population) were associated with two-thirds of TB cases and only one-third of arrivals.

Tuberculosis rates generally decreased with increased time since arrival (Figure 3-2a) and this association persisted in stratified analyses (sex, Figure 3-2b; age-arrival, Figure 3-2c; and WHO Group, Figure 3-3). Consequently, the

most critical period for TB incidence was between 0-2 years (Table 3-4). Moreover, the rate in year 0-2 was 2.1 (95%CI: 2.0, 2.2), 3.0 (2.8, 3.2) and 4.6 (4.2, 5.1) times higher than that of year 3-5, 6-10, and 11-16, respectively. Sensitivity analysis revealed that TB rates in year 0-2 remained significantly higher than those of year 3-5 until the year 0-1 case count was reduced by >60%.

It is also noteworthy that immigrants aged >64 years at arrival maintained higher rates than younger arrivals throughout the post-arrival period (Figure 3-2c).

The overall TB rate of 1986-2002 immigrants did not fall below 15/100,000 person-years until >10 years after the year of arrival (Table 3-4). Still, immigrants aged  $\geq$ 35 years at arrival and those from WHO country groups 3-4 (>51/100,000 population) continued to have rates in excess of 15/100,000 person-years.

## Deconstruction of total foreign-born TB incidence in Canada

Among combined pre-1986 and 1986-2002 immigrants, those  $\leq$ 5 years after the year of arrival (year 0-5) contributed an average of 41.8% (SD 4.0%) of total foreign-born TB cases annually in 1995-2002. This proportion was remarkably similar to that of immigrants >10 years post-arrival (mean 41.1% [SD 4.7%]) despite a 3.5-fold difference in the average annual person-years of observation (1,132,351 versus 3,910,130 person-years in year 0-5 and year >10, respectively).

Cases were stratified into four groups (Figure 3-4 and 3-5). Group 'A' (pre-1986 immigrants) exemplifies what would have happened to foreign-born TB incidence if immigration was halted in 1986. As per Figure 3-5, the rate in 'A' would have decreased significantly between the beginning and end of the follow-up period [RR 0.59 (95%CI: 0.52, 0.66); P < 0.0001]. Of note, however, is the relative stability in TB incidence in 'A' after 10 years (Figure 3-4 and 3-5).

The three remaining groups, composed of immigrant arrivals in 1986-2002, illustrate that newly arriving groups accounted for an increasing proportion of total cases (Figure 3-4). Specifically, the absolute number of cases contributed by 'B' (1986-1990 immigrants) progressively increased during the 5 years in

which new members entered the cohort ("intake years") and then progressively decreased once 'B' was closed to additional arrivals. As with 'A', the incidence in 'B' was relatively stable once 'B' became composed exclusively of immigrants >10 years since the arrival year (Figures 3-4 and 3-5).

Group 'C' (1991-1995 immigrants) and 'D' (1996-2002 immigrants) had similar incidence patterns as 'B' (Figures 3-4 and 3-5). Relative to 'B' however, the case count during the intake years of 'C' was 45.3% higher than that of 'B' (Figure 3-4). This coincided with an 11.5% increase in immigration levels in 'C'. Similarly, 'D' had a simultaneous 6.4% decrease in immigration level and 17.4% decrease in case count within its intake years compared to 'C'.

The proportion of immigrants from WHO Groups 3-4 (>50/100,000 population) increased by 1.7% and 6.0% between 'B-C' and 'C-D', respectively. While these shifts to higher incidence countries of birth coincided with progressively increased rates in year 1 (Figure 3-5), they appeared to have less of an influence on case counts than changes in immigration level.

#### 3.5 Discussion

In the present analysis of foreign-born TB incidence in Canada, immigrants' greatest risk for active TB was within the first few years of arrival. Despite a 3.5 fold difference in annual person-years of observation, the pool of immigrants who were  $\leq$ 5 years since arrival and those >10 years since arrival contributed almost equally to the annual foreign-born TB case count (42% and 41%, respectively). Clearly, events preceding and immediately following arrival of the foreign-born are critical for TB prevention and control.

As demonstrated in this study and others, there is a characteristic inverse relationship between foreign-born TB rates and increased time since arrival that persists regardless of demographic or country group.<sup>13-15</sup> The interval between the arrival year and the second year following the year of arrival (year 0-2) is of particular importance given a TB rate that is 2 to 3 times that of year 3-5 despite completion of immigration medical screening for pulmonary disease within a year of departure. Before permission for arrival is granted, all foreign nationals  $\geq 11$ 

years of age applying for permanent residency must undergo radiographic screening for pulmonary disease as part of the Canadian immigration medical screening process. Medical decisions rendered on the basis of the examination are valid for a period of 12 months, after which a repeat examination is required.<sup>21</sup>

Although the existence of prevalent active disease upon arrival (and before departure) may contribute to high TB rates shortly after arrival, sensitivity analysis indicates that the TB rate in year 0-2 would remain significantly higher than that of year 3-5 even if 40% of cases in the year of arrival and the year following the year of arrival were incidence cases. Similarly, it is unlikely that the described incidence trends were significantly altered by referral of high-risk immigrants (i.e. those diagnosed with inactive pulmonary TB during the IME) to medical surveillance programs due to the limited effectiveness of such programs in preventing future TB cases.<sup>30, 31</sup>

In contrast to TB incidence among immigrants who were  $\leq 5$  years since arrival, TB incidence among those >10 years since arrival is characterized by remarkably stable and relatively low TB case counts and rates (14/100,000 person-years). Nevertheless, these immigrants have a rate of TB that is 20 times that of Canadian-born non-Aboriginal persons.<sup>10</sup>

Immigration is a dynamic process, with host countries frequently adjusting annual immigration targets and source countries of new immigrants in response to political, social and international factors.<sup>7</sup> In the current study, shifts in immigration pattern had a more subtle influence on TB incidence than that of changing immigration levels. That shifts in immigration pattern only had a minimal impact on TB rates after the arrival year presumably relates to the majority (>60%) of immigrants in Canada being born in countries with relatively low TB incidence ( $\leq$ 50/100,000 population). With continued shifts to higher incidence source countries and immigration projected to represent an increasing proportion of population growth for the foreseeable future,<sup>6, 32</sup> it is speculated that more marked increases in foreign-born TB case counts and rates are imminent.

That immigrants aged >64 years at arrival maintained substantially higher TB rates than younger arrivals throughout the post-arrival period is reasonably explained by aging. In sub-group analyses, TB rates of pre-1986 immigrants aged >64 years in 1986 and 1986-2002 immigrants aged >64 years at arrival were found to progressively increase with each consecutive 5-year increase in age (data not shown). The increasing likelihood of TB with the aging of older arrivals emphasizes that there is an increased role for primary care providers in the screening for LTBI among older immigrants, especially when immigrants originate from high incidence countries and/or have other high risk factors for the development of active disease.

The relative constancy seen in foreign-born TB incidence in Canada is the result of the convergence of all the factors discussed above. Clearly, strategies designed to reduce LTBI prevalence in the foreign-born will be critical to address the burden of TB within this vulnerable population given this complex interplay of factors and previous findings suggesting that the majority of foreign-born TB cases in low incidence countries result from reactivation of LTBI.<sup>33-35</sup> Although routine screening and treatment for LTBI in the foreign-born was previously discouraged due to poor cost-effectiveness,<sup>36</sup> this strategy may emerge as a high priority and cost-effective reality in the near future due to technological advances. In particular, interferon-gamma release assays, which add specificity to the tuberculin skin test,<sup>37, 38</sup> have recently received approval in national guidelines and promising short-course LTBI treatment regimens on the horizon offer to improve acceptance and completion of treatment of LTBI.<sup>39-42</sup>

Presumably, the cost-effectiveness of routine screening for LTBI is increased by targeting those at highest risk for TB. This study identified the highest-yield targets as being permanent residents  $\leq 2$  years post-arrival who were aged 15-35 years at arrival and born within countries with TB incidence rates  $\geq 50/100,000$  population. Although arrivals  $\geq 64$  years old are at higher risk, they are not ideal targets for systematic screening due to higher rates of serious adverse effects of standard treatment for LTBI (9 months of daily isoniazid).<sup>21, 43, 44</sup> Nevertheless, immigrants  $\geq 64$  years of age at arrival would be an important high-

yield target for systematic screening if an alternate preventive therapy was provided that conferred similar or better efficacy as 9 months of daily isoniazid without the age-associated increase in serious adverse effects. Current guidelines for systematic screening of LTBI in the foreign-born should also be maintained to ensure that other high-risk, albeit lower-yielding, groups are appropriately managed. In Canada, this includes arrivals referred for medical surveillance by immigration authorities, children <15 years who are  $\leq 2$  years post-arrival from high incidence countries (>15/100,000 population), and foreign-born with high risk medical conditions.<sup>21</sup>

Should expanded LTBI screening and local public health responsibility emerge as a critical component of foreign-born TB control, it should not be undertaken to the exclusion of strategies aimed at reducing TB incidence in source countries. Enhanced national TB control programs not only constitute the most cost-effective health intervention in resource limited settings,<sup>45</sup> but modeling also demonstrates that high-income countries can achieve cost-effective reductions in foreign-born TB morbidity and mortality by funding efforts to expand TB control in selected high-incidence countries.<sup>46</sup>

The methodological strength of this study was the use of data from national TB and immigration databases. This methodology provided precise denominator and demographic information on a large study population over a prolonged period. Additionally, it eliminated the impact of post-immigration (secondary) migration within Canada and other jurisdictional limitations encountered with province-specific studies,<sup>14, 33, 47, 48</sup> making it the most comprehensive report of foreign-born TB incidence in Canada to date.

This study had some limitations. Availability of year of arrival only, without day and month, for 59% of 1986-2002 immigrants necessitated an assumption about the person-years contributed. The resulting assumption of each immigrant contributing 0.5 person-years in the year of arrival reflects the distribution of arrivals with complete date of arrival information. Rate calculations may have been limited by mortality estimates and the assumption of no out-migration from Canada. An evaluation of TB among temporary foreign-

born residents was beyond the scope of this study as the study population was limited to foreign-born permanent residents. This notwithstanding, incomplete data on immigration status within the CTBRS may have resulted in the inclusion of TB cases among temporary foreign-born residents. The overestimation in rates from such inclusions would be negligible, however, as temporary foreign-born residents account for only 5-9% of total foreign-born TB cases as per national<sup>10</sup> and province-specific data (Database Manager, Alberta Health Services, personal communication, 2010).

An area for future study is the potential impact of migrant type (economic, family reunification, refugee, skilled worker, etc.) on the distribution of TB in foreign-born populations. Immigration to highly developed economies is a dynamic process and migrants may not equally reflect the TB incidence rates of their place of origin.

With immigration being the single most important determinant of TB dynamics within high-income countries<sup>5</sup> and a demonstrated inability to make substantive reductions in foreign-born TB incidence using current guidelines,<sup>2, 9, 10, 16</sup> the status quo is no longer acceptable if progress toward TB elimination is to be made in immigrant-receiving countries.

Group 1 (<15/100,000 population)			
Albania	Czech Republic	Malta	Switzerland
American Samoa	Denmark	Mauritius	Tonga
Andorra	Dominica	Monaco	Trinidad & Tobago
Anguilla	Finland	Montserrat	Turks & Caicos Islands
Antigua & Barbuda	France	Netherlands	United Arab Emirates
Australia	Germany	Netherlands Antilles	United Kingdom
Austria	Greece	New Caledonia	United States of America
Barbados	Grenada	New Zealand	United States Virgin Islands
Belgium	Iceland	Norway	Uruguay
Bermuda	Ireland	Oman	West Bank and Gaza Strip
British Virgin Islands	Israel	Puerto Rico	
Canada	Italy	Saint Kitts & Nevis	
Cayman Islands	Jamaica	Saint Lucia	
Costa Rica	Jordan	Samoa	
Cuba	Libyan Arab Jamahiriya	San Marino	
Cyprus	Luxembourg	Sweden	

# Table 3-1: Countries of Birth within each WHO Country Risk Group by TB Incidence Rate
Group 2 (15-50/100,000 population)									
Algeria	Egypt	Lithuania	Singapore						
Argentina	El Salvador	Maldives	Slovakia						
Armenia	Eritrea	Mexico	Slovenia						
Azerbaijan	Fiji	Nauru	Spain						
Bahamas	French Polynesia	Nicaragua	Sri Lanka						
Bahrain	Georgia	Niue	Suriname						
Belarus	Guam	Northern Mariana Islands	Syrian Arab Republic						
Belize	Guatemala	Panama	Tajikistan						
Benin	Guyana	Paraguay	The former Yugoslav (Macedonia)						
Bosnia & Herzegovina	Honduras	Poland	Tokelau						
Brazil	Hungary	Portugal	Tunisia						
Brunei Darussalam	Iran, Islamic Republic of	Qatar	Turkey						
Bulgaria	Iraq	Republic of Korea	Turkmenistan						
Cameroon	Japan	Republic of Moldova	Ukraine						
Chile	Kazakhstan	Romania	Uzbekistan						
China	Kuwait	Russian Federation	Venezuela						
Colombia	Kyrgyzstan	Saint Vincent & The Grenadines	Wallis & Futuna Islands						
Comoros	Latvia	Saudi Arabia							
Cook Islands	Lebanon	Seychelles							

### Table 3-1 (Con't): Countries of Birth within each WHO Country Risk Group by TB Incidence Rate

Group 3 (51-100/100,000 population)									
Afghanistan	Ecuador	Liberia	Rwanda						
Angola	Equatorial Guinea	Madagascar	Sao Tome & Principe						
Burkina Faso	Ethiopia	Malaysia	Senegal						
Burundi	Gabon	Micronesia	Sudan						
Cape Verde	Gambia	Mongolia	Thailand						
Central African Republic	Ghana	Morocco	United Republic of Tanzania						
Chad	Guinea	Myanmar	Vanuatu						
Congo	Guinea-Bissau	Niger	Viet Nam						
Côte d'Ivoire	India	Nigeria	Yemen						
Democratic Republic of the Congo	Kenya	Pakistan							
Dominican Republic	Laos	Palau							
G	roup 4 (>100/100,00	0 population)							
Bangladesh	Indonesia	Nepal	Swaziland						
Bhutan	Kiribati	Papua New Guinea	Timor-Leste						
Bolivia	Lesotho	Peru	Togo						
Botswana	Malawi	Philippines	Tuvalu						
Cambodia	Mali	Sierra Leone	Uganda						
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	Mauritania	Solomon Islands	Zambia						
Djibouti	Mozambique	Somalia	Zimbabwe						
Haiti	Namibia	South Africa							

### Table 3-1 (Con't): Countries of Birth within each WHO Country Risk Group by TB Incidence Rate

Characteristic	Cases (%)	Immigrants in 1000s	Pyrs	Rate*	95% CI	Adjusted Rate†	95% CI	RR‡	95% CI	P value§
Sex										
Female	4088 (47.2)	1972.5	314.2	13.0	12.6, 13.4	12.8	12.4, 13.2	1.0		
Male	4574 (52.8)	1888.4	297.8	15.4	14.9, 15.8	13.9	13.5, 14.3	1.1	1.0, 1.1	0.0004
Age in 1986 (yea	rs)									
<15	316 (3.6)	180.5	30.6	10.3	9.2, 11.5	10.4	9.3, 11.6	1.0		
15-34	2560 (29.6)	1000.4	169.1	15.1	14.6, 15.7	15.1	14.6, 15.7	1.5	1.3, 1.6	< 0.0001
35-64	3714 (42.9)	2018.5	331.9	11.2	10.8, 11.6	11.2	10.8, 11.5	1.1	1.0, 1.2	0.194
>64	2072 (23.9)	661.5	80.5	25.7	24.6, 26.9	26.9	25.8, 28.0	2.6	2.3, 2.9	< 0.0001
Total	8662 (100.0)	3860.9	612.1	14.2	13.9, 14.5	13.3	13.0, 13.6			

Table 3-2: Tuberculosis Incidence Among Pre-1986 Immigrant Arrivals in Canada, 1986 to 2002

Abbreviations: Pyrs, person-years of observation (100,000s); CI, confidence interval; RR, rate ratio

\* Incidence rate per 100,000 person-years

<sup>†</sup> Rates per 100,000 person-years were standardized to the age and/or sex distribution of the 1986-2002 immigrant population.

‡ Adjusted rates were used for incidence rate ratios (RR) calculations.

§ P values are two-sided

Characteristic	Cases (%)	Immigrants in 1000s	Pyrs	Rate*	95% CI	Adjusted Rate†	95% CI	RR‡	95% CI	P value§
Sex										
Female	4651 (48.4)	1750.3	142.8	32.6	31.7, 33.5	31.9	31.0, 32.9	1.00		
Male	4962 (51.6)	1686.0	137.2	36.2	35.2, 37.2	37.5	36.5, 38.6	1.2	1.1, 1.2	< 0.0001
Age-at-arrival (ye	ears)									
<15	616 (6.4)	738.2	59.5	10.4	9.6, 11.2	10.4	9.6, 11.3	1.00		
15-34	5300 (55.1)	1578.7	134.6	39.4	38.3, 40.5	39.4	38.4, 40.5	3.8	3.5, 4.1	< 0.0001
35-64	2723 (28.3)	993.7	77.0	35.4	34.1, 36.7	35.4	34.1, 36.8	3.4	3.1, 3.7	< 0.0001
>64	974 (10.1)	125.6	8.9	109.2	102.5, 116.3	114.8	107.9, 122.1	11.0	10.0, 12.2	< 0.0001
Total	9613 (100.0)	3436.3	279.9	34.3	33.7, 35.0	34.3	33.7, 35.0			

Abbreviations: Pyrs, person-years of observation (100,000s); CI, confidence interval; RR, rate ratio

\* Incidence rate per 100,000 person-years

† Rates per 100,000 person-years were standardized to the age and/or sex distribution of the 1986-2002 immigrant population.

‡ Adjusted rates were used for incidence rate ratios (RR) calculations.

§ *P* values are two-sided

WHO Country Group*	Cases (%)	Immigrants in 1000s (%)	Person-Years in 100,000s	Crude Rate†	95% CI	Adjusted Rate‡	95% CI
1 (<15)	304 (3.2)	600.9 (17.5)	52.6	5.8	5.2, 6.5	6.1	5.5, 6.8
2 (15-50)	2898 (30.1)	1685.8 (49.1)	139.7	20.7	20.0, 21.5	20.8	20.1, 21.6
3 (51-100)	3494 (36.3)	5711.2 (20.7)	51.9	67.3	65.1, 69.6	63.6	61.4, 65.8
4 (>100)	2917(30.3)	438.4 (12.8)	35.7	81.8	78.9, 84.8	84.2	81.2, 87.2
Total	9613 (100.0)	3436.3 (100.0)	279.9	34.3	33.7, 35.0		

Table 3-4: Association of Tuberculosis Incidence and WHO Country Group Among Permanent ResidentsWho Arrived in Canada During the Study Period, 1986-2002

Abbreviations: WHO, World Health Organization; CI, confidence interval.

\* Country of birth groupings based on the WHO estimated incidence of smear positive TB per 100,000 population at mid-study period: <15 (Group 1); 15-50 (Group 2); 51-100 (Group 3); and >100 (Group 4).

<sup>†</sup> Crude incidence rate per 100,000 person-years

‡ Rates were standardized to the sex and 5-year age group distribution of total permanent resident arrivals in 1986 through 2002 as included in this study.

	Interval Between Year of Arrival and Year of Diagnosis*									
Crown	$\leq 2 \text{ yrs}$		3-5	yrs	6-1(	) yrs	11-1	6 yrs	$= \leq 2 y$	rs : 3-5 yrs
Group	Cases	Rate†	Cases	Rate†	Cases	Rate†	Cases	Rate†	RR	95% CI
Sex										
Female	2291	56.6	1227	30.9	908	20.2	225	12.7	1.83	1.71, 1.97
Male	2666	68.6	1125	29.7	919	21.4	252	14.3	2.31	2.15, 2.48
Age-at-arriv	al (years)									
<15	305	17.9	119	7.2	151	8.2	41	5.5	2.50	2.01, 3.11
15-34	2755	75.0	1381	38.0	944	22.0	220	11.9	1.97	1.85, 2.11
35-64	1357	59.6	662	30.1	532	22.5	172	20.3	1.98	1.80, 2.18
>64	540	192.7	190	71.6	200	73.6	44	58.7	2.69	2.28, 3.19
WHO Count	try Group	‡								
1 (<15)	178	12.5	63	4.4	43	2.6	20	2.7	2.87	2.14, 3.89
2 (15-50)	1530	39.0	689	17.7	532	12.0	147	8.5	2.20	2.01, 2.41
3 (51-100)	1761	111.1	834	57.8	725	46.8	174	28.4	1.92	1.77, 2.09
4 (>100)	1488	147.5	766	77.7	527	46.8	136	30.6	1.90	1.74, 2.07
Total	4957	62.5	2352	30.3	1,827	20.8	477	13.5	2.06	1.96, 2.17

Table 3-5: Association Between Tuberculosis Incidence Rates and Time Since Arrival Among PermanentResidents Who Arrived in Canada in 1986-2002

Abbreviations: yrs, years; RR, incidence rate ratio; CI, 95% confidence interval; WHO, World Health Organization.

\* Time since arrival represents the maximum number of years between an immigrant's year of arrival and year of diagnosis.

†Rates are per 100,000 person-years.

‡Based on the WHO estimated incidence of smear positive TB per 100,000 population at mid-study period (3-year average).

Figure 3-1: Percentage of Foreign-Born Permanent Residents Arriving Annually in Canada by the World Health Organization Estimated TB Incidence Rate in the Country of Birth, 1986-2002



Countries of birth were grouped according to the country-specific WHO estimated incidence rates of smear positive TB per 100,000 population at midstudy period (3-year average): Group 1, <15/100,000 population (*black bars*); Group 2, 15-50/100,000 population (*gray bars*); Group 3, 51-100/100,000 population (*dotted bars*); and Group 4, >100/100,000 population (*white bars*).

Figure 3-2: Tuberculosis Incidence Rates by Time Since Arrival Among Foreign-born Permanent Residents That Both Arrived in Canada and Were Diagnosed with TB in 1986-2002



(*a*) Crude TB incidence rates; (*b*) Sex-specific TB incidence rates; (*c*) Rates stratified by age-at-arrival (years).

Figure 3-3: Tuberculosis Incidence Rates Among Foreign-born Permanent Residents Who Both Arrived in Canada and Were Diagnosed with TB in 1986-2002 by Time Since Arrival and Country of Birth Group



Countries of birth were grouped according to the country-specific WHO estimated incidence rates of smear positive TB per 100,000 population at midstudy period (3-year average): Group 1, <15/100,000 population; Group 2, 15-50/100,000 population; Group 3, 51-100/100,000 population; and Group 4, >100/100,000 population.





Foreign-born permanent residents arrived prior to 1986 (*black bars*); those arrived in 1986-1990 (*gray bars*); those arrived in 1991-1995 (*dotted bars*); and those arrived in 1996-2002 (*white bars*).

Figure 3-5: Annual TB Incidence Rates Among Foreign-born Permanent Residents in Canada by Period of Arrival and Time Since Arrival, 1986-2002



Foreign-born permanent residents arrived prior to 1986 (line *A*); those arrived in 1986-1990 (line *B*); those arrived in 1991-1995 (line *C*); and those arrived in 1996-2002 (line *D*). For the cohort of immigrants who arrived in Canada prior to 1986, 1986 was considered to be year 0.

#### **3.6 References**

- Verver S, Veen J. Tuberculosis control and migration. In: Raviglione MC, ed. *Reichman and Hershfield's tuberculosis: a comprehensive, international approach.* 3rd ed. New York, NY: Informa Healthcare USA, Inc.; 2006:869-905.
- (2) Tuberculosis among the foreign-born in Canada. *Can Commun Dis Rep* 2003; 29(2):10-6.
- (3) Raviglione MC, Sudre P, Rieder HL, Spinaci S, Kochi A. Secular Trends of Tuberculosis in Western-Europe. Bull *World Health Organ* 1993;71(3-4): 297-306.
- (4) Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Trends in tuberculosis: United States, 2008. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2009; 58(10): 249-253.
- World Health Organization. *Global Tuberculosis Control: Surveillance, Planning, Financing. WHO report 2008.* Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2008.
- (6) Citizenship and Immigration Canada. Annual Report to Parliament on Immigration, 2009. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2009.
- Gushulak BD, MacPherson DW. Globalization of infectious diseases: the impact of migration. *Clin Infect Dis* 2004;38(12):1742-1748.
- (8) MacPherson DW, Gushulak BD. Balancing prevention and screening among international migrants with tuberculosis: Population mobility as the major epidemiological influence in low-incidence nations. *Public Health* 2006; 120(8):712-723.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. *Tuberculosis in Canada 2000*. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2003.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. *Tuberculosis in Canada 2007*. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2009.

- (11) Statistics Canada. Immigration in Canada: A Portrait of the Foreign-Born Population, Census 2006. Ottawa; Canada: Statistics Canada; 2007.
- (12) Das D, Baker M, Venugopal K, McAllister S. Why the tuberculosis incidence rate is not falling in New Zealand. *N Z Med J* 2006;119(1243): U2248.
- (13) Farah MG, Meyer HE, Selmer R, Heldal E, Bjune G. Long-term risk of tuberculosis among immigrants in Norway. *Int J Epidemiol* 2005; 34(5): 1005-1011.
- (14) Creatore MI, Lam M, Wobeser WL. Patterns of tuberculosis risk over time among recent immigrants to Ontario, Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2005; 9(6):667-672.
- (15) Cain KP, Benoit SR, Winston CA, Mac Kenzie WR. Tuberculosis among foreign-born persons in the United States. *JAMA* 2008; 300(4):405-412.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. *Tuberculosis in Canada 2006*. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2008.
- (17) Cain KP, Haley CA, Armstrong LR et al. Tuberculosis among foreignborn persons in the United States: achieving tuberculosis elimination. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2007;175(1):75-79.
- (18) Jereb J, Albalak R, Castro K. The Arden house Conference on Tuberculosis, revisited: perspectives for tuberculosis elimination in the United States. *Semin Respir Crit Care Med* 2004;25(3):255-269.
- (19) Statistics Canada. *Dimensions: Profile of The Immigrant Population*.Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Supply and Services Canada; 1989.
- (20) Statistics Canada. *The Nation: Ethnicity, Immigration and Citizenship.*Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Supply and Services Canada; 1989.
- (21) Public Health Agency of Canada, Canadian Lung Association/ Canadian Thoracic Society. *Canadian Tuberculosis Standards*. Long R, Ellis E, eds.
   6<sup>th</sup> ed. Ottawa, Canada: Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Health; 2007.

- (22) Global Tuberculosis Database. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2010.
- (23) Daniel WW. Biostatistics: A Foundation for Analysis in the Health Sciences. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.; 1999.
- (24) Statistics Canada. *Causes of Death: 1986*. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Supply and Services Canada; 1988. Vital Statistics, Volume IV.
- (25) Statistics Canada. *Causes of Death: 1987.* Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Supply and Services Canada; 1989. Health Reports, suppl 11 Vol 1, No 1.
- (26) Statistics Canada. *Causes of Death: 1988.* Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Supply and Services Canada; 1990. Health Reports, suppl 11;Vol 2, No. 1.
- (27) Statistics Canada. *Causes of Death: 1989.* Ottawa, Canada: Minister of
   Supply and Services Canada; 1991. Health Reports, suppl 11; Vol 3, No. 1.
- (28) Statistics Canada. *Causes of Death: 1990.* Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Industry, Science and Technology; 1992. Health Reports, suppl 11;Vol 4, No. 1.
- (29) Statistics Canada. CANSIM: Table 102-0504 Deaths and mortality rates, by age group and sex, Canada, provinces and territories, annual. Ottawa, Canada: Statistics Canada (producer); E-STAT (distributor). CANSIM (database); 2009. http://estat.statcan.gc.ca/cgi-win/cnsmcgi.pgm?EST-Fi=ESTAT/English/CII\_1-eng.htm&Lang=E&Dir-Rep=ESTAT/. Published December 2010. Accessed April 15, 2010.
- Uppaluri A, Naus M, Heywood N, Brunton J, Kerbel D, Wobeser W.
   Effectiveness of the immigration medical surveillance program for tuberculosis in Ontario. *Can J Public Health* 2002;93(2):88-91.
- (31) Orr PH, Manfreda J, Hershfield ES. Tuberculosis surveillance in immigrants to Manitoba. *CMAJ* 1990;142(5):453-458.
- (32) Statistics Canada. Population Projections for Canada, Provinces and Territories: 2009 to 2036. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Industry; 2010.
- (33) Kunimoto D, Sutherland K, Wooldrage K et al. Transmission characteristics of tuberculosis in the foreign-born and the Canadian-born

populations of Alberta, Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(10):1213-1220.

- (34) Lillebaek T, Andersen AB, Bauer J et al. Risk of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* transmission in a low-incidence country due to immigration from high-incidence areas. *J Clin Microbiol* 2001;39(3):855-861.
- (35) Borgdorff M, Nagelkerke NJ, Hopewell PC, Small PM. Transmission of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* depending on the age and sex of source cases. *Am J Epidemiol* 2001;154(10):934-943.
- (36) Menzies D. Screening immigrants to Canada for tuberculosis: chest radiography or tuberculin skin testing? *CMAJ* 2003;169(10):1035-1036.
- (37) Pai M, Zwerling A, Menzies D. Systematic review: T-cell-based assays for the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis infection: an update. *Ann Intern Med* 2008;149(3):177-184.
- (38) Baker CA, Thomas W, Stauffer WM, Peterson PK, Tsukayama DT. Serial testing of refugees for latent tuberculosis using the QuantiFERON-Gold In-Tube: effects of an antecedent tuberculin skin test. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* 2009;80(4):628-633.
- (39) Schechter M, Zajdenverg R, Falco G et al. Weekly rifapentine/isoniazid or daily rifampin/pyrazinamide for latent tuberculosis in household contacts. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2006;173(8):922-926.
- (40) Hirsch-Moverman Y, Daftary A, Franks J, Colson PW. Adherence to treatment for latent tuberculosis infection: systematic review of studies in the US and Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2008;12(11):1235-1254.
- (41) Menzies D, Long R, Trajman A et al. Adverse events with 4 months of rifampin therapy or 9 months of isoniazid therapy for latent tuberculosis infection. *Ann Intern Med* 2008;149(10):689-697.
- (42) Sterling TR. New approaches to the treatment of latent tuberculosis. Semin Respir Crit Care Med 2008;29(5):532-541.
- (43) Nolan CM, Goldberg SV, Buskin SE. Hepatotoxicity associated with isoniazid preventive therapy: a 7-year survey from a public health tuberculosis clinic. JAMA 1999;281(11):1014-1018.

- (44) Fountain FF, Tolley E, Chrisman CR, Self TH. Isoniazid hepatotoxicity associated with treatment of latent tuberculosis infection: a 7-year evaluation from a public health tuberculosis clinic. *Chest* 2005;128(1): 116-123.
- (45) Laxminarayan R, Chow J, Shahid-Salles SA. Intervention costeffectiveness: overview of main messages. In: Jamison DT, Breman JG, Measham AR, Alleyne G, Claeson M, Evans DB, Jha P, Mills A, Musgrove P, eds. *Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries*. 2<sup>nd</sup> Edn. New York, NY: Oxford University Press and The World Bank; 2006: 35-86.
- (46) Schwartzman K, Oxlade O, Barr RG et al. Domestic returns from investment in the control of tuberculosis in other countries. *N Engl J Med* 2005;353(10):1008-1020.
- (47) Wobeser WL, Yuan L, Naus M et al. Expanding the epidemiologic profile: risk factors for active tuberculosis in people immigrating to Ontario. *CMAJ* 2000;163(7):823-828.
- Long R, Sutherland K, Kunimoto D, Cowie R, Manfreda J. The epidemiology of tuberculosis among foreign-born persons in Alberta, Canada, 1989-1998: identification of high risk groups. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2002;6(7):615-621.

## CHAPTER 4: *MYCOBACTERIUM TUBERCULOSIS* BEIJING STRAINS IN AN IMMIGRANT-RECEIVING COUNTRY: AN EMERGING PUBLIC HEALTH THREAT?\*

#### 4.1 Abstract

*Introduction: Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing strains are frequently associated with tuberculosis outbreaks and drug resistance. However, contradictory evidence and limited study generalizability make it difficult to foresee if the emergence of Beijing strains in high-income immigrant-receiving countries poses an increased public health threat. The purpose of this study was to determine if Beijing strains are associated with high risk disease presentations relative to other strains within Canada. Secondarily, this study sought to determine if Beijing disease presentation varied by patients' age or population group.

*Methods:* This was a retrospective population-based study of culture-confirmed active TB cases in a major immigrant-receiving province of Canada in 1991 through 2007. Of 1852 eligible cases, 1826 (99%) were successfully genotyped. Demographic, clinical, and mycobacteriologic surveillance data were combined with molecular diagnostic data. The main outcome measures were site of disease, lung cavitation, sputum smear positivity, bacillary load, and first-line antituberculosis drug resistance.

*Results:* A total of 350 (19%) patients were infected with Beijing strains; 298 (85%) of these were born in the Western Pacific. Compared to non-Beijing strains, Beijing strains were significantly more likely to be associated with polyresistance (aOR 1.8; 95% CI 1.0-3.3; p=0.046) and multidrug-resistance (aOR 3.4; CI 1.0-11.3; p=0.049). Conversely, Beijing strains were no more likely than non-Beijing strains to be associated with respiratory disease (aOR 1.3; 1.0-1.8; p=0.053), high bacillary load (aOR 1.2; 0.6-2.7), lung cavitation (aOR 1.0; 0.7-1.5), immediately life-threatening forms of TB (aOR 0.8; 0.5-1.6), and monoresistance (aOR 0.9; 0.6-1.3). In subgroup analyses, Beijing strains were

associated with an increased likelihood of multidrug-resistant TB (aOR 6.1; 01.2-30.4) among individuals born in the Western Pacific as well as with polyresistant TB (aOR 3.1; 1.3-7.5) and sputum-smear positive disease (aOR 1.9; 1.0-3.4; p=0.042) among those aged <35 years at diagnosis. *Conclusion*: Other than an increased risk of polyresistant TB or multidrug-resistant TB, Beijing strains appeared to pose no more of a public health threat than non-Beijing strains within a high-income immigrant-receiving country.

\*A version of this paper has been submitted to the European Respiratory Journal:

Langlois-Klassen D, Kunimoto D, Saunders LD, Chui L, Boffa J, Menzies, D, Long R. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing strains in an immigrant-receiving country: an emerging public health threat? (*submitted*)

#### 4.2 Introduction

Since first being reported in 1995 (Beijing isolates) and 1996 (strain W),<sup>1,2</sup> the Beijing family of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains has garnered much attention in international tuberculosis literature. The largest genotype family of *M. tuberculosis*,<sup>3</sup> Beijing strains account for 13% of strains globally and dominate the *M. tuberculosis* epidemiology in some geographic areas.<sup>4,5</sup> In the Western Pacific countries of China, South Korea and Vietnam 54-92% of *M. tuberculosis* case isolates are Beijing strains.<sup>1,6-9</sup> While other countries are only now experiencing an emergence of the Beijing genotype,<sup>4,10-14</sup> China has had high endemic levels of this genotype for at least 60 years.<sup>15</sup>

Active tuberculosis disease (TB) resulting from infection with Beijing strains has frequently been associated with TB outbreaks,<sup>2,10</sup> antituberculosis drug resistance,<sup>4,8,16,17</sup> treatment failure<sup>18</sup> and relapse.<sup>18-20</sup> Of particular concern is the association between Beijing strains and multidrug-resistant TB (MDR-TB).<sup>17,21,22</sup> Beijing strains also appear to have an enhanced ability to circumvent immunity induced through bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccination, potentially resulting in a selective advantage of this genotype in populations with high rates of BCG vaccination.<sup>23-25</sup>

In contrast, other studies have found no significant associations between Beijing strains and either BCG vaccination status<sup>26</sup> or various presentations of TB.<sup>4,8,22,27-31</sup> This inter-study variability may result from the heterogeneous distribution of Beijing sublineages; programmatic differences in TB control; inherited and acquired host factors; socioeconomic circumstances; chance; and other factors.<sup>32-34</sup> Furthermore, little clarity is afforded by evidence of genotypic diversity within the *M. tuberculosis* species because it remains inconclusive as to whether or not genotypic diversity meaningfully influences the outcome of infection *in vivo*.<sup>35</sup> The bottom line – the epidemiologic significance of Beijing genotype strains in the human population remains largely ambiguous.

Contradictory evidence within the Beijing literature and the often limited generalizability of studies make it difficult to foresee whether the emergence of the Beijing genotype in high-income immigrant-receiving countries with low TB

incidence (hereafter referred to as immigrant-receiving countries for brevity) poses an increased public health threat. This study sought to determine if the Beijing family of *M. tuberculosis* strains was associated with more high risk presentations of active TB than other strains in Canada, a country with one of the highest levels of immigration per capita internationally and in which a quarter of the foreign-born population has originated from the Western Pacific.<sup>36,37</sup> A secondary objective was to determine if Beijing disease presentation varied in relation to patients' age or population group.

#### 4.3 Methods

#### Study Population

This retrospective cohort study investigated cases of active TB diagnosed among residents of the immigrant-receiving province of Alberta, Canada (population of 3,290,355 in 2006) from January 1, 1991 through June 30, 2007. Canadian-born individuals were born in Canada or born in a foreign country to Canadian parents; all others were foreign-born. Aboriginals (defined in this study as First Nations peoples registered with Indian and Northern Affairs Canada [INAC]) were distinguished from Canadian-born 'others' (non-Status Indian, Métis, Inuit, and non-Aboriginal individuals) due to a marked disparity in the TB rates of these groups. Foreign-born individuals were grouped into those born in the Western Pacific region (Table 4-1)<sup>38</sup> and those born elsewhere (foreign-born 'other') given the high prevalence of Beijing strains in the Western Pacific.

Foreign and Canadian-born population estimates were obtained from Canadian censuses (1991, 1996, 2001 and 2006) using customized reports from Statistics Canada. To calculate person-years, these census estimates were combined with estimates between census years as calculated with linear interpolation as well as the population estimates for 2007 which were obtained through linear extrapolation. Estimates for Canadian-born 'others' were those derived from the censuses minus annual Aboriginal population estimates as obtained directly from INAC.

#### Cases

All culture-confirmed active TB cases diagnosed during the study period as per the Alberta Tuberculosis Registry were eligible for study inclusion. Demographic and clinical data from the TB registry were combined with data from the Provincial Laboratory for Public Health ('Provincial Laboratory') where all of the mycobacteriology in the province is performed. Ethics approval was obtained from the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board and analyses of routine surveillance data did not necessitate informed consent as there was no direct patient contact.

Cases were grouped by site (respiratory versus non-respiratory disease) and severity (immediately life-threatening forms of TB versus others). Respiratory cases consisted of: primary, pleural, pulmonary or 'other respiratory' TB (ICD-9 codes 010-012);<sup>39</sup> miliary TB (ICD-9 code 018) with culture-positive respiratory specimen(s); and cases with concurrent respiratory and non-respiratory TB. Miliary TB and TB involving the central nervous system (CNS) (ICD-9 code 013) comprised immediately life-threatening forms of TB.

The infectiousness of respiratory cases was evaluated in relation to sputum smear positivity and the presence of lung cavitation on chest radiograph. Semiquantitative scores for acid-fast bacilli (AFB) load on baseline sputum smears were also analyzed for respiratory cases diagnosed after 1992 that had positive sputum smears collected on or before the date of diagnosis (the start date of treatment); this data was unavailable for cases in 1991-1992.

Monoresistant-TB refers to resistance to a single first-line antituberculosis drug, namely isoniazid (INH), rifampin (RMP), pyrazinamide (PZA), ethambutol (EMB), or streptomycin (STM). Polyresistance was defined as resistance to two or more first-line antituberculosis drugs but not to both INH and RMP; resistance to at least INH and RMP constituted MDR-TB. Any first-line drug resistance includes monoresistant TB, polyresistant-TB, and MDR-TB.

Cases were also dichotomized as being a new active case (first episode of TB) or retreatment TB case (history of a previous episode of TB).

#### Laboratory Methods

The Provincial Laboratory conducted all routine mycobacteriologic studies as per the Canadian Tuberculosis Standards<sup>39</sup> and completed routine DNA fingerprinting as previously described.<sup>40</sup> Isolates were assigned to an *M. tuberculosis* genotype group according to the PCR-based detection of large sequence polymorphisms (LSPs).<sup>30,41,42</sup> The Provincial Laboratory analyzed large sequence polymorphisms with an ABI 7000 Real-Time PCR machine (Azco Biotech, Inc., San Diego, CA) using standard conditions and published TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> primers and probes.<sup>41,42</sup> Isolates with a deletion of RD105 (East Asian lineage) were categorized as Beijing genotype strains and all others as non-Beijing strains.

The genotype assignment of a convenience sample of isolates was confirmed through spoligotyping at the Provincial Laboratory or through large sequence polymorphism analyses at extra-provincial laboratories (M. Behr, McGill University; C. Pepperell, Stanford University). Spoligotype patterns with an absence of spacers 1-34 and a presence of  $\geq$  3 spacers among spacers 35-43 constituted Beijing strains.<sup>3</sup> An isolate with discordance in *M. tuberculosis* genotype assignment was removed from the study.

#### Statistical Analysis

Agreement in the genotype assignment of isolates between the initial large sequence polymorphism analysis and confirmatory testing was assessed with the Kappa co-efficient. The incidence rate ratio (RR) was used to compare TB rates between Beijing and non-Beijing strains overall as well as between groups defined on the basis of sex, age at diagnosis, and population group within each lineage. Associations between genotype and various demographic and disease variables were evaluated with binary or multinominal logistic regression; p-values correspond to the likelihood ratio chi-square test in bivariate models.<sup>43</sup> Sex, age at diagnosis, and population group frequently confounded the associations between *M. tuberculosis* genotype and disease presentation (>15% change in the estimated coefficient) and were therefore included in multivariate analyses.<sup>44</sup>

presentation were independent of HIV co-infection and associations with drug resistance were not confounded by previous TB or clustering ( $\geq 2$  isolates with the same DNA fingerprint). Evidence for effect modification within multivariate analyses was based on the likelihood ratio test.<sup>43</sup> Subgroup analysis was planned *a priori* to enhance the transparency of potential differences in Beijing disease presentation across population group (Western Pacific versus others) and age strata.<sup>44</sup> All statistical tests used a 5% level of significance and 95% confidence intervals (CI) were calculated where appropriate; p-values that were p>0.05 but p<0.07 were considered to be of borderline statistical significance. Statistical analyses were conducted with Stata/IC 11 (StataCorp. 2009. *Stata Statistical Software: Release 11*. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP).

#### 4.4 Results

The Alberta TB Registry was notified of 1852 culture-confirmed *M*. *tuberculosis* cases from 1991-2007. The genotype of 1826 (99%) isolates was successfully determined and very high agreement in genotype assignment was observed among the 535 (29%) isolates submitted for confirmatory testing (K=0.995) (Figure 4-1). The demographic attributes of included and excluded cases were similar (Table 4-2).

Beijing strains infected 350 (19%) patients and the incidence rate of Beijing strains was 0.2 (CI 0.2-0.3) times that of other strains (rates of 0.7 and 3.1 per 100,000 person-years, respectively). The genotype groups also had marked differences in the distribution of cases by age (p=0.004) and population group (p<0.0001) but not sex (p=0.398) (Table 4-3).

Overall, 3% of Canadian-born patients and 28% of foreign-born patients had Beijing strains, the global dispersion of Beijing strains being evident in the countries of birth of cases (Figure 4-2). Foreign-born individuals accounted for 330 (94%) Beijing isolates and 298 (90%) of these were born in the Western Pacific (Table 4-3). More specifically, 81% (n=282) were born in the Western Pacific's Beijing 'hotspots' of China (including Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan), South Korea, and Vietnam. Consequently, the incidence rate of Beijing strains among individuals born in the 'hotspots' was 10 (CI 6.1-18.0) times that of persons born elsewhere in the Western Pacific, 38 (26.3-56.6) times that of foreign-born 'others', and 430 (273.5-715.6) times that of Canadian-born persons. It is also noteworthy that only 20 Canadian-born cases had Beijing strains (five being Aboriginals) and that the proportion of Beijing strains in the Canadian-born non-Aboriginal group was significantly higher than that of Aboriginal peoples (OR 0.4; CI 0.1-1.0; p=0.046).

An overall trend of declining annual incidence rates of Beijing strains was primarily due to reduced rates among the foreign-born Western Pacific as rates among foreign-born 'others' increased (Figure 4-3). Similar trends were observed for non-Beijing strains with the addition of declining rates in the Canadian-born.

Respiratory TB, sputum smear positivity, high bacillary load or lung cavitation were no more likely among Beijing cases than non-Beijing cases in unadjusted analysis (Table 4-4). However, after controlling for the demographic variables of sex, age at diagnosis and population group, an increased likelihood of respiratory TB among Beijing cases was of borderline significance (aOR 1.3; CI 1.0-1.8; p=0.053) (Table 4-4).

Compared to non-Beijing cases, Beijing cases were not associated with immediately life-threatening forms of TB in unadjusted or adjusted analysis (Table 4-4).

All isolates were tested for INH, RMP, and EMB susceptibility and all but one isolate for STM susceptibility (n=1825). As well, 88% (n=1609) of isolates were tested for PZA susceptibility (50% in 1991-1993 and 99% in 1994-2007). Overall, 87% (n=1592) of isolates were pan-sensitive to the antituberculosis drugs for which they were screened. Beijing strains were not associated with an increased likelihood of any first-line antituberculosis drug resistance or monoresistance in adjusted analysis (Table 4-4). Rather, polyresistance and MDR-TB were 2 to 3 times more likely in Beijing isolates than other isolates independent of demographic factors, albeit with a wider CI around the estimate for MDR-TB. (Table 4-4). These associations between Beijing strains and drug resistance were not confounded by previous TB or clustering (data not shown). Of potential clinical importance was the finding that 86% (n=6/7) of Beijing isolates with MDR were also resistant to at least two other first-line drugs (EMB, PZA and/or STM)and all but one of these were diagnosed among individuals born in the Beijing 'hotspots'.

A total of 903 (49%) TB patients had consented to HIV antibody testing. However, as all co-infected patients were aged 15-64 years when diagnosed with TB, analysis in relation to HIV status was subsequently limited to the 705 TB cases in this age group who had undergone HIV testing. Beijing strains were associated with 103 (15%) of these TB cases, five (5%) of which were HIV coinfected. Amongst TB cases with non-Beijing strains, 46 of 556 (8%) were coinfected with HIV. Relative to non-Beijing strains, Beijing strains were not associated with TB-HIV co-infection in unadjusted or adjusted analysis (Table 4-5). After adjusting for HIV status and demographic variables, there was also no association between Beijing strains and disease presentation apart from that of polyresistance (Table 4-5).

The associations between Beijing strains and disease presentation were not consistent in all subgroups (Table 4-6 and Table 4-7). Beijing strains were associated with sputum smear-positive respiratory TB among those aged <35 years at diagnosis but not in those aged  $\geq$ 35 years at diagnosis. In relation to drug resistance, Beijing strains were associated with polyresistance in individuals aged <35 years at diagnosis. Although Beijing strains had an association with polyresistance that was of borderline significance among people born in the Western Pacific, there was a significant association with MDR-TB in this population group.

#### 4.5 Discussion

Beijing genotype strains, representing 19% of TB cases in the majorimmigrant receiving province of Alberta, have a definite presence within Canada. This presence is largely limited to persons born in the Western Pacific and especially its Beijing 'hotspots' of China, South Korea and Vietnam. Individuals born in the 'hotspots' accounted for 81% of Beijing isolates, the rate being 10 to

430 times that of the other groups. In contrast, Canadian-born persons remain relatively isolated from infection with Beijing strains (incidence of 0.05/100,000 person-years). These findings generally follow that of other low TB incidence immigrant-receiving countries<sup>14,31,45-47</sup> and further support the well-established correlation between *M. tuberculosis* lineage and the host's country of origin/birth.<sup>30,41,48</sup>

Notwithstanding the emergence of the Beijing genotype in immigrantreceiving countries, there is minimal evidence overall from these countries or this study to indicate that Beijing strains significantly and independently influence the presentation of TB apart from drug resistance.<sup>30,31,45,47,49-51</sup> Beijing strains are significantly more likely than non-Beijing strains in the current study to have polyresistance to first-line antituberculosis drugs independent of demographic factors, clustering, a previous history of TB, or HIV status. A type of polyresistance, MDR-TB, , was also three times more likely among Beijing isolates in adjusted analyses. The association between Beijing strains and MDR-TB in immigrant-receiving countries<sup>31,45,47</sup> is of epidemiologic and clinical significance given that MDR-TB is one of the greatest threats to global TB control. This is exemplified in Germany where the importation of Beijing strains appears responsible for an increasing occurrence of MDR-TB.<sup>21</sup> The United States' experience with the MDR strain W also highlights the importance of sustaining effective TB control programs in low incidence settings given the potential for the rapid dissemination of drug-resistant strains of *M. tuberculosis* in healthcare settings, correctional facilities and elsewhere, especially among persons at high risk for TB (e.g. HIV infected persons).<sup>2,52</sup>

The finding of an association of borderline significance between Beijing strains and respiratory TB in this study accords with associations with pulmonary TB in other immigrant-receiving countries.<sup>49,51</sup> Post hoc analysis found that this similarity persists when site of disease is changed from 'respiratory' (aOR 1.3; CI 1.0-1.8; p=0.053) to 'pulmonary' (aOR 1.3; CI 1.0-1.7; p=0.055). The association of Beijing strains with extrathoracic TB in the United States<sup>50</sup> appears unique compared to other high-income immigrant-receiving countries<sup>14,30,51</sup> and

presumably results from variability in the distribution of Beijing sublineages or sample size limitations.<sup>53</sup>

Although the relatively consistent association between Beijing strains and respiratory/pulmonary TB has potentially important public health consequences, it is equally important that this genotype has not been associated with increased infectiousness in terms of lung cavitation, sputum smear positivity or bacillary load in this and similar studies in immigrant-receiving countries.<sup>49,50,54</sup> There was also no association with immediately life-threatening forms of TB. The lack of an association between Beijing strains and pathogen load (as measured through smear semi-quantification) also suggests that Beijing strains are not intrinsically more transmissible than non-Beijing strains. Together, these findings suggest that the commonly hypothesized hypervirulence and increased transmissibility of Beijing strains is largely unfounded and/or of minimal public health consequence in Alberta, and presumably in other immigrant-receiving areas, when effective TB control programs are in place. By extension, it may merely be coincidental that Beijing strains led to MDR-TB outbreaks in immigrant-receiving countries as MDR variants in other lineages could have been equally successful, all other factors being equal.

Host-pathogen interactions or other population-specific factors plausibly account for the varied disease presentations highlighted in subgroup analyses. Of interest is that Beijing strains were associated with MDR-TB, polyresistant TB and/or sputum smear-positive disease among individuals born in the Western Pacific as well as those aged less than 35 years at diagnosis given that similar groups were identified as high-yield targets for routine screening for latent TB infection (LTBI) in Canada.<sup>55</sup> It may therefore be judicious to also take phylogeographical lineages of *M. tuberculosis* into consideration when defining targets for systematic LTBI screening.

Aboriginal peoples are a highly vulnerable population for TB in Canada and are a significant source of TB transmission.<sup>39,40,56</sup> The minimal incidence of Beijing strains in Aboriginal peoples further substantiates the growing body of

evidence that indicates that immigration has minimal impact on the epidemiology of TB in the Canadian-born population.<sup>40,57,58</sup>

Nevertheless, immigration constitutes a decisive factor in the prevalence of Beijing strains within immigrant-receiving countries. For example, the smaller proportion of Beijing strains in the city of Montreal, Canada compared to this study (9% and 19%, respectively) correlates to a substantially smaller proportion of immigrants from the Western Pacific (<15% in Montreal and 25-30% in Alberta).<sup>30,59</sup> Geographic areas with a considerable proportion of immigrants from high Beijing prevalence countries will therefore predictably experience an increased emergence of Beijing strains with epidemiologic patterns not unlike the region of origin.

This is one of the most comprehensive epidemiologic studies of Beijing strains in a high-income immigrant-receiving country to-date and is the foremost study of its kind in Canada. The inclusion of a measure of pathogen load was a distinguishing feature of this study as it can serve as a proxy for transmissibility. The accuracy of strain classification in this study was enhanced through the use of an unambiguous and validated genotyping methodology<sup>30,41,42</sup> as well as secondary genotyping on a substantial sample of isolates at external laboratories. The amalgamation of data from the provincial TB registry and Provincial Laboratory also minimized selection and information bias.

Study limitations include the relatively small number of polyresistant isolates and Beijing cases with TB-HIV co-infection, the associated estimates having limited precision. Generalizability of the study findings to other immigrant-receiving countries may be limited by differences in immigration patterns, immigration screening practices, and TB control programs. Within Canada, the study findings are anticipated to be especially relevant to the other major immigrant-receiving provinces of Ontario and British Columbia where approximately 20% and 40%, respectively, of immigrants were born in the Western Pacific.<sup>37,59</sup>

In conclusion, there is little evidence apart from an increased risk of polyresistance or multidrug-resistance to indicate that Beijing strains pose any

more of a public health threat than other *M. tuberculosis* strains within a low TB incidence immigrant-receiving country with effective TB control practices in place.

# Table 4-1: Countries in the Western Pacific Region of the World HealthOrganization, with Beijing 'Hotspot' Countries Highlighted

American Samoa	New Caledonia
Australia	New Zealand
Brunei Darussalam	Niue
Cambodia	Northern Mariana Islands
China <sup>*</sup>	Palau
Cook Islands	Papua New Guinea
Fiji	Philippines
French Polynesia	Pitcairn Islands
Guam	Samoa
Japan	Singapore
Kiribati	Solomon Islands
Korea, Republic of	Tokelau
Lao People's Democratic Republic	Tonga
Malaysia	Tuvalu
Marshall Islands	Vanuatu
Micronesia, Federated States of	Vietnam
Mongolia	Wallis and Futuna
Nauru	

\* Includes the Special Administrative Regions of Hong Kong and Macau as well as the Republic of China (Taiwan)

Characteristic	Inc	luded	Ex	Excluded		
	n	%	n	%	- r	
Sex					0.077	
Female	877	48.0%	17	65.4%		
Male	949	52.0%	9	34.6%		
Age at Diagnosis (years)					0.106	
<15	42	2.3%	0	0.0%		
15-34	499	27.3%	6	23.1%		
35-64	693	38.0%	6	23.1%		
>64	592	32.4%	14	53.9%		
Population Group					0.623	
Canadian-born Aboriginal	294	16.1%	5	19.2%		
Canadian-born Other	339	18.6%	7	26.9%		
Foreign-born Western	693	38.0%	9	34.6%		
Foreign-born Other	500	27.4%	5	19.2%		
Total	1826		26			

Table 4-2: Demographic Characteristics of Included and ExcludedMycobacterium Tuberculosis Cases in Alberta, 1991-2007

\* Based on bivariate logistic regression

Domographics	PYRs*	PYRs* Beijing Strains			Non-Beijing Strains			
Demographics	100,000s	Cases (%)	Rate† (95% CI)	RR (95%CI)	Cases (%)	Rate† (95% CI)	RR (95% CI)	
Sex								
Female	235.4	161 (46.0)	0.7 (0.6, 0.8)	1.0	716 (48.5)	3.0 (2.8, 3.3)	1.0	
Male	235.7	189 (54.0)	0.8 (0.7, 0.9)	1.2 (0.9, 1.5)	760 (51.5)	3.2 (3.0, 3.5)	1.1 (1.0, 1.2)	
Age at Diagnosis								
<35 years	243.9	104 (29.7)	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	1.0	438 (29.7)	1.8 (1.6, 2.0)	1.0	
35-64 years	180.9	109 (31.1)	0.6 (0.5, 0.7)	1.4 (1.1, 1.9)	583 (39.5)	3.2 (3.0, 3.5)	1.8 (1.6, 2.0)	
>64 years	46.3	137 (39.1)	3.0 (2.5, 3.5)	6.9 (5.3, 9.1)	455 (30.8)	9.8 (9.0, 10.8)	5.5 (4.8, 6.3)	
Population group								
CB Other	381.4	15 (4.3)	0.04 (0.02, 0.06)	1.0	324 (22.0)	0.8 (0.8, 0.9)	1.0	
CB Aboriginal	13.6	5 (1.4)	0.4 (0.1, 0.9)	9.4 (2.7, 27.1)	288 (19.5)	21.2 (18.9, 23.8)	25.0 (21.2, 29.4)	
FB Other	56.5	32 (9.1)	0.6 (0.4, 0.8)	14.6 (7.7, 29.0)	469 (31.8)	8.4 (7.7, 9.2)	9.9 (8.6, 11.4)	
FB-WP	19.6	298 (85.1)	14.6 (13.0, 16.4)	371. 7 (221.7, 672.5)	395 (26.8)	19.4 (17.5, 21.4)	22.8 (19.6, 26.5)	
Total	471.1	350 (100.0)	0.7 (0.7, 0.8)		1476 (100.0)	3.1 (3.0, 3.3)		

#### Table 4-3: Incidence of Beijing and Non-Beijing Strains of M. Tuberculosis in Alberta, 1991-2007

Abbreviations: PYRs, person-years of observation; RR, incidence rate ratio; CI, confidence interval; CB, Canadian-born; FB, foreign-born; WP,

#### Western Pacific

\* Estimates of the foreign-born and Canadian-born populations were derived from customized Statistics Canada census reports. Estimates for Canadian-born 'others' were those derived from the censuses minus the annual population of Canadian-born Aboriginal peoples as obtained directly from Indian and Northern Affairs Canada (see Methodology for additional information).

† Crude incidence rate per 100,000 person-years

Disease Presentation	Beijing (N=350) n (%)	Non-Beijing (N=1476) n (%)	OR (95% CI)*	aOR (95% CI)†
Respiratory TB	259 (74.0)	1122 (76.0)	0.9 (0.7, 1.2)	1.3 (1.0, 1.8)
Sputum smear positive <sup>‡</sup>	112 (45.9)	538 (50.9)	0.8 (0.6, 1.1)	1.1 (0.8, 1.5)
High bacillary load§	16 (29.6)	89(33.3)	0.8 (0.4, 1.6)	1.2 (0.6, 2.7)
Lung cavitation	52 (14.9)	268 (18.2)	0.8 (0.6, 1.1)	1.0 (0.7, 1.5)
Immediately life-threatening TB	16 (4.6)	99 (6.7)	0.7 (0.4, 1.1)	0.8 (0.5, 1.6)
Any first-line drug resistance	73 (20.9)	161 (10.9)	2.2 (1.6, 2.9)	1.2 (0.8, 1.6)
Monoresistance	41 (11.7)	120 (8.1)	1.6 (1.1, 2.4)	0.9 (0.6, 1.3)
INH	11 (3.1)	48 (3.3)	1.0 (0.5, 2.0)	0.4 (0.2, 0.9)
RMP	0	0		
PZA	1 (0.3)	8 (0.6)	0.4 (0.2, 0.6)	0.7 (0.4, 1.2)
EMB	0	2 (0.1)		
STM	29 (8.3)	62 (4.2)	2.2 (1.4, 3.5)	1.4 (0.8, 2.3)
Polyresistance	25 (7.1)	34 (2.3)	3.5 (2.0, 5.9)	1.8 (1.0, 3.3)**
MDR-TB	7 (2.0)	7 (0.5)	4.7 (1.7, 13.6)	3.4 (1.0, 11.3)††

Table 4-4: Association Between M. Tuberculosis Genotype and Disease Presentation in Alberta, 1991 to mid-2007

Abbreviations: OR, odds ratio; aOR, adjusted odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; CB, Canadian-born; FBO, foreign-born 'other'; FBWP, foreign-born Western Pacific; INH, isoniazid; RMP, rifampin; PZA, pyrazinamide; EMB, ethambutol; STM, streptomycin; MDR-TB, multidrug-resistant TB.

\* Non-Beijing lineage is the reference category; ---, logistic regression could not be completed due to cell count(s) of zero.

† Association between Beijing lineage and each disease presentation after adjusting for sex, age, and population group; non-Beijing lineage is the reference category.

<sup>‡</sup> There were 1301 respiratory TB cases with data related to airway secretions, 1057 (81.2%) and 244 (18.8%) being attributed to non-Beijing and Beijing lineages, respectively.

§ There were 321 respiratory TB cases diagnosed after 1992 that had sputum smear-positive specimens collected on or before the date of diagnosis. || p=0.053

\*\* p=0.033

†† p=0.049

<b>Disease Presentation</b>	Beijing (N=103)	Non-Beijing (N=602)	OR (95% CI)*	aOR (95% CI)†
Respiratory TB	74 (71.8)	454 (75.4)	0.8 (0.5, 1.3)	1.5 (0.9, 2.5)
Sputum smear positive‡	40 (58.0)	239 (56.4)	1.1 (0.6, 1.8)	1.5 (0.8, 2.6)
High bacillary load§	11 (36.7)	57 (37.3)	1.0 (0.4, 2.2)	1.4 (0.5, 3.5)
Lung cavitation	19 (18.4)	137 (22.8)	0.8 (0.5, 1.3)	1.0 (0.6, 1.9)
Immediately life-threatening TB	5 (4.9)	46 (7.6)	0.6 (0.2, 1.6)	0.7 (0.2, 1.9)
Any first-line drug resistance	29 (28.2)	75 (12.5)	2.8 (1.7, 4.5)	1.5 (0.9, 2.6)
Monoresistance	13(12.6)	53 (8.8)	1.7 (0.9, 3.4)	1.0 (0.5, 2.0)
Polyresistance	13 (12.6)	16 (2.7)	5.8 (2.7, 12.5)	2.8 (1.2, 6.7)
MDR-TB	3 (2.9)	6 (1.0)	3.6 (0.9, 14.5)	2.1(0.4, 10.1)
HIV positive	5 (4.9)	46 (7.6)	0.6 (0.2, 1.6)	1.4 (0.5, 4.2)

 Table 4-5: Associations Between M. Tuberculosis Genotype and the Disease Presentations of Active TB

 Among Patients Aged 15-64 Years at Diagnosis with Known HIV Status

Abbreviations: HIV, human immunodeficiency virus; aOR, adjusted odds ratio; TB, tuberculosis.

\* Non-Beijing strains were the reference.

† Adjusted for sex, age, population group and HIV status; non-Beijing genotypes were the reference

‡ Sputum smear microscopy was completed on 493 respiratory cases with known HIV status. Of these, 69 (14%) were Beijing strains and 424 (86%) were non-Beijing strains.

\$183 respiratory TB cases diagnosed after 1992 had sputum smear positive specimens collected on or before the data of diagnosis. Of these, 30 (16%) were Beijing strains and 153 (84%) were non-Beijing strains.

## Table 4-6: Association Between M. Tuberculosis Genotype and Disease Presentation Based on the Population Group of TB Cases

Disease Presentation	Foreign-born Western Pacific			All Others*		
	Beijing (N=298)	Non-Beijing (N=395)	aOR (95% CI)†	Beijing (N=52)	Non-Beijing (N=1081)	aOR (95% CI)†
Respiratory TB	214 (71.8)	256 (64.8)	1.2 (0.8, 1.7)	45 (86.5)	866 (80.1)	1.6 (0.7, 3.6)
Sputum smear-positive‡	95 (47.3)	91 (38.1)	1.5 (1.0, 2.1)§	17 (39.5)	447 (54.7)	0.6 (0.3, 1.0)
High bacillary load**	12 (28.6)	9 (19.6)	1.7 (0.6, 4.7)	4 (33.3)	80 (36.2)	0.8 (0.2, 2.7)
Lung cavitation	43 (14.4)	54 (13.7)	1.1 (0.7, 1.7)	9 (17.3)	214 (19.8)	0.8 (0.4, 1.6)
Immediately life-threatening TB	13 (4.4)	20 (5.1)	0.8 (0.4, 1.6)	3 (5.8)	79 (7.3)	0.8 (0.2, 2.7)
Any first-line drug resistance	67 (22.5)	87 (22.0)	1.1 (0.8, 1.6)	6 (11.5)	74 (6.8)	1.6 (0.6, 3.9)
Monoresistance	37 (12.4)	66 (16.7)	0.8 (0.5, 1.3)	4 (7.7)	54 (5.0)	1.5 (0.5, 4.3)
Polyresistance	23 (7.7)	19 (4.8)	1.8 (1.0, 3.5)††	2 (3.9)	15 (1.4)	2.5 (0.5, 11.3)
MDR-TB	7 (2.4)	2 (0.5)	6.1 (1.2, 30.4)	0	5 (0.5)	

Abbreviations: aOR, adjusted odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; TB, tuberculosis; MDR-TB, multidrug-resistant tuberculosis; ---not calculated

\* Individuals born outside of the Western Pacific, including Canadian-born Aboriginals and Canadian-born non-Aboriginals.

<sup>†</sup> Independent of sex and age at diagnosis; non-Beijing strains are the reference.

‡ Of respiratory cases, 440 cases among those born in the Western Pacific and 860 cases among those born elsewhere had smear microscopy data.

§ p=0.057

∥ p=0.069

\*\* Sputum smear positive specimens were collected for 88 foreign-born Western Pacific and 233 'Other' respiratory TB cases

†† p=0.062

## Table 4-7: Association Between M. Tuberculosis Genotype and Disease Presentation Based on the Age of TB Cases at Diagnosis

Disease Presentation	<35 years at diagnosis			≥35 years at diagnosis		
	Beijing (N=104)	Non-Beijing (N=438)	aOR (95% CI)*	Beijing (N=246)	Non-Beijing (N=1038)	aOR (95% CI)*
Respiratory TB	73 (70.2)	319 (72.8)	1.6 (0.9, 2.7)	186 (75.6)	803 (77.4)	1.3 (0.9, 1.9)
Sputum smear-positive†	34 (48.6)	128 (42.5)	1.9 (1.0, 3.4)‡	78 (44.8)	410 (54.3)	0.9 (0.6, 1.4)
High bacillary load§	7 (36.8)	18 (31.6)	8.1 (0.9, 74.6)	9 (25.7)	71 (33.8)	0.9 (0.3, 2.2)
Lung cavitation	23 (22.1)	81 (18.5)	1.7 (1.0, 3.1)	29 (11.8)	187 (18.0)	0.7 (0.5, 1.2)
Immediately life-threatening TB	4 (3.8)	15 (3.4)	1.5 (0.4, 5.1)	12 (4.9)	84 (8.1)	0.7 (0.4, 1.5)
Any first-line drug resistance	31 (29.8)	72 (16.4)	1.3 (0.8, 2.3)	42 (17.1)	89 (8.6)	1.0 (0.6, 1.5)
Monoresistance	15 (14.4)	54 (12.3)	0.8 (0.4, 1.6)	26 (10.6)	66 (6.4)	0.8 (0.5, 1.4)
Polyresistance	13 (12.5)	14 (3.2)	3.1 (1.3, 7.5)	12 (4.9)	20 (1.9)	1.1 (0.5, 2.4)
MDR-TB	3 (2.9)	4 (0.9)	2.4 (0.5, 12.2)	4 (1.6)	3 (0.3)	6.1 (0.9, 42.7)

Abbreviations: aOR, adjusted odds ratio, CI, confidence interval; TB, tuberculosis; MDR-TB, multidrug-resistant tuberculosis; ---unable to calculate

\* Independent of sex and origin; non-Beijing strains are the reference.

† Of respiratory cases, 371 cases among those aged <35 years and 929 cases among those aged ≤35 years had smear microscopy data

**‡** p=0.042

§ There were 76 respiratory TB cases diagnosed after 1992 that had sputum smear positive specimens collected on or before the date of diagnosis among those born in the Western Pacific and 245 cases among those born elsewhere.

∥ p=0.072
# Figure 4-1: Inclusion and Exclusion of *M. Tuberculosis* Cases on the Basis of Isolate Availability and Confirmatory Genotyping



Figure 4-2: Global origins of *M. tuberculosis* Beijing strains according to the countries of birth of TB patients in Alberta, 1991-2007



Countries colored: light gray are cases born in Canada or born in a foreign country to Canadian-born parents; black are foreign-born cases whose country of birth is located within the Western Pacific region of the World Health Organization; and medium gray or circles are other foreign-born cases. The figure was created with Map Maker *Gratis* (www.mapmaker.com) and is used with permission.



Figure 4-3: Annual Incidence Rates of Beijing and Non-Beijing Strains by Population Group

In each figure, incidence rates are per 100,000 person-years (y-axis) and times corresponds to the year of diagnosis (x-axis). Dark gray bars represent Beijing strains and light gray bars are non-Beijing strains.

#### 4.6 References

- van Soolingen D, Qian L, de Haas PE et al. Predominance of a single genotype of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in countries of east Asia. *J Clin Microbiol* 1995;33(12):3234-3238.
- (2) Bifani PJ, Plikaytis BB, Kapur V et al. Origin and interstate spread of a New York City multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* clone family. *JAMA* 1996;275(6):452-457.
- Kremer K, Glynn JR, Lillebaek T et al. Definition of the Beijing lineage of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* on the basis of genetic markers. J Clin Microbiol 2004;42(9):4040-4049.
- (4) European Concerted Action on New Generation Genetic Markers and Techniques for the Epidemiology and Control of Tuberculosis. Beijing genotype *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and drug resistance. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2006;12(5):736-743.
- (5) Brudey K, Driscoll JR, Rigouts L et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex genetic diversity: mining the fourth international spoligotyping database (SpoIDB4) for classification, population genetics and epidemiology. *BMC Microbiol* 2006;6:23.
- (6) Kremer K, Au BKY, Yip PCW et al. Use of variable-number tandemrepeat typing to differentiate *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing family isolates from Hong Kong and comparison with IS*6110* restriction fragment length polymorphism typing and spoligotyping. *J Clin Microbiol*. 2005; 43(1):314-320.
- (7) Kang HY, Wada T, Iwamoto T et al. Phylogeographical particularity of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing family in South Korea based on international comparison with surrounding countries. *J Med Microbiol*. 2010;59(10):1191-1197.
- (8) Anh D, Borgdorff M, Van L et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype emerging in Vietnam. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2000;6(3):302-305.

- Li GL, Zhao DF, Xie T et al. Molecular characterization of drug-resistant Beijing family isolates of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* from Tianjin, China. *Biomed Environ Sci.* 2010;23(3):188-193.
- (10) Caminero J, Pena M, Campos-Herrero M, et al. Epidemiological evidence of the spread of a *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strain of Beijing genotype on Gran Canaria Island. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2001;164(7):1165-1170.
- (11) Martinez-Gamboa A, Ponce-De-Leon A, Galindo-Fraga A et al. Molecular analysis of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains with an intact *pks15/1* gene in a rural community of Mexico. *Arch Med Res* 2008;39(8):809-814.
- (12) Cowley D, Govender D, February B et al. Recent and rapid emergence of W-Beijing strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in Cape Town, South Africa. *Clin Infect Dis* 2008;47(10):1252-1259.
- (13) Glynn JR, Alghamdi S, Mallard K et al. Changes in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotype families over 20 years in a population-based study in Northern Malawi. *PloS One* 2010;5(8):e12259.
- (14) Lillebaek T, Andersen AB, Dirksen A, Glynn JR, Kremer K.
   Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype. Emerg Infect Dis 2003; 9(12):1553-1557.
- (15) Qian LS, Van Embden JDA, Van Der Zanden AGM, Weltevreden EF, Duanmu H, Douglas JT. Retrospective analysis of the Beijing family of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in preserved lung tissues. *J Clin Microbiol* 1999;37(2):471-474.
- (16) Jou R, Chiang CY, Huang WL. Distribution of the Beijing family genotypes of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in Taiwan. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43(1):95-100.
- (17) Caws M, Thwaites G, Stepniewska K, et al. Beijing genotype of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is significantly associated with human immunodeficiency virus infection and multidrug resistance in cases of tuberculosis meningitis. *J Clin Microbiol* 2006;44(11):3934-3939.

- (18) Lan NT, Lien HT, Tung IB, Borgdorff MW, Kremer K, Van SD. Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype and risk for treatment failure and relapse, Vietnam. Emerg Infect Dis 2003;9(12):1633-1635.
- (19) Burman WJ, Bliven EE, Cowan L et al. Relapse associated with active disease caused by Beijing strain of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2009;15(7):1061-1067.
- (20) Sun YJ, Lee AS, Wong SY, Paton NI. Association of Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype with tuberculosis relapse in Singapore. Epidemiol Infect 2006;134(2):329-332.
- (21) Kubica T, Rüsch-Gerdes S, Niemann S. The Beijing genotype is emerging among multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains from Germany. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(9):1107-1113.
- (22) Buu TN, Huyen MN, Lan NTN et al. The Beijing genotype is associated with young age and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in rural Vietnam. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2009;13(7):900-906.
- (23) López B, Aguilar D, Orozco H et al. A marked difference in pathogenesis and immune response induced by different *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotypes. *Clin Exp Immunol.* 2003;133(1):30-37.
- (24) Kremer K, van der Werf MJ, Au BK et al. Vaccine-induced immunity circumvented by typical *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing strains. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2009;15(2):335-339.
- (25) Abebe F, Bjune G. The emergence of Beijing family genotypes of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and low level protection by bacille Calmette-Guérin (BCG) vaccines: is there a link? *Clin Exp Immunol* 2006;145(3): 389-397.
- Jeon BY, Derrick SC, Lim J et al. *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG immunization induces protective immunity against nine different *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains in mice. *Infect Immun* 2008;76(11): 5173-5180.

- (27) Buu TN, Huyen MNT, van Soolingen D et al. The *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype does not affect tuberculosis treatment failure in Vietnam. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2010;51(8):879-886.
- (28) van Crevel R., Nelwan RH, de LW et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype strains associated with febrile response to treatment. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2001;7(5):880-883.
- (29) Werngren J, Hoffner SE. Drug-susceptible *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype does not develop mutation-conferred resistance to rifampin at an elevated rate. *J Clin Microbiol* 2003;41(4):1520-1524.
- (30) Reed MB, Pichler VK, McIntosh F et al. Major Mycobacterium tuberculosis lineages associate with patient country of origin. J Clin Microbiol 2009;47(4):1119-1128.
- (31) Borgdorff MW, de Haas P, Kremer K, van Soolingen D. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype, the Netherlands. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2003; 9(10):1310-1313.
- (32) Iwamoto T, Yoshida S, Suzuki K, Wada T. Population structure analysis of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing family indicates an association between certain sublineages and multidrug resistance. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2008;52(10):3805-3809.
- (33) Mokrousov I, Wei WJ, Gui ZS et al. Evolution of drug resistance in different sublineages of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* 2006;50(8):2820-2823.
- (34) Hanekom M, van der Spuy GD, Streicher E et al. A recently evolved sublineage of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing strain family is associated with an increased ability to spread and cause disease. *J Clin Microbiol* 2007;45(5):1483-1490.
- (35) Nicol MP, Wilkinson RJ. The clinical consequences of strain diversity in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* 2008;102(10): 955-965.

- (36) Citizenship and Immigration Canada. Annual Report to Parliament on Immigration, 2009. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2009.
- (37) Statistics Canada. *Cumulative Profile*, 2006 Provinces and Territories in Canada (table). 2006 Census of Population (Provinces, Census Divisions, Municipalities) (database). Using E-STAT (distributor). Ottawa, Canada: 2011.
- WHO Western Pacific Region: countries and areas. World Health
   Organization Regional Office for the Western Pacific Web site.
   http://www.wpro.who.int/countries/list.htm. Accessed May 25, 2011.
- Public Health Agency of Canada, Canadian Lung Association/ Canadian Thoracic Society. *Canadian Tuberculosis Standards*. Long R, Ellis E, eds.
   6<sup>th</sup> ed. Ottawa, Canada: Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Health; 2007.
- (40) Kunimoto D, Sutherland K, Wooldrage K et al. Transmission characteristics of tuberculosis in the foreign-born and the Canadian-born populations of Alberta, Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(10):1213-1220.
- (41) Gagneux S, DeRiemer K, Van T et al. Variable host-pathogen compatibility in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006;103(8):2869-2873.
- (42) Tsolaki AG, Gagneux S, Pym AS et al. Genomic deletions classify the Beijing strains as a distinct genetic lineage of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *J Clin Microbiol* 2005;43(7):3185-3191.
- (43) Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. *Applied Logistic Regression*. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Wiley; 2000.
- (44) Rothman KJ, Greenland S, Lash TL. *Modern Epidemiology*. 3rd ed.Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins; 2008.
- (45) Brown T, Nikolayevskyy V, Velji P, Drobniewski F. Associations between *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains and phenotypes. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2010;16(2):272-280.

- (46) Kato-Maeda M, Kim EY, Flores L, Jarlsberg LG, Osmond D, Hopewell PC. Differences among sublineages of the East-Asian lineage of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in genotypic clustering. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2010;14(5):538-544.
- (47) Ghebremichael S, Groenheit R, Pennhag A et al. Drug resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis of the Beijing genotype does not spread in Sweden. PloS One 2010;5(5):e10893.
- (48) Hirsh AE, Tsolaki AG, DeRiemer K, Feldman MW, Small PM. Stable association between strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and their human host populations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004;101(14):4871-4876.
- (49) Borgdorff MW, van Deutekom H, de Haas PE, Kremer K, and van Soolingen D. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, Beijing genotype strains not associated with radiological presentation of pulmonary tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)* 2004;84(5):337-340.
- (50) Kong Y, Cave MD, Zhang L et al. Association between *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing lineage strain infection and extrathoracic tuberculosis: Insights from epidemiologic and clinical characterization of the three principal genetic groups of *M. tuberculosis* clinical isolates. *J Clin Microbiol* 2007;45(2):409-414.
- (51) Lari N, Rindi L, Cristofani R, Rastogi N, Tortoli E, Garzelli C. Association of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex isolates of BOVIS and Central Asian (CAS) genotypic lineages with extrapulmonary disease. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2009;15(6):538-543.
- (52) Frieden TR, Sherman LF, Maw KL et al. A multi-institutional outbreak of highly drug-resistant tuberculosis: epidemiology and clinical outcomes. *JAMA* 1996;276(15):1229-1235.
- (53) Kong Y, Cave MD, Zhang L et al. Population-based study of deletions in five different genomic regions of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and possible clinical relevance of the deletions. *J Clin Microbiol* 2006;44(11): 3940-3946.

- (54) Nahid P, Bliven EE, Kim EY et al. Influence of *M. tuberculosis* lineage variability within a clinical trial for pulmonary tuberculosis. *PloS One* 2010;5(5):e10753.
- (55) Langlois-Klassen D, Wooldrage K, Manfreda J et al. Piecing the puzzle together: foreign-born tuberculosis in an immigrant-receiving country. *Eur Respir J* 2011;38(4):895-902.
- (56) Jensen M, Lau A, Langlois-Klassen D, Boffa J, Manfreda J, Long R. Eliminating tuberculosis: a population-based study of TB epidemiology and innovative service delivery in Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* In press.
- (57) Long R, Chui L, Kakulphimp J, Zielinski M, Talbot J, Kunimoto D. Postsanatorium pattern of antituberculous drug resistance in the Canadianborn population of western Canada: effect of outpatient care and immigration. *Am J Epidemiol* 2001;153(9):903-911.
- (58) Pepperell CS, Granka JM, Alexander DC et al. Dispersal of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* via the Canadian fur trade. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2011;108(16):6526-6531.
- (59) Citizenship and Immigration Canada. Facts and figures 2008 --Immigration overview: permanent and temporary residents. http://www.cic.gc.ca/English/resources/statistics/facts2008/permanent/10.a
   sp. Published August 2009. Accessed July 12, 2011.

### CHAPTER 5: TRANSMISSION OF BEIJING STRAINS OF MYCOBACTERIUM TUBERCULOSIS IN A LOW INCIDENCE SETTING: TIME TO SILENCE THE ALARMS?\*

#### 5.1 Abstract

*Introduction:* There is repeated speculation that Beijing strains have a selective advantage over other *M. tuberculosis* genotypes as conferred through increased virulence and transmissibility. This is especially concerning given frequent associations between Beijing strains and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR-TB). This study's purpose was to identify the risk factors for, and trends in, the transmission of Beijing and non-Beijing strains in a low TB incidence immigrant-receiving province of Canada. In particular, it aimed to determine if Beijing strains due to higher transmission.

*Methods:* Culture-confirmed respiratory TB cases in the immigrant-receiving province of Alberta, Canada in 1991 through mid-2007 (n=1399) were eligible for inclusion in this retrospective study. Provincial TB Registry data were combined with mycobacteriologic data; this included DNA fingerprinting (IS6110 restriction fragment length polymorphism and spoligotyping) and discrimination between Beijing and non-Beijing strains via genomic deletion analysis. Clusters were  $\geq$ 2 patients with identical DNA fingerprints in 1991-2007. The number of secondary cases that were observed within 2 years per index case was used as a measure of recent transmission, index cases being those whose DNA fingerprint was not observed within the previous 2 years.

*Results:* Beijing strains were attributed with 258 of the 1379 (19%) included cases. Overall, 55 (21%) Beijing cases and 418 (37%) non-Beijing cases were clustered. Beijing and non-Beijing strains had a similar likelihood of clustering among the foreign-born Western Pacific and the foreign-born 'other' while there was significantly less clustering of Beijing strains in the Canadian-born. On average, Beijing index cases had 0.06 secondary cases within 2 years while non-

Beijing index cases had 0.14 (OR 0.5; CI 0.3-0.8). However, in the adjusted analysis, the number of secondary cases per Beijing and non-Beijing index case was similar (OR0.9; CI 0.4-1.7) whereas it was reduced among index cases aged  $\geq$ 65 than  $\leq$ 35 years (0.4; CI 0.3-0.8), born in the Western Pacific (0.2; CI 0.1-0.3) or born elsewhere outside of Canada (0.1; CI 0.1-0.2).

*Conclusion*: Beijing strains do not result in any more clustering or more frequent recent transmission than non-Beijing strains in a setting with comprehensive and effective TB control practices.

\*A version of this paper has been submitted to Emerging Infectious Diseases:

Langlois-Klassen D, Senthilselvan A, Chui L, Kunimoto D, Saunders LD, Menzies R, Long R. Transmission of Beijing strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in a low incidence setting: time to silence the alarms? (*submitted*)

#### 5.2 Introduction

The Beijing family of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains is regarded as an emerging public health threat.<sup>1-4</sup> Members of this family account for 13% of *M. tuberculosis* strains globally<sup>5</sup> and up to 27% of *M. tuberculosis* strains within certain low TB incidence immigrant-receiving countries.<sup>6-10</sup> The recent global dissemination of Beijing strains and their increasing prevalence is of concern due to their frequent association with antituberculosis drug resistance and more specifically, multidrug resistance (MDR-TB).<sup>1, 11-14</sup> These concerns are further intensified by the increasing body of evidence that associates Beijing strains with extensively drug-resistant TB (XDR-TB).<sup>12, 15, 16</sup>

The rapid global expansion of Beijing strains and their frequent (albeit inconsistent) association with large TB outbreaks as well as with younger patients has led to speculation that Beijing strains have a selective advantage over other *M. tuberculosis* genotypes as conferred through increased virulence and transmissibility.<sup>1, 2, 12, 17, 18</sup> This hypothesis is supported by experimental evidence in vitro and in animal models of increased virulence demonstrated by Beijing strains relative to other *M. tuberculosis* strains.<sup>19-22</sup> Evidence also suggests that the fitness of some Beijing strains is retained after the acquisition of drug resistance.<sup>23</sup> Nevertheless, intragenotypic variation in virulence has been described in the Beijing family of strains <sup>24-26</sup> and, in a review, Coscolla and Gagneux (2010) concluded that the current body of evidence is insufficient to support the increased transmissibility of these strains.<sup>27</sup>

Immigration is the most important determinant of TB epidemiology in low incidence settings.<sup>28, 29</sup> Consequently, the importation of potentially more pathogenic strains such as those in the Beijing family could have important implications for TB control and elimination efforts within immigrant-receiving countries. Surveillance activities which identify the sources and transmission patterns of emerging and/or expanding *M. tuberculosis* strains will be increasingly vital if TB control programs are to maintain their effectiveness within the context of dynamic immigration policies and highly mobile populations.

The purpose of this study was to identify the risk factors for, and trends in, the transmission of Beijing and non-Beijing strains in a low TB incidence immigrant-receiving province of Canada. In particular, this study sought to determine if Beijing strains are potentially a greater public health threat than non-Beijing strains due to higher transmissibility.

#### 5.3 Methods

#### Study Setting and Population

Culture-confirmed respiratory TB cases in the province of Alberta, Canada between January 1, 1991 and June 30, 2007 ('study period') as per the provincial TB registry were eligible for inclusion in this population-based retrospective study (see subsection on '*Transmission*' for additional criteria). Ethics approval was received from the University of Alberta Health Research Ethics Board and analysis of surveillance data did not require informed consent as there was no direct patient contact.

People born in Canada or born outside of Canada to Canadian-born parents were Canadian-born; all others were foreign-born. Due to the high prevalence of Beijing strains in parts of Southeast and East Asia,<sup>1</sup> country of birth was used to group the foreign-born into those born in the Western Pacific region and those born elsewhere.<sup>29</sup>

Population estimates were obtained from customized Statistics Canada census reports (1991, 1996, 2001, and 2006). Inter-censuses estimates were derived through linear interpolation and estimates for 2007 were based on linear extrapolation.

#### Case Characteristics

Demographic and clinical data from the TB Registry were combined with data from the Provincial Laboratory for Public Health (Provincial Laboratory) where all mycobacteriology in the province is performed. Sputum smear status and the presence/absence of lung cavitation on chest radiograph were used as indicators of infectiousness. Baseline sputum smears collected on or before the date of diagnosis (the start date of treatment) that had Grade 3+ to 4+ scores for acid-fast bacilli (AFB) were categorized as having high bacillary loads.

Monoresistant-TB refers to resistance to a single first-line antituberculosis drug, namely isoniazid (INH), rifampin (RMP), pyrazinamide (PZA), ethambutol (EMB), or streptomycin (STM). Polyresistance was defined as resistance to two or more first-line antituberculosis drugs but not to both INH and RMP; resistance to at least INH and RMP constituted MDR-TB.<sup>30</sup> Any first-line drug resistance includes monoresistant TB, polyresistant-TB, and MDR-TB.

#### Laboratory Methods

The Provincial Laboratory completed routine mycobacteriologic studies in accordance with the Canadian Tuberculosis Standards.<sup>30</sup> This included the DNA fingerprinting of prospectively archived isolates with the IS*6110* restriction fragment-length polymorphism (RFLP) method and, for those with  $\leq$ 5 copies of IS*6110*, spoligotyping as described elsewhere.<sup>31-33</sup>

Isolates were assigned to a *M. tuberculosis* genotype group based on genomic deletion analysis completed at the Provincial Laboratory with an ABI 7000 Real-Time PCR machine (Azco Biotech, Inc., San Diego, CA) using standard conditions and published TaqMan<sup>TM</sup> primers and probes.<sup>34, 35</sup> Isolates with a deletion of RD105 (East Asian lineage) were classified as Beijing strains and all others as non-Beijing strains. The genotype assignment of a convenience sample of 382 isolates was confirmed via spoligotyping at the Provincial Laboratory or genomic deletion analysis at extra-provincial laboratories; no discordance was reported.

#### **Recent Transmission**

Of the 1399 eligible respiratory TB cases in the study period, 20 (1%) cases were excluded as either the DNA fingerprint pattern or *M. tuberculosis* genotype could not be determined. The remaining 1379 cases were included in the analysis of clustering to provide an indication of overall transmission. In this

study, a cluster was defined as 2 or more patients whose case isolates had identical DNA fingerprints at any time in the study period.

The method of Borgdorff et al. (2010) was used to quantify recent transmission within the expansive study period given that potential source cases had dissimilar follow-up periods and the probability of propagated transmission by secondary and later generation source cases within the cluster.<sup>36</sup> To do so, survival analysis using a Kaplan-Meier curve was completed with the 1379 respiratory TB cases to determine the cut-off point for the definition of 'recent' transmission.<sup>36, 37</sup> In the 16.5-year study period, the probability of recurrence of an isolate with an identical fingerprint pattern was 0.36 in the study period and 0.28, 0.24 and 0.22 within 5, 3 and 2 years, respectively, from Kaplan-Meier estimates (Figure 5-1). A 2-year period was determined to be the ideal cut-off point as the associated probability was 78% and 89% of the 5 and 3 year probabilities, respectively. The decision to use a 2-year instead of 3-year cut-off point was also influenced by the conventional high-risk period for the development of active TB following infection (18 to 24 months).<sup>30</sup> The potential impact of defining recent transmission with a 2-year instead of 3-year period was explored in a sensitivity analysis.

Using a 2-year cut-off point, an 'index case' was defined as a respiratory TB case with a DNA fingerprint pattern that had not been assigned to another case within the preceding 2 years. The 'transmission index' was the number of secondary respiratory TB cases within 2 years per index case that were either directly or indirectly related to the index case on the basis of DNA fingerprint patterns.<sup>36</sup> Using these definitions, 425 of the 1379 (31%) respiratory TB cases were excluded from the analysis of recent transmission.<sup>36</sup> Specifically, 162 index cases diagnosed in 1991-1992 and their 50 secondary cases were excluded as it could not be determined if the fingerprint patterns of the index cases matched another case in the preceding 2 years. Follow-up periods of <2 years resulted in the exclusion of an additional 124 index cases diagnosed after June 30, 2005 and their 10 secondary cases. Finally, 79 secondary cases were excluded due to diagnosis >2 years after the index case but <2 years after another cluster member.

After these exclusions, 954 (69%) TB cases diagnosed between January 1, 1993 and June 30, 2007 were included.

#### Statistical Analysis

Stata/IC 11 (StataCorp. 2009. Stata Statistical Software: Release 11. College Station, TX: StataCorp LP) was used for data analyses. The relationship between categorical variables was determined using logistic regression; p<0.05 was considered statistically significant. Incidence rates for index cases, which were calculated overall and within each strain group, were compared using incidence rate ratios (IRR). Standardized rates were calculated with the direct method using the age- and sex-specific distribution of the total population in Alberta in 1993-2007 as the reference population. The risk factors of index cases that were associated with recent transmission were assessed with bivariate and multivariate Poisson regression using an offset of one each index case.<sup>36</sup> Multivariate modeling was constructed with purposeful selection as follows:<sup>38</sup> variables with p<0.20 in bivariate regression were candidates for multivariate modeling; the variable representing the *M. tuberculosis* strain groups was retained regardless of the *P* value; the confounding effects of removed variables was assessed with the percentage rule using a collapsibility criterion of  $\leq 15\%$ ;<sup>39</sup> and the significance of potential interactions was based on the partial likelihood ratio test (5% level of significance).<sup>38</sup> All confidence intervals (CIs) are 95% CIs.

#### 5.4 Results

Beijing strains accounted for 258 of the 1379 (19%) respiratory TB cases that were diagnosed from January 1, 1991 through June 30, 2007. Compared to cases resulting from infections with non-Beijing strains, Beijing cases were more often  $\geq$ 65 years old and born in the Western Pacific (versus Canadian-born) (Table 5-1). The infectiousness of Beijing and non-Beijing cases was similar (Table 5-1). Additionally, polyresistant-TB and MDR-TB were 13 times (CI 3.3, 47.8) and 5 times (CI 1.5, 14.8), respectively, more likely among Beijing cases

although there was no association with monoresistance (OR 1.6; CI 1.0, 2.7, p=0.061).

#### Clustering

In total, 906 (66%) cases exhibited unique fingerprinting patterns ('nonclustered cases') and the remaining 473 (34%) isolates were distributed between 119 clusters. Of Beijing strains, 203 (79%) were non-clustered cases and 55 (21%) were clustered cases within 22 clusters. Non-Beijing strains accounted for the remaining 703 (63%) non-clustered cases and 418 (37%) clustered cases within 97 clusters. Consequently, the likelihood of clustering was significantly lower among Beijing than non-Beijing strains overall (OR 0.5; CI 0.3, 0.6). Independent of population group, however, Beijing strains were associated with a lower likelihood of clustering among the Canadian-born (OR 0.4; CI 0.1, 0.9) but not those born in the Western Pacific (OR 0.8; CI 0.5, 1.2) or elsewhere (OR 2.2; CI 0.8, 5.7).

None of the demographic factors was associated with clustering among Beijing cases in unadjusted or adjusted analysis (Table 5-2). However, among non-Beijing strains, the likelihood of clustering was significantly less among those aged  $\geq 65$  years (versus  $\leq 34$  years) and for foreign-born individuals (Table 5-2).

Among the foreign-born, the number of non-clustered Beijing and non-Beijing cases was inversely associated with increased time since arrival (Figure 5-2), 30-32% of cases occurring within 2 years of arrival. Although clustered cases appeared to follow a similar pattern, including 23-25% of cases occurring within 2 years of arrival, interpretation was limited by the relatively small number of these cases.

#### Incidence Rates of Index Cases

Beijing index cases had a significantly lower incidence rate than non-Beijing index cases (IRR 0.3; CI 0.2, 0.3), the respective rates being 0.4 and 1.6 per 100,000 person-years. The rates of Beijing and non-Beijing index cases were similar among individuals born in the Western Pacific (Table 5-3).

Increased rates of Beijing and non-Beijing index cases were associated with male cases, persons aged  $\geq 65$  years (versus  $\leq 34$  years), and foreign-born persons (Table 5-4). Persons aged 35-64 years also had an increased rate of non-Beijing index cases. Of foreign-born persons, the rates of Beijing and non-Beijing index cases were increased 22 times (CI 13.5, 37.3) and 2 times (CI 1.7, 2.5), respectively, among those born in the Western Pacific compared to others.

#### Trends in Index and Secondary Cases

As per Figure 5-3, there was a trend of decreasing annual rates of Beijing and non-Beijing index cases. Compared to the average annual index case rates in 1993-1995, the rates in 2002-2004 (2004 being the last full calendar from which index cases were included) had decreased by 39% (from 0.6 to 0.4 per 100,000 person-years) among Beijing cases and 30% (from 2.0 to 1.4 per 100,000 personyears) among non-Beijing cases. These trends primarily reflect those of the foreign-born Western Pacific given the trend of increasing rates in the foreignborn 'other' and the minimal contribution of Canadian-born rates to overall rates in Alberta (Figure 5-4).

#### Risk Factors for Recent Transmission

Table 5-5 outlines the number of cases that were attributed to recent transmission based on the characteristics of the index case. On average, an index case resulted in 0.13 secondary cases within 2 years. In unadjusted analysis, the number of secondary cases was significantly increased if the index case was sputum smear-positive, had a high bacillary load or had lung cavitation (Table 5-5). Conversely, fewer secondary cases were associated with index cases aged  $\geq 65$  years (versus  $\leq 34$  years), persons born outside of Canada, or cases infected with Beijing strains. In adjusted analysis, the number of secondary cases was only significantly associated with the age and population group of the index cases; fewer secondary cases occurred if the index case was aged  $\geq 35$  years (versus  $\leq 34$ 

years) or foreign-born, the association with age having been confounded by lung cavitation (Table 5-5). The number of secondary cases was not independently associated with the *M. tuberculosis* genotype of the index case after controlling for the confounding effects of age, population group, sputum smear status and lung cavitation.

Co-infection with HIV was not a risk factor for recent transmission. Of the 419 index cases for which HIV status had been reported, 21(5%) were TB-HIV co-infected and only one secondary case was attributed to these TB-HIV coinfected index cases. On average, HIV-negative index cases led to 0.15 secondary cases within 2 years while TB-HIV co-infected index cases had 0.5 secondary cases. Consequently, the number of secondary cases was not associated with the HIV status of index cases (relative transmission index = 0.3; CI 0.04, 2.3).

A subgroup analysis of foreign-born index cases also indicated that the number of secondary cases per index case was unrelated to the length of residency in Canada. For example, compared to index cases that were  $\leq 2$  years since arrival in Canada, the relative transmission indices of those 3-5 years and those >20 years since arrival were 1.1 (CI 0.3, 4.1) and 1.2 (0.4, 3.6), respectively.

Additional subgroup analysis assessed the risk factors for the number of secondary cases among individuals born in the Western Pacific only (Table 5-6). No significant risk factors for the number of secondary cases within 2 years per index case were identified, including age, *M. tuberculosis* genotype or time since arrival. However, polyresistant-TB was a risk factor that was of borderline significance for an increased number of secondary cases compared to index cases with pan-susceptible isolates (Table 5-6).

#### Sensitivity Analysis

The use of a 3-year cut-off point for defining recent transmission resulted in fewer index cases but had an inconsistent impact on the number of secondary cases in each strain group (Table 5-7). The transmission index for Beijing and non-Beijing cases was also increased by the one year increase in the cut-off point.

#### 5.5 Discussion

Outbreaks of *M. tuberculosis* Beijing strains in high and low TB incidence settings have had significant public health implications.<sup>12, 18, 40-42</sup> Notwithstanding the effect of these outbreaks, the current study finds the transmission of Beijing strains to be similar to that of non-Beijing strains in Alberta, a low incidence immigrant-receiving province of Canada. Speculation regarding the increased transmissibility of Beijing strains has also been refuted in other low TB incidence immigrant-receiving countries and in The Gambia.<sup>13, 43, 44</sup> At the same time, contradictory findings with respect to Beijing strains and transmission have been reported in the Cape Town region of South Africa.<sup>2, 45, 46</sup> The general absence of evidence to suggest that Beijing strains are inherently more transmissible than other *M. tuberculosis* strains is highly informative for TB control programs given the propensity for MDR-TB among cases infected with Beijing strains in this and other studies.<sup>11, 13, 14, 47</sup>

The transmission of *M. tuberculosis* occurs most frequently when TB patients have positive sputum smear microscopy and lung cavitation.<sup>48, 49</sup> Consequently, findings that Beijing strains are not typically associated with smear positive or cavitary disease in this study and others<sup>50-52</sup> accords with the reported similarities in the transmission of Beijing and non-Beijing strains. The bacillary load of Beijing and non-Beijing cases was also similar in this study.

That Beijing strains have been associated with increased transmission in some settings but not in others may reflect geographic variations in virulence phenotypes. In the *M. tuberculosis* complex, evolutionarily modern lineages (including the East Asian lineage and hence Beijing strains) induce lower immune responses than ancient lineages, potentially providing modern lineages with a selective advantage in terms of more rapid disease progression and transmission in the human population.<sup>53</sup> An array of virulence phenotypes have also been demonstrated in the more evolutionarily recent subfamily of Beijing strains (i.e. the 'modern' subfamily as characterized by the insertion of IS*6110* in the noise transfer function [NTF] chromosomal region<sup>54</sup>), including differences in the pathogenic characteristics (and potential transmissibility) of closely related strains

in the same sublineage.<sup>24-26</sup> For example, strains within the "modern" Beijing subfamily have significant variations in their intracellular growth rates and hence significant differences in tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) levels.<sup>25</sup> This may be of particular relevance on account of higher TNF- $\alpha$  levels being observed in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of TB patients with large cavities.<sup>55</sup> To facilitate an understanding of the potential implications of virulence phenotypes in relation to TB control efforts, future population-based investigations in high and low incidence settings would benefit from discerning between the disease presentations and transmissibility of different *M. tuberculosis* subfamilies or sublineages.

In agreement with previous studies,<sup>28, 31, 48, 56-58</sup> the risk of recent *M*. *tuberculosis* transmission in the present study was lower for older as well as foreign-born persons and it was unrelated to drug resistance. A deeper exploration into these common risk factors for transmission demonstrates that these factors were independent of *M. tuberculosis* genotype, at least within the broad categories of Beijing and non-Beijing strains.

Foreign-born TB incidence in immigrant-receiving countries has a characteristic and inverse relationship with increased time since arrival.<sup>59-61</sup> The current findings demonstrate that this characteristic relationship is clearly evident for non-clustered Beijing and non-Beijing cases that presumably result from the reactivation of latent TB infections acquired before immigration. It also appears that clustered cases follow a similar pattern. Despite nearly one-quarter of clustered Beijing and non-Beijing cases occurring  $\leq$ 2years since arrival, recent transmission was not associated with time since arrival, a finding that accords with a previous study.<sup>62</sup> Nevertheless, time since arrival may still have important implications for the inter-population transmission of *M. tuberculosis*.<sup>62</sup> Collectively, these findings emphasize the need for screening and prevention activities in the foreign-born as a critical means of mitigating the reactivation of latent TB infection as early after arrival as possible. It also reinforces the important need for high-income countries to increase their funding of efforts to expand TB control in high-incidence countries.<sup>63</sup> Enhanced TB control in source

regions may have relatively immediate benefits within host countries given that decreases in per capita TB incidence in the Western Pacific and South-East Asia regions<sup>64</sup> coincided with declining index case rates in this study.

This study reinforces that the foreign-born are not a significant source of *M. tuberculosis* transmission (including Beijing strains) despite having considerably higher index case rates than the native-born population.<sup>28, 36, 65</sup> Rather, the proportion of non-clustered cases suggests that the reactivation of latent TB infection accounts for 82% of foreign-born cases (i.e. 80% and 83% of foreign-born Beijing and non-Beijing cases, respectively). The inevitable importation of emerging pathogens such as Beijing strains therefore should not be viewed so much as a threat as a challenge. The challenge lies in the host country's resolve to prevent the reactivation of latent TB infections in recently arrived immigrants and in a larger population of aging immigrants while contending with constantly evolving immigration patterns.<sup>59</sup>

The maintenance of a comprehensive provincial TB dataset derived through the amalgamation of TB Registry and mycobacteriology data was critical for this study and the general evaluation of TB control in Alberta. The accuracy of strain classification was also enhanced through the use of an unambiguous and validated genotyping methodology<sup>8, 34, 35</sup> as well as the confirmatory genotyping of a convenience sample of isolates. As Alberta is one of four primary immigrant-receiving provinces in Canada, three of which have a very similar immigration pattern (Alberta, Ontario and British Columbia), the study results are anticipated to have national relevance. The generalizability of the study results to other low TB incidence immigrant-receiving countries will be influenced by the degree of similarity in immigration patterns.

Unavoidable sampling limitations will have produced underestimates in clustering<sup>66, 67</sup> and impacted the transmission indices.<sup>68</sup> Nevertheless, sampling bias will have been minimized by identifying cases through a provincial TB Registry;  $\geq$ 88% of cases in Alberta being culture confirmed;<sup>69, 70</sup> an expansive study period; and the inclusion of 99% of eligible culture-confirmed respiratory TB cases. The transmission index used in this study, while advantageous for

quantifying recent transmission within an expansive study period,<sup>36</sup> is subject to the same limitations as other TB transmission indices.<sup>68</sup> As well, the sensitivity analysis is this study and that of Borgdorff et al. (2010) suggest that the estimates of recent transmission are relatively sensitive to the small changes in the time periods used to define recent transmission.<sup>36</sup> Overestimates in clustering may have resulted from the common molecular epidemiologic assumption that cases with identical DNA fingerprints were part of a transmission cluster.<sup>9, 48</sup> Finally, the relatively small number of secondary and Canadian-born Beijing cases in this study limited the ability to comprehensively assess the cross-population transmission of Beijing strains and the strain-specific transmission patterns in Canadian-born Aboriginal peoples.

To conclude, this study has demonstrated that Beijing strains do not result in any more clustering than non-Beijing strains in a setting with comprehensive and effective TB control practices. Combined with the uncommon transmission of *M. tuberculosis* by foreign-born individuals and the relatively small proportion of Beijing strains within the broad *M. tuberculosis* population structures of host countries,<sup>8, 34, 71</sup> there appears to be little cause for concern about the importation of Beijing strains into low TB incidence immigrant-receiving settings.

Changetonistics	Beijing	Non-Beijing	
Characteristics	(1N=258)	(N=1121)	p-value
C	II (70)	II (70)	0.12
Sex	100 (20 0)		0.13
Female	100 (38.8)	492 (43.9)	
Male	158 (61.2)	629 (56.1)	
Age at Diagnosis			< 0.001
≤34	72 (27.9)	319 (28.5)	
35-64	69 (26.7)	421 (37.6)	
≥65	117 (45.4)	381 (34.0)	
Population Group			< 0.0001
Canadian-born	19 (7.4)	520 (46.4)	
Foreign-born Other	26 (10.1)	346 (30.9)	
Foreign-born Western Pacific	213 (82.6)	255 (22.7)	
Sputum Smear Microscopy*			0.15
Negative	132 (54.1)	517 (49.0)	
Positive	112 (45.9)	538 (51.0)	
Bacillary Load <sup>†</sup>			0.58
Low	38 (70.4)	177 (66.5)	
High	16 (29.6)	89 (33.5)	
Chest Radiography	~ /		0.19
No cavitation	206 (79.8)	853 (76.1)	
Cavitation	52 (20.2)	268 (23.9)	
Drug Resistance			< 0.0001
Pan-susceptible	202 (78.3)	1000 (89.2)	
Monoresistance	30 (11.6)	90 (8.0)	
Polyresistance	20 (7.8)	25 (2.2)	
MDR-TB	6 (2.3)	6 (0.5)	

Table 5-1: Characteristics of Respiratory Cases by M. tuberculosisGenotype, 1991-2007

\*Sputum smear microscopy was not completed on all cases.

<sup>†</sup>Semi-quantitative scores for acid-fast bacilli (AFB) load on the baseline sputum smear. Positive smears with semi-quantitative scores of 3+ or 4+ were categorized as having high bacillary load; all remaining positive smears were labeled as having a low bacillary load.

	Non-clustered	Clustered	OR (9)	5% CD
Characteristics	(N=203)	(N=55)		570 CI)
	n (%)	n (%)	Unadjusted	Adjusted*
Beijing Strains				
Sex				
Female	81 (81.0)	19 (9.0)	1.0	1.0
Male	122 (77.2)	36 (22.8)	1.3 (0.7, 2.3)	1.4 (0.7, 2.7)
Age at Diagnosis				
≤34 years	55 (76.4)	17 (23.6)	1.0	1.0
35-64 years	50 (72.5)	19 (27.5)	1.2 (0.6, 2.6)	1.3 (0.6, 2.9)
≥65 years	98 (83.8)	19 (16.2)	0.6 (0.3, 1.3)	0.7 (0.3, 1.4)
Population Group				
Canadian-born	12 (63.2)	7 (36.8)	1.0	1.0
Foreign-born Other	20 (76.9)	6 (23.1)	0.5 (0.1, 1.9)	0.5 (0.1, 2.0)
Foreign-born Western Pacific	171 (80.3)	42 (19.7)	0.4 (0.2, 1.1)	0.5 (0.2, 1.3)
Non-Beijing Strains				
Sex				
Female	324 (65.9)	168 (34.1)	1.0	1.0
Male	379 (60.3)	250 (39.7)	1.3 (1.0, 1.6)†	1.1 (0.8, 1.4)
Age at Diagnosis				
≤34 years	185 (58.0)	134 (42.0)	1.0	1.0
35-64 years	239 (56.8)	182 (43.2)	1.1 (0.8, 1.4)	0.8 (0.6, 1.1)
≥65 years	279 (73.2)	102 (26.8)	0.5 (0.4, 0.7)	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)
Population Group				
Canadian-born	204 (39.2)	316 (60.8)	1.0	1.0
Foreign-born Other	304 (87.9)	42 (12.1)	0.1 (0.06, 0.13)	0.1 (0.06, 0.13)
Foreign-born Western Pacific	195 (76.5)	60 (23.5)	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)
*Adjusted for sex, age at diagnosis a	nd population group.		† p=0.055	

Table 5-2: Characteristics of Clustered and Non-clustered Cases by M. tuberculosis Genotype in Alberta, 1991-2007

~		Unadjusted F	Rates*	Adjusted Rates*†			
Characteristic	Beijing Non-Beijin		IRR (95% CI)	Beijing	Non-Beijing	IRR (95% CI)	
Sex							
Female	0.3	1.4	0.2 (0.2, 0.3)	0.3	1.5	0.2 (0.2, 0.3)	
Male	0.6	1.7	0.3 (0.3, 0.4)	0.6	1.9	0.3 (0.3, 0.4)	
Age at Diagnosis							
≤34 years	0.2	0.7	0.3 (0.2, 0.4)	0.2	0.7	0.3 (0.2, 0.5)	
35-64 years	0.3	1.6	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)	0.3	1.6	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)	
≥65 years	2.0	5.9	0.3 (0.3, 0.4)	2.1	6.0	0.4 (0.3, 0.5)	
Population Group							
Canadian-born	0.03	0.7	0.04 (0.02, 0.08)	0.03	0.8	0.4 (0.03, 0.06)	
Foreign-born Other	0.4	4.7	0.1 (0.05, 0.1)	0.4	4.0	0.1 (0.1, 0.2)	
Foreign-born WP	8.4	9.8	0.9 (0.7, 1.1)	7.8	8.9	0.9 (0.7, 1.1)	

Table 5-3: Comparison of Incidence Rates of Index Cases Attributed to Beijing/W and Non-Beijing/W Strains

Abbreviations: IRR, incidence rate ratio

\*Rates are per 100,000 person-years

†Calculated using the direct method using the age- and sex-specific distribution of the total population of Alberta in 1993-2007 as the reference population.

Chanastanistia	PYRs*	Index	(	Crude	Stand	ardized‡
Characteristic	100,000s	Cases	Rate† (95% CI)	IRR (95% CI)	Rate† (95% CI)	IRR (95% CI)
Beijing Strains						
Sex						
Female	210.5	68	0.3 (0.3, 0.4)	1	0.3 (0.3, 0.4)	1
Male	210.6	117	0.6 (0.5, 0.7)	1.7 (1.3, 2.4)	0.6 (0.5, 0.7)	1.7 (1.3, 2.3)
Age at Diagnosis						
$\leq$ 34 years	215.2	49	0.2 (0.2, 0.3)	1	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)	1
35-64 years	163.8	52	0.3 (0.2, 0.4)	1.4 (0.9, 2.1)	0.3 (0.2, 0.4)	1.4 (0.8, 2.5)
$\geq$ 65 years	42.0	84	2.0 (1.6, 2.5)	8.8 (6.1, 12.8)	2.1 (1.5, 2.7)	9.3 (4.6, 18.8)
Origin						
CB	353.0	11	0.03 (0.02, 0.06)	1	0.03 (0.01, 0.05)	1
FB Other	49.6	19	0.4 (0.2, 0.6)	12.3 (5.6, 28.6)	0.4 (0.3, 0.6)	13.7 (4.2, 45.3)
FB Western Pacific	18.5	155	8.4 (7.1, 9.8)	269.0 (146.2, 555.0)	7.8 (6.5, 9.1)	244.9 (213.8, 280.5)
Total	421.1	185	0.4 (0.4, 0.5)			

Table 5-4: Incidence of Respiratory TB Index Cases Attributed to Beijing and Non-Beijing Strains in Alberta, 1993-2007

Abbreviations: PYRs, person-years; CI, confidence interval; IRR, incidence rate ratio; CB, Canadian-born; FB, foreign-born

\* Customized census reports from Statistics Canada were used to obtain the population estimates in each census year; population estimates between census years were derived through linear interpolation whereas linear extrapolation was used to estimates the populations in 2007. † Rates are per 100,000 person-years

‡ Calculated using the direct method using the age- and sex-specific distribution of the total population of Alberta in 1993-2007 as the reference population.

Table 5-4 (Con't):	Incidence of Respiratory 7	<b>FB</b> Index	Cases	Attributed	to Beijing	and	Non-Beijing	Strains	in
Alberta, 1993-2007									

PYRs* Index Crude		ude	<b>Standardized</b> ‡			
Characteristic	100,000s	Cases	Rate† (95% CI)	IRR (95% CI)	Rate† (95%	IRR (95% CI)
Non-Beijing Strains					CI)	
Sex						
Female	210.5	295	1.4 (1.3, 1.6)	1	1.5 (1.4, 1.7)	1
Male	210.6	368	1.7 (1.6, 1.9)	1.2 (1.1, 1.5)	1.9 (1.7, 2.0)	1.2 (1.1, 1.4)
Age at Diagnosis						
≤34 years	215.2	154	0.7 (0.6, 0.8)	1	0.7 (0.6, 0.9)	1
35-64 years	163.8	263	1.6 (1.4, 1.8)	2.2 (1.8, 2.8)	1.6 (1.3, 1.9)	2.2 (1.7, 3.0)
≥65 years	42.0	246	5.9 (5.1, 6.6)	8.2 (6.7, 10.1)	6.0 (5.0, 7.0)	8.3 (5.6, 12.5)
Origin						
ĊB	353.0	247	0.7 (0.6, 0.8)	1	0.8 (0.7, 0.8)	1
FB Other	49.6	235	4.7 (4.2, 5.4)	6.8 (5.6, 8.1)	4.3 (3.7, 4.9)	5.3 (3.9, 7.0)
FB Western Pacific	18.5	181	9.8 (8.4, 11.3)	14.0 (11.5, 17.0)	9.4 (7.9, 10.8)	11.5 (7.7, 17.4)
Total	421.1	663	1.6 (1.5, 1.7)			

Abbreviations: PYRs, person-years; CI, confidence interval; IRR, incidence rate ratio; CB, Canadian-born; FB, foreign-born

\* Customized census reports from Statistics Canada were used to obtain the population estimates in each census year; population estimates between census years were derived through linear interpolation whereas linear extrapolation was used to estimates the populations in 2007.

† Rates are per 100,000 person-years

‡ Calculated using the direct method using the age- and sex-specific distribution of the total population of Alberta in 1993-2007 as the reference population.

Characteristics -	Index Ca	ases	Secondary	Transmission Relative Transmiss		mission Index†
	Non-Clustered	Clustered	Cases	Index*	Unadjusted	Adjusted
Sex						
Female	334	29	38	0.10	1.0	
Male	441	44	68	0.14	1.3 (0.9, 2.0)	
Age at Diagnosis (years)						
≤34	186	17	30	0.15	1.0	1.0
35-64	280	35	47	0.15	1.0 (0.6, 1.6)	0.6 (0.4,1.0)‡
≥65	309	21	29	0.09	0.6 (0.4, 1.0)§	0.4 (0.3, 0.8)
Population Group						
Canadian-born	212	46	77	0.30	1.0	1.0
Foreign-born Other	245	9	9	0.04	0.1 (0.1, 0.2)	0.1 (0.1, 0.2)
Foreign-born Western Pacific	318	18	20	0.06	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)	0.2 (0.1, 0.3)
Sputum Smear Microscopy						
Negative	366	25	36	0.09	1.0	1.0
Positive	359	46	68	0.17	1.8 (1.2, 2.7)	1.3 (0.9, 2.1)
Bacillary Load**						
Low	134	15	25	0.17	1.0	
High	56	15	23	0.32	1.9 (1.1, 3.4)	

### Table 5-5: Risk Factors for the Recent Transmission of *M. tuberculosis* in Alberta, 1993-2007

Characteristics	Index Ca	ases	Secondary	Transmission	<b>Relative Trans</b>	nission Index†
Characteristics	Non-Clustered	Clustered	Cases	Index*	Unadjusted	Adjusted
Chest Radiography						
No cavitation	600	44	65	0.10	1.0	1.0
Cavitation	175	29	41	0.20	2.0 (1.3, 2.9)	1.4 (0.9, 2.2)
Drug Resistance						
Pan-susceptible	663	66	98	0.13	1.0	
Monoresistance	74	4	4	0.05	0.4 (0.1, 1.0)††	
Polyresistance	28	3	4	0.13	1.0 (0.4, 2.6)	
MDR-TB‡‡	10	0	0	0.00		
M. tuberculosis Genotype						
Non-Beijing	602	61	94	0.14	1.0	1.0
Beijing	173	12	12	0.06	0.5 (0.3, 0.8)	0.9 (0.4, 1.7)
Total	775	73	106	0.13		

#### Table 5-5 (Con't): Risk Factors for the Recent Transmission of M. tuberculosis in Alberta, 1993-2007

\* The number of secondary cases divided by the number of index cases

 $\dagger$  Bivariate and multivariate Poisson regression using an offset of one each index case. Variables with p<0.20 in bivariate analysis were eligible for inclusion in the multivariate model. The multivariate model included the main effects of age, population group and *M. tuberculosis* strain. Sputum smear microscopy was retained in the model as it confounded the association between number of secondary cases and age. Chest radiography was also retained in the model as it confounded the association between number of secondary cases and *M. tuberculosis* genotype.

**‡**p=0.042

**§** p=0.046

||Sputum smear microscopy was not completed with all cases.

\*\* Bacillary load was not included in multivariate modeling due to multicollinearity with sputum smear microscopy.

†† p=0.059

**‡‡**MDR-TB was excluded from bivariate and multivariate analyses.

Characteristics	Index C	ases	Secondary	Transmission	<b>Balativa Transmission Indov</b> *
Characteristics	Non-Clustered	Clustered	Cases	Index*	Relative Transmission muex
Sex					
Female	123	9	10	0.08	1.0
Male	195	9	10	0.05	0.6 (0.3, 1.6)
Age at Diagnosis (years)					
≤34	84	5	5	0.06	1.0
35-64	110	4	4	0.04	0.6 (0.2, 2.3)
≥65	124	9	11	0.08	1.5 (0.5, 4.2)
Sputum Smear Microscopy‡					
Negative	175	7	7	0.04	1.0
Positive	126	9	11	0.08	2.1 (0.8, 5.5)
Bacillary Load§					
Low	53	3	5	0.09	1.0
High	17	1	1	0.06	0.6 (0.1, 5.3)
Chest Radiography					
No cavitation	253	14	16	0.06	1.0
Cavitation	65	4	4	0.06	1.0 (0.3, 2.9)

Table 5-6: Risk Factors for the Recent Transmission of *M. tuberculosis* Among Index Cases Born in the WesternPacific, 1993-2007

## Table 5-6 (Con't): Risk Factors for the Recent Transmission of *M. tuberculosis* Among Index Cases Born in the Western Pacific, 1993-2007

Characteristics	Index Ca	ases	Secondary	Transmission	<b>Balativa Transmission Inday</b> *
Characteristics	Non-Clustered	Clustered	Cases	Index*	Relative Transmission muex
Drug Resistance					
Pan-susceptible	240	13	14	0.05	1.0
Monoresistance	51	2	2	0.10	0.7 (0.2, 3.0)
Polyresistance	216	3	4	0.17	3.0 (1.0, 9.2)
MDR-TB**		0	0	0	
M. tuberculosis Genotype					
Non-Beijing	172	9	11	0.06	1.0
Beijing	146	9	9	0.06	1.0 (0.4, 2.3)
Time Since Arrival					
$\leq 2$ years	76	3	3	0.04	1.0
3 to 5 years	43	1	1	0.02	0.6 (0.1, 5.8)
6 to 10 years	54	6	6	0.10	2.6 (0.7, 10.5)
11 to 20 years	76	5	6	0.07	2.0 (0.5, 7.8)
>20 years	36	3	4	0.10	2.7 (0.6, 12.1)
Total	318	18	20	0.06	

\* The number of secondary cases divided by the number of index cases

† Bivariate Poisson regression using an offset of one each index case. Multivariate analysis was not completed as all independent variables had p>0.20 in bivariate analysis

‡ Sputum smear microscopy was not completed with all cases.

§ Bacillary load was not included in multivariate modeling due to multicollinearity with sputum smear microscopy.

∥p=0.052

\*\* MDR-TB was excluded from bivariate and multivariate analyses.

	Beijing	Strains	Non-Beijing Strain		
	2 year*	3 year†	2 year*	3year†	
Index Cases (n)	185	157	663	510	
Secondary Cases (n)	12	14	94	90	
Incidence Rate of Index Cases	0.44	0.40	1.57	1.29	
Transmission Index	0.06	0.09	0.14	0.18	

Table 5-7: Sensitivity Analysis Comparing the Use of a 2-year Versus 3-yearCut-Off Period to Define Recent Transmission

\* Index cases in 1993 through June 30, 2005 and their associated secondary cases were eligible for inclusion.

<sup>†</sup> Index cases in 1994 through June 30, 2004 and their associated secondary cases were eligible for inclusion.

Figure 5-1: Kaplan-Meier Estimates of the Probability of an Identical DNA Fingerprint Pattern Match in Respiratory TB Cases in Alberta, 1991-2007



The estimated probabilities (solid line) and 95% confidence intervals (dashed lines) were derived through a Kaplan-Meier analysis of the time between the dates of diagnosis of cases with identical DNA fingerprint patterns as per IS*6110* RFLP analysis (as well as spoligotyping for isolates with  $\leq$ 5 copies of IS*6110*). Cases with unique DNA fingerprint patterns (i.e. no other case had an identical DNA fingerprint pattern during the 1991-2007 period) were censored at the end of the study period (June 30, 2007).





Clustered cases, gray; non-clustered cases, black.
Figure 5-3: Annual Incidence Rates of Beijing and Non-Beijing Index Cases in Alberta, 1993-2007



Incidence rates are per 100,000 person-years







Rates are per 100,000 person-years.

Abbreviations: CB, Canadian-born; FB-WP, foreign-born individuals born in the Western Pacific region; and FB-O, foreign-born individuals born outside of the Western Pacific region

# 5.6 References

- European Concerted Action on New Generation Genetic Markers and Techniques for the Epidemiology and Control of Tuberculosis. Beijing/W genotype *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and drug resistance. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2006;12(5):736-743.
- (2) Cowley D, Govender D, February B et al. Recent and rapid emergence of W-Beijing strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in Cape Town, South Africa. *Clin Infect Dis* 2008;47(10):1252-1259.
- (3) Martinez-Gamboa A, Ponce-De-Leon A, Galindo-Fraga A et al. Molecular analysis of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains with an intact *pks15/1* gene in a rural community of Mexico. *Arch Med Res* 2008;39(8):809-814.
- (4) Glynn JR, Alghamdi S, Mallard K et al. Changes in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotype families over 20 years in a population-based study in Northern Malawi. *PloS One* 2010;5(8):e12259.
- (5) Brudey K, Driscoll JR, Rigouts L et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex genetic diversity: mining the fourth international spoligotyping database (SpoIDB4) for classification, population genetics and epidemiology. *BMC Microbiol* 2006;6:23.
- (6) Bezanahary H, Baclet MC, Sola C et al. Molecular strain typing contribution to epidemiology of tuberculosis in Limousin (1998 to 2006). *Med Mal Infect* 2008;38(6):309-317.
- (7) Djelouadji Z, Henry M, Bachtarzi A, Foselle N, Raoult D, Drancourt M.
   Pyrosequencing identification of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* W-Beijing.
   *BMC Res Notes* 2009;2(1):239.
- (8) Reed MB, Pichler VK, McIntosh F et al. Major *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* lineages associate with patient country of origin. J Clin *Microbiol* 2009;47(4):1119-1128.
- (9) Gallego B, Sintchenko V, Jelfs P, Coiera E, Gilbert GL. Three-year longitudinal study of genotypes of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in a low prevalence population. *Pathology (Phila)* 2010;42(3):267-272.

- (10) Kato-Maeda M, Kim EY, Flores L, Jarlsberg LG, Osmond D, Hopewell PC. Differences among sublineages of the East-Asian lineage of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in genotypic clustering. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2010;14(5):538-544.
- (11) Buu TN, Huyen MN, Lan NTN et al. The Beijing genotype is associated with young age and multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in rural Vietnam. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2009;13(7):900-906.
- (12) Devaux I, Kremer K, Heersma H, Van Soolingen D. Clusters of multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cases, Europe. *Emerg Infect Dis* 2009;15(7):1052-1060.
- (13) Ghebremichael S, Groenheit R, Pennhag A et al. Drug resistant Mycobacterium tuberculosis of the Beijing genotype does not spread in Sweden. PloS One 2010;5(5):e10893.
- (14) Kubica T, Rüsch-Gerdes S, Niemann S. The Beijing genotype is emerging among multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains from Germany. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(9):1107-1113.
- (15) Zhao M, Li X, Xu P et al. Transmission of MDR and XDR tuberculosis in Shanghai, China. *PloS One* 2009;4(2):e4370.
- (16) Mlambo CK, Warren RM, Poswa X, Victor TC, Duse AG, Marais E.
   Genotypic diversity of extensively drug-resistant tuberculosis (XDR-TB) in South Africa. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2008;12(1);99-104.
- Bifani P, Mathema B, Kurepina N et al. Global dissemination of the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* W-Beijing family strains. *Trends Microbiol* 2002;10:45-52.
- (18) Caminero J, Pena M, Campos-Herrero M, et al. Epidemiological evidence of the spread of a *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strain of Beijing genotype on Gran Canaria Island. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2001;164(7):1165-1170.
- Manca C, Tsenova L, Bergtold A et al. Virulence of a *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* clinical isolate in mice is determined by failure to induce Th1

type immunity and is associated with induction of IFN-alpha/beta. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2001;98(10):5752-5757.

- (20) López B, Aguilar D, Orozco H et al. A marked difference in pathogenesis and immune response induced by different *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotypes. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2003;133(1):30-37.
- (21) Manca C, Reed MB, Freeman S et al. Differential monocyte activation underlies strain-specific *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* pathogenesis. *Infect Immun* 2004;72(9):5511-5514.
- (22) Tsenova L, Ellison E, Harbacheuski R et al. Virulence of selected Mycobacterium tuberculosis clinical isolates in the rabbit model of meningitis is dependent on phenolic glycolipid produced by the bacilli. J Infect Dis 2005;192(1):98-106.
- (23) Toungoussova OS, Caugant DA, Sandven P, Mariandyshev AO, Bjune G. Impact of drug resistance on fitness of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains of the W-Beijing genotype. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* 2004;42(3): 281-290.
- (24) Aguilar D, Hanekom M, Mata D et al. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strains with the Beijing genotype demonstrate variability in virulence associated with transmission. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)* 2010;90(5):319-325.
- (25) Theus S, Eisenach K, Fomukong N, Silver RF, Cave MD. Beijing family Mycobacterium tuberculosis strains differ in their intracellular growth in THP-1 macrophages. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2007;11(10):1087-1093.
- (26) Dormans J, Burger M, Aguilar D, et al. Correlation of virulence, lung pathology, bacterial load and delayed type hypersensitivity responses after infection with different *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* genotypes in a BALB/c mouse model. *Clin Exp Immunol* 2004;137(3):460-468.
- (27) Coscolla M, Gagneux S. Does *M. tuberculosis* genomic diversity explain disease diversity? *Drug Discov Today Dis Mech* 2010;7(1):e43-e59.
- (28) Borgdorff MW, Behr MA, Nagelkerke NJ, Hopewell PC, Small PM. Transmission of tuberculosis in San Francisco and its association with immigration and ethnicity. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2000;4(4):287-294.

- World Health Organization. Global Tuberculosis Control: Surveillance, Planning, Financing. WHO report 2008. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization; 2008.
- Public Health Agency of Canada, Canadian Lung Association/ Canadian Thoracic Society. *Canadian Tuberculosis Standards*. Long R, Ellis E, eds.
   6<sup>th</sup> ed. Ottawa, Canada: Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Health; 2007.
- (31) Kunimoto D, Sutherland K, Wooldrage K et al. Transmission characteristics of tuberculosis in the foreign-born and the Canadian-born populations of Alberta, Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(10):1213-1220.
- (32) van Embden JD, Cave MD, Crawford JT et al. Strain identification of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by DNA fingerprinting: recommendations for a standardized methodology. *J Clin Microbiol* 1993;31(2):406-409.
- (33) van Soolingen D. Molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis and other mycobacterial infections: main methodologies and achievements. *J Intern Med* 2001;249(1):1-26.
- (34) Gagneux S, DeRiemer K, Van T et al. Variable host-pathogen compatibility in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006;103(8):2869-2873.
- (35) Tsolaki AG, Gagneux S, Pym AS et al. Genomic deletions classify the Beijing/W strains as a distinct genetic lineage of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. J Clin Microbiol 2005;43(7):3185-3191.
- (36) Borgdorff MW, van den Hof S, Kremer K et al. Progress towards tuberculosis elimination: secular trend, immigration and transmission. *Eur Respir J* 2010;36(2):339-347.
- (37) Jasmer R, Hahn J, Small et al. A molecular epidemiologic analysis of tuberculosis trends in San Francisco, 1991-1997. Ann Intern Med 1999;130(12):971-978.
- (38) Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. *Applied Logistic Regression*. 2nd ed. Wiley, New York: Wiley; 2000.

- (39) Mickey RM, Greenland S. The impact of confounder selection criteria on effect estimation. *Am J Epidemiol* 1989;129(1):125-137.
- (40) Bifani P, Mathema B, Liu Z et al. Identification of a W variant outbreak of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* via population-based molecular epidemiology. *JAMA* 1999;282(24):2321-2327.
- (41) Frieden TR, Sherman LF, Maw KL et al. A multi-institutional outbreak of highly drug-resistant tuberculosis: epidemiology and clinical outcomes. *JAMA* 1996;276(15):1229-1235.
- (42) Narvskaya O, Otten T, Limeschenko E et al. Nosocomial outbreak of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis caused by a strain of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* W-Beijing family in St. Petersburg, Russia. *Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis* 2002;21(8):596-602.
- (43) Kong Y, Cave MD, Zhang L et al. Population-based study of deletions in five different genomic regions of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and possible clinical relevance of the deletions. *J Clin Microbiol* 2006;44(11):3940-3946.
- (44) de Jong BC, Hill PC, Aiken A et al. Progression to active tuberculosis, but not transmission, varies by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* lineage in The Gambia. *J Infect Dis* 2008;198(7):1037-1043.
- (45) Marais BJ, Hesseling AC, Schaaf HS, Gie RP, Van Helden PD, Warren RM. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* transmission is not related to household genotype in a setting of high endemicity. *J Clin Microbiol* 2009;47(5):1338-1343.
- (46) van der Spuy GD, Kremer K, Ndabambi SL et al. Changing *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* population highlights clade-specific pathogenic characteristics. *Tuberculosis* 2009;89(2):120-125.
- (47) Borgdorff MW, de Haas P, Kremer K, van Soolingen D. Mycobacterium tuberculosis Beijing genotype, the Netherlands. Emerg Infect Dis 2003;9(10):1310-1313.

- (48) Nava-Aguilera E, Andersson N, Harris E et al. Risk factors associated with recent transmission of tuberculosis: systematic review and metaanalysis. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2009;13(1):17-26.
- (49) Helke KL, Mankowski JL, Manabe YC. Animal models of cavitation in pulmonary tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis* 2006;86(5):337-348.
- (50) Borgdorff MW, van Deutekom H, de Haas PE, Kremer K, van Soolingen D. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, Beijing genotype strains not associated with radiological presentation of pulmonary tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis* 2004;84(5):337-340.
- (51) Kong Y, Cave MD, Zhang L et al. Association between *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing/W lineage strain infection and extrathoracic tuberculosis: insights from epidemiologic and clinical characterization of the three principal genetic groups *of M. tuberculosis* clinical isolates. *J Clin Microbiol* 2007;45(2):409-414.
- (52) Nahid P, Bliven EE, Kim EY et al. Influence of *M. tuberculosis* lineage variability within a clinical trial for pulmonary tuberculosis. *PloS One* 2010;5(5):e10753.
- (53) Portevin D, Gagneux S, Comas I, Young D. Human macrophage responses to clinical isolates from the *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* complex discriminate between ancient and modern lineages. *PloS Pathog* 2011;7(3):e1001307.
- (54) Mokrousov I, Narvskaya O, Otten T et al. Phylogenetic reconstruction within *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Beijing genotype in northwestern Russia. *Res Microbiol* 2002;153(10):629-637.
- (55) Tsao TCY, Hong J, Li LF, Hsieh MJ, Liao SK, Chang KSS. Imbalances between tumor necrosis factor-alpha and its soluble receptor forms, and interleukin-1 beta and interleukin-1 receptor antagonist in BAL fluid of cavitary pulmonary tuberculosis. *Chest* 2000;117(1):103-109.
- (56) Golub JE, Bur S, Cronin WA et al. Delayed tuberculosis diagnosis and tuberculosis transmission. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2006;10(1):24-30.

- (57) Vynnycky E, Nagelkerke N, Borgdorff MW, van Soolingen D, Van Embden JDA, Fine PEM. The effect of age and study duration on the relationship between 'clustering' of DNA fingerprint patterns and the proportion of tuberculosis disease attributable to recent transmission. *Epidemiol Infect* 2001;126(1):43-62.
- (58) Franzetti F, Codecasa L, Matteelli A et al. Genotyping analyses of tuberculosis transmission among immigrant residents in Italy. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2010;16(8):1149-1154.
- (59) Langlois-Klassen D, Wooldrage K, Manfreda J et al. Piecing the puzzle together: foreign-born tuberculosis in an immigrant-receiving country. *Eur Respir J* 2011;38(4):895-902.
- (60) Cain KP, Benoit SR, Winston CA, Mac Kenzie WR. Tuberculosis among foreign-born persons in the United States. *JAMA* 2008;300(4):405-412.
- (61) Farah MG, Meyer HE, Selmer R, Heldal E, Bjune G. Long-term risk of tuberculosis among immigrants in Norway. *Int J Epidemiol* 2005;34(5): 1005-1011.
- (62) Vanhomwegen J, Kwara A, Martin M et al. Impact of immigration on the molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis in Rhode Island. *J Clin Microbiol* 2011;49(3):834-844.
- (63) Schwartzman K, Oxlade O, Barr RG et al. Domestic returns from investment in the control of tuberculosis in other countries. *N Engl J Med* 2005;353(10):1008-1020.
- (64) Dye C, Lonnroth K, Jaramillo E, Williams BG, Raviglione M. Trends in tuberculosis incidence and their determinants in 134 countries. *Bull World Health Organ* 2009;87(9):683-691.
- (65) Borgdorff M, Nagelkerke NJ, Hopewell PC, Small PM. Transmission of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* depending on the age and sex of source cases. *Am J Epidemiol* 2001;154(10):934-943.
- (66) Glynn JR, Bauer J, de Boer AS et al. Interpreting DNA fingerprint clusters of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. European Concerted Action on Molecular

Epidemiology and Control of Tuberculosis. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 1999;3(12):1055-1060.

- (67) Borgdorff MW, van den Hof S, Kalisvaart N, Kremer K, van Soolingen D.
   Influence of sampling on clustering and associations with risk factors in the molecular epidemiology of tuberculosis. *Am J Epidemiol* 2011;174(2): 243-251.
- (68) Tanaka MM, Phong R, Francis AR. An evaluation of indices for quantifying tuberculosis transmission using genotypes of pathogen isolates. *BMC Infect Dis* 2006;6:92.
- (69) Public Health Agency of Canada. *Tuberculosis in Canada 1996*. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 1998.
- Public Health Agency of Canada. *Tuberculosis in Canada 2007*. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2009.
- (71) Barniol J, Niemann S, Louis VR et al. Transmission dynamics of pulmonary tuberculosis between autochthonous and immigrant subpopulations. *BMC Infect Dis* 2009;9:197.

# **CHAPTER 6: GENERAL DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS**

#### 6.1 Summary of Research

#### 6.1.1 Overview of Thesis Research Studies

The first of this thesis' two foci was aimed at furthering the knowledge base that is required to successfully prevent tuberculosis (TB) in the foreign-born, a necessary criterion for the overall advancement of TB elimination in immigrantreceiving countries. In this area of concentration, the profile of TB in the foreignborn in relation to general trends in TB incidence over a prolonged period in Canada was comprehensively examined. To do so, foreign-born TB incidence in Canada was methodically dissected so that the relative contributions and trends in TB incidence among immigrant groups were identified. Once the factors related to the relative constancy in foreign-born TB incidence were better understood, an immigrant group that comprises a high-yield target for the screening and treatment of latent TB infection (LTBI) was identified.

The project's second focus (within the second and third studies) originated from the repeated speculation that the Beijing family of strains is inherently more virulent and more transmissible than other *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* strain families. If these speculations are correct, and given the high probability of the importation of Beijing strains based on immigration patterns in Canada over the past five decades, TB resulting from Beijing strain infections could raise significant public health policy implications. The epidemiology and transmissibility of this family of strains was therefore studied in depth in the major immigrant-receiving province of Alberta, Canada.

### 6.1.2 Summary of Results

Tuberculosis disease (TB) among foreign-born individuals in Canada between 1986 and 2002 was comprehensively assessed in order to identify the relative contributions and trends in TB incidence among immigrant groups. The retrospective analysis of 18,275 foreign-born TB cases found an inverse association between TB incidence (case counts and rates) with increased time since arrival regardless of immigrants' sex, age at arrival or country of birth group. For example, TB rates within the first 2 years since arrival were 2 to 3 times higher than those 3-5 years since arrival. This relationship resulted in immigrants who were within 5 years of their arrival contributing an almost equal number of TB cases annually as the much larger pool of immigrants who were more than 10 years since arrival despite a 3.5-fold difference in in-country personyears of observation. This latter finding was further explained by the remarkably stable and relatively low TB incidence that was observed among immigrants who were more than 10 years since arrival. In comparison, TB incidence within the first five years of arrival was highly dynamic and sensitive to changes in immigration level and, to a lesser extent, shifts in the source countries of new immigrants. Tuberculosis incidence was also associated with age at arrival and the incidence of TB in the immigrants' country of birth. Based on these findings, as well as recognition of the higher rates of serious adverse effects of standard treatment for latent TB infection (LTBI; 9 months of daily isoniazid) among those aged >64 years,  $^{1-3}$  immigrants  $\leq 2$  years post-arrival who were aged 15-35 years at arrival and born within countries with TB incidence rates >50/100,000 population were recommended as ideal high-yield targets for the screening for LTBI.

To understand whether the importation and subsequent emergence of Beijing strains in high-income immigrant-receiving countries poses an increased public health threat, the second study compared the incidence and disease presentation of TB cases resulting from infections with Beijing strains to that of non-Beijing TB cases. Of the 1826 *M. tuberculosis* isolates in Alberta between 1991 and mid-2007 for which the lineage could be determined (99% of all culture-positive cases), 350 (19%) were Beijing strains and 298 (85%) of these were among individuals born in the Western Pacific region. Beijing strains had a particularly small presence in the Canadian-born population, accounting for 15 (4.4%) cases among Canadian-born non-Aboriginal individuals and 5 (1.7%) cases among Aboriginal peoples. An increased likelihood of respiratory TB among Beijing cases was of borderline significance. As well, Beijing strains were significantly more likely to be associated with polyresistant-TB cases and MDR-

TB compared to non-Beijing strains. Additional subgroup analysis found the associations between Beijing strains and polyresistant-TB to be significant among individuals born in the Western Pacific (compared to all others) and among those aged <35 years at diagnosis while an association with MDR-TB only occurred amongst those born in the Western Pacific. Apart from these findings, the disease presentations of Beijing and non-Beijing cases were similar in relation to infectiousness (sputum smear positivity, bacillary load, and lung cavitation) and monoresistance to first-line antituberculosis drugs.

The third and final study in this thesis used molecular epidemiological data to compare the transmissibility of Beijing and non-Beijing strains in Alberta between 1993 and mid-2007. Beijing strains were attributed with 197 of the 954 (21%) culture-positive respiratory TB cases included in this study of recent transmission. Although the overall likelihood for clustering was significantly lower for Beijing strains, a similar proportion of clustered cases were attributed to Beijing and non-Beijing strains within each population group (Canadian-born, foreign-born Western Pacific and foreign-born 'other'). The incidence rate of Beijing index cases was 70% less than that of non-Beijing index cases, both groups having a trend of declining annual rates of index cases over the study period. On average, an index case resulted in 0.13 secondary cases within 2 years. In adjusted analysis, the number of secondary cases was decreased if the index case was aged >64 years (versus  $\leq$ 34 years) or born outside of Canada. The number of secondary cases was also not associated with Beijing strains, HIV co-infection or, among foreign-born cases, time since arrival.

#### 6.2 Significance of Research

#### 6.2.1 Foreign-born Tuberculosis in an Immigrant-Receiving Country

Routine screening and treatment for LTBI in foreign-born populations has previously been disregarded due to poor cost-effectiveness.<sup>4</sup> However, the identification of high-yield target groups would presumably be a way to improve the cost-effectiveness within any routine screening strategy for LTBI that is developed. This study identified the ideal high-yield targets for the routine screening for LTBI among permanent residents ('immigrants') to be immigrants  $\leq 2$  years post-arrival who were aged 15-34 years at arrival and born within countries with World Health Organization (WHO) estimated rates of smear positive TB of >50 per 100,000 population. Although it has been recommended that immigrants within 5 years of arrival be screened,<sup>5</sup> the current study results suggest that screening efforts would be better utilized in the interval between the year of arrival and the second year following the year of arrival. In particular, TB rates in this interval were 2 to 3-fold higher than those in the 3-5 years since arrival interval regardless of immigrants' sex, age at arrival or country of birth group. The importance of earlier screening was further supported by the sensitivity analysis which explored the potential influence of prevalent active but unrecognized disease upon arrival on TB incidence rates in year 0-2.

Although immigrants aged >64 years at arrival maintained significantly higher rates of TB than the recommended target age group of 15-34 years, they are not appropriate targets for routine screening due to higher rates of serious adverse effects during standard treatment (daily isoniazid for 9 months).<sup>1-3</sup> Nevertheless, the high rate of TB among those aged >64 years at arrival and the subgroup analysis that found that TB rates progressively increased with each consecutive 5-year increase in age suggests an increased role for primary care providers in the screening for LTBI among older immigrants from high incidence countries. This would be especially relevant for older immigrants from high incidence countries who have other high risk factors for the development of active TB.<sup>2</sup>

This study also demonstrated that foreign-born TB incidence is influenced by shifts in immigration levels and, to a lesser extent, shifts in the source countries of new immigrants. With sustained sourcing from higher-incidence countries and projected increases in immigration for the foreseeable future,<sup>6, 7</sup> these findings suggest that foreign-born TB incidence will increase without a change in TB control programs to include targeted screening for LTBI. It also emphasizes the intensified need for the funding of efforts to enhance TB control programs in high incidence source countries.<sup>8</sup>

Additionally, the awareness that immigrants  $\leq 5$  years since arrival contributed almost the same number of TB cases annually as those who were >10 years since arrival will have important implications for the assessment of the program effectiveness of routine targeted screening. In particular, targeted screening can be expected to produce minimal reductions in national foreign-born incidence for several years.

#### 6.2.2 The Epidemiological and Clinical Significance of Beijing Strains

This study revealed a marked presence of Beijing family of *M*. *tuberculosis* strains among culture-confirmed TB cases in the low incidence immigrant-receiving province of Alberta. By in large, TB cases resulting from infections with Beijing strains were limited to foreign-born individuals and, in particular, those born in the Western Pacific region. In addition to supporting the correlation between *M. tuberculosis* lineage and the host's country of origin/birth,<sup>9-11</sup> the minimal penetration of Beijing strains into the native-born population supports previous assertions that the foreign-born are not a significant source of TB in the native-born.<sup>12-14</sup>

The disease presentation of TB cases resulting from infections with Beijing strains was generally very similar to that of non-Beijing strains, especially in relation to sputum smear positivity, bacillary load, lung cavitation and immediately life-threatening forms of TB. That Beijing strains were associated with an increased likelihood of polyresistant-TB and MDR-TB emphasizes the importance of routine drug susceptibility testing and appropriate treatment management. In conjunction with the success of TB control in Alberta,<sup>15</sup> these findings imply that there is no reason to suspect that current strategies would be any less adept at controlling Beijing than non-Beijing strains.

The subgroup analysis conducted in this study found Beijing strains to be associated with an increased likelihood of MDR-TB among individuals born in the Western Pacific (compared to all others. Additionally, an association between Beijing strains and polyresistant-TB was of borderline significance among individuals born in the Western Pacific and of significance among those aged less

than 35 years at diagnosis. These findings suggest that the recommended targets for routine screening for LTBI pursuant to the study presented in Chapter 3 would also assist in mitigating the incidence of polyresistant and MDR-TB within the foreign-born population.

#### 6.2.3 The Recent Transmission of Beijing and Non-Beijing Strains

This study confirmed that the foreign-born are not a significant source of *M. tuberculosis* transmission (including Beijing strains) despite having considerably higher index case rates than the native-born population. Rather, the vast majority of foreign-born TB cases were non-clustered and presumably resulted from the reactivation of infections acquired prior to immigration. This finding, combined with the inverse association between the number of non-clustered Beijing and non-Beijing cases rates and increased time since arrival, emphasizes the importance of the early screening for LTBI among foreign-born individuals.

Also of significance is that Beijing strains did not result in any more clustering than non-Beijing strains in a low incidence setting with effective TB control practices. As the transmission of *M. tuberculosis* occurs most frequently among cases with sputum smear positive disease and lung cavitation,<sup>16, 17</sup> the similarity in clustering is not unexpected given that Beijing cases were generally no more infectious than non-Beijing cases (Chapter 4 and Chapter 5).

In agreement with previous studies,<sup>14, 17-21</sup> the recent transmission of *M*. *tuberculosis* was unrelated to drug resistance and was lower for index cases that were foreign-born or older than 64 years. The current study then went on to expand on these previous findings by also determining that these common risk factors were independent of *M. tuberculosis* genotype (defined as Beijing or non-Beijing strains), HIV status and, among foreign-born individuals, time since arrival.

#### 6.3 Strengths of the Research Studies

The methodological strength of the study investigating foreign-born TB incidence in Canada (Chapter 3) resulted from the analysis of data from national TB and immigration databases. Precise denominator data from the federal agency responsible for immigration negated the need to derive population estimates from census data or other population surveys. The analysis of national-level data from the Canadian Tuberculosis Reporting System also eliminated the impact of post-immigration (secondary) migration within Canada and other jurisdictional limitations encountered with province-specific studies.<sup>19, 22-24</sup> The acquisition of precise national-level numerator and denominator data over a prolonged study period enabled this investigation to be the most comprehensive report of foreign-born TB in Canada to date.

The two studies related to Beijing strains (Chapter 4 and Chapter 5) are the foremost studies of their kind in Canada as well as other low TB incidence immigrant-receiving countries. The analysis of a comprehensive provincial TB dataset derived through the amalgamation of TB Registry and mycobacteriology data was critical for the Beijing studies. In particular, the use of this dataset minimized selection and information bias. The assessment of genomic deletions (RD105) as a means of discriminating Beijing from non-Beijing strains significantly enhanced the accuracy of strain identification compared to the more common use of spoligotyping, mycobacterial interspersed repetitive unit-variable number tandem repeat (MIRU-VNTR) typing, or the comparison of IS6110 restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) patterns to international references strains. The accuracy of strain classification was further assured through secondary genotyping on a substantial convenience sample of isolates, several of which were genotyped at laboratories external to the Provincial Laboratory for Public Health. Another distinguishing feature of these studies was the inclusion of a measure of pathogen load (semi-quantitative scores for acid-fast bacilli (AFB) load on baseline sputum smears) as this presumably serves as a proxy for the infectiousness of the source.

As Alberta is one of four primary immigrant-receiving provinces in Canada, three of which have very similar immigration patterns (Alberta, Ontario and British Columbia), the results of the Beijing studies are anticipated to have national relevance. The generalizability of the study results to other low TB incidence immigrant-receiving countries will be influenced by the degree of similarity in immigration patterns.

#### 6.4 Limitations and Implications for Future Research

Although novel contributions have been added by these studies to the field of foreign-born TB research, there are several limitations that could be addressed through future studies. First, the analysis of foreign-born tuberculosis in Canada was limited by the exclusion of foreign-born temporary residents. As TB incidence is highest within a relatively short period of time post-arrival among permanent residents, it would be beneficial to determine if similar rate patterns occur among temporary residents. It is anticipated that future studies in this area will identify additional high-yield targets for screening for LTBI. Similarly, another area for future study is the potential impact of migrant type (economic, family reunification, refugee, skilled worker, etc) on the distribution of TB in foreign-born populations as migrants may not equally reflect the TB incidence rates of their place of origin.

The availability of year of arrival only, without consistent identification of day and month, did not permit a more accurate evaluation of TB incidence rates within the first two years of arrival in any of the studies. A more precise assessment of TB incidence patterns within the first 2 year of arrival would be highly advantageous for TB control programs as it may enable the identification of a shorter period for targeted screening, a finding that could translate into logistical and cost benefit advantages.

In the studies related to the Beijing family of strains, the relatively small number of Beijing cases resulted in estimates of limited precision (for example, MDR-TB, HIV-TB co-infection, risk factors for transmission). Further

investigation of the associations between Beijing strains and these factors within larger datasets would be informative.

The transmission index used in the second Beijing study was more suitable for the quantification of recent transmission within an expansive study period than previously published indices.<sup>12, 13, 25</sup> Nonetheless, it shares many of the same limitations as other TB transmission indices as that it inadequately captures the complexities of transmission such as the mutation rates of the genetic markers, growth within the infectious populations, sampling proportions, and generation time.<sup>26</sup> There is a continued need to develop and validate a transmission index that can more accurately draw quantitative inferences from genotyped samples.<sup>26</sup>

Several additional issues are considered to be of importance for future research related to foreign-born tuberculosis. Population-specific variations in the association between Beijing strains and drug resistance (Chapter 4), as well as inconsistencies in the disease presentation of Beijing strains in the larger body of literature, may result from differences in the pathogenic characteristics of Beijing sublineages. It would therefore be beneficial for future population-based studies to examine the epidemiological and disease characteristics of cases in relation to Beijing sublineage. Another issue relates to the dynamic immigration policies of immigrant-receiving countries. In particular, it is important to determine if the recommended high-yield targets for screening for LTBI remain relevant within the context of continually shifting in immigration patterns and levels. Further, studies are needed to identify the potential reduction in TB incidence that could result from routine evidenced-based screening of these targets, including the indirect prevention of secondary cases. This information could then be used to inform cost-effectiveness analyses. Finally, a highly relevant and important area for future study is the identification of preventive therapy regimens that would support the routine screening of the highest-yield target group, namely immigrants aged >64 years at arrival who are within 2 years of arrival from a high incidence country of birth (>50 per 100,000 population).

# 6.5 Conclusions

Immigrant-receiving countries will continue to be challenged by TB in their foreign-born populations for the foreseeable future given the continued high global prevalence of TB and unprecedented levels of human migration. The identification of a high-yield target group suitable for the routine screening for LTBI provides a tangible starting point for the renewed consideration of evidencebased in-country screening strategies for the prevention of TB in the foreign-born. At the same time, it is reassuring that the importation and subsequent reactivation of Beijing strains generally pose similar challenges for TB control programs as other *M. tuberculosis* strain families. The one exception -- the increased occurrence of MDR-TB among individuals born in the Western Pacific and infected with Beijing strains -- serves as a stark reminder of the threats being posed by the global emergence of drug-resistant strains. Now is the opportune time to lessen this threat in immigrant-receiving countries through the provision of effective screening strategies in the foreign-born population.

# 6.6 References

- Fountain FF, Tolley E, Chrisman CR, Self TH. Isoniazid hepatotoxicity associated with treatment of latent tuberculosis infection: a 7-year evaluation from a public health tuberculosis clinic. *Chest* 2005;128(1): 116-123.
- (2) Public Health Agency of Canada, Canadian Lung Association/ Canadian Thoracic Society. *Canadian Tuberculosis Standards*. Long R, Ellis E, eds. 6<sup>th</sup> ed. Ottawa, Canada: Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, represented by the Minister of Health; 2007.
- (3) Nolan CM, Goldberg SV, Buskin SE. Hepatotoxicity associated with isoniazid preventive therapy: a 7-year survey from a public health tuberculosis clinic. JAMA 1999;281(11):1014-1018.
- Menzies D. Screening immigrants to Canada for tuberculosis: Chest radiography or tuberculin skin testing? *CMAJ* 2003;169(10):1035-1036.
- (5) American Thoracic Society. Targeted tuberculin testing and treatment of latent tuberculosis infection. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2000; 161(4): S221-S247.
- (6) Citizenship and Immigration Canada. Annual Report to Parliament on Immigration, 2009. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Public Works and Government Services Canada; 2009.
- (7) Statistics Canada. Population Projections for Canada, Provinces and Territories: 2009 to 2036. Ottawa, Canada: Minister of Industry; 2010.
- (8) Zuber PLF, Mckenna MT, Binkin NJ, Onorato IM, Castro KG. Long-term risk of tuberculosis among foreign-born persons in the United States. *JAMA* 1997;278(4):304-307.
- Reed MB, Pichler VK, McIntosh F et al. Major *Mycobacterium* tuberculosis lineages associate with patient country of origin. J Clin Microbiol 2009;47(4):1119-1128.
- (10) Hirsh AE, Tsolaki AG, DeRiemer K, Feldman MW, Small PM. Stable association between strains of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and their

human host populations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2004;101(14):4871-4876.

- (11) Gagneux S, DeRiemer K, Van T et al. Variable host-pathogen compatibility in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2006;103(8):2869-2873.
- (12) Borgdorff MW, van den Hof S, Kremer K et al. Progress towards tuberculosis elimination: secular trend, immigration and transmission. *Eur Respir J* 2010;36(2):339-347.
- (13) Borgdorff M, Nagelkerke NJ, Hopewell PC, Small PM. Transmission of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* depending on the age and sex of source cases. *Am J Epidemiol* 2001;154(10):934-943.
- (14) Borgdorff MW, Behr MA, Nagelkerke NJ, Hopewell PC, Small PM. Transmission of tuberculosis in San Francisco and its association with immigration and ethnicity. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2000;4(4):287-294.
- (15) Jensen M, Lau A, Langlois-Klassen D, Boffa J, Manfreda J, Long R. Eliminating tuberculosis: a population-based study of TB epidemiology and innovative service delivery in Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis.* In press.
- (16) Helke KL, Mankowski JL, Manabe YC. Animal models of cavitation in pulmonary tuberculosis. *Tuberculosis (Edinb.)* 2006;86(5):337-348.
- (17) Nava-Aguilera E, Andersson N, Harris E et al. Risk factors associated with recent transmission of tuberculosis: systematic review and metaanalysis. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2009;13(1):17-26.
- (18) Golub JE, Bur S, Cronin WA et al. Delayed tuberculosis diagnosis and tuberculosis transmission. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2006;10(1):24-30.
- (19) Kunimoto D, Sutherland K, Wooldrage K et al. Transmission characteristics of tuberculosis in the foreign-born and the Canadian-born populations of Alberta, Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2004;8(10):1213-1220.
- (20) Vynnycky E, Nagelkerke N, Borgdorff MW, van Soolingen D, van Embden JD, Fine PE. The effect of age and study duration on the

relationship between 'clustering' of DNA fingerprint patterns and the proportion of tuberculosis disease attributable to recent transmission. *Epidemiol Infect* 2001;126(1):43-62.

- (21) Franzetti F, Codecasa L, Matteelli A et al. Genotyping analyses of tuberculosis transmission among immigrant residents in Italy. *Clin Microbiol Infect* 2010;16(8):1149-1154.
- (22) Creatore MI, Lam M, Wobeser WL. Patterns of tuberculosis risk over time among recent immigrants to Ontario, Canada. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2005;9(6):667-672.
- (23) Wobeser WL, Yuan L, Naus M et al. Expanding the epidemiologic profile: risk factors for active tuberculosis in people immigrating to Ontario. *CMAJ* 2000;163(7):823-828.
- (24) Long R, Sutherland K, Kunimoto D, Cowie R, Manfreda J. The epidemiology of tuberculosis among foreign-born persons in Alberta, Canada, 1989-1998: identification of high risk groups. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis* 2002;6(7):615-621.
- (25) Borgdorff MW, Nagelkerke N, van Soolingen D, de Haas PEW, Veen J, van Embden JD. Analysis of tuberculosis transmission between nationalities in the Netherlands in the period 1993-1995 using DNA fingerprinting. *Am J Epidemiol* 1998;147(2):187-195.
- (26) Tanaka MM, Phong R, Francis AR. An evaluation of indices for quantifying tuberculosis transmission using genotypes of pathogen isolates. *BMC Infect Dis* 2006;6:92.

# APPENDIX A: LOW TB INCIDENCE COUNTRIES WITH VERY HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

Low TB Incidence Countries			
(WHO estimated smear positive TB per 100,000 pop)*			
1)	Monaco (1.3)	35) Belgium (7.1)	
2)	Iceland (1.9)	36) Czech Republic (7.2)	
3)	Barbados (2.2)	37) Luxembourg (7.2)	
4)	Bermuda (2.2)	38) Austria (7.3)	
5)	Cayman Islands (2.2)	39) Ireland (7.4)	
6)	Grenada (2.2)	40) British Virgin Islands (7.5)	
7)	Sweden (2.6)	41) Cuba (7.7)	
8)	Cyprus (2.8)	42) Dominica (7.8)	
9)	United States of America (2.9)	43) Costa Rica (7.8)	
10)	Canada (2.9)	44) France (8.1)	
11)	Australia (3.0)	45) Saint Lucia (8.2)	
12)	Jordan (3.1)	46) Cook Islands (8.3)	
13)	Antigua & Barbuda (3.3)	47) West Bank & Gaza Strip (8.3)	
14)	Norway (3.3)	48) United Arab Emirates (9.3)	
15)	Jamaica (3.4)	49) Turks & Caicos Islands (9.8)	
16)	Malta (3.6)	50) Lebanon (9.9)	
17)	Puerto Rico (3.6)	51) Greece (10.5)	
18)	San Marino (3.7)	52) Libyan Arab Jamahiriya (10.7)	
19)	Italy (4.3)	53) Albania (10.8)	
20)	New Zealand (4.3)	54) Mauritius (11.2)	
21)	American Samoa (4.4)	55) Samoa (11.2)	
22)	Israel (4.4)	56) Andorra (11.2)	
23)	Netherlands (4.4)	57) Slovenia (11.9)	
24)	Netherlands Antilles (4.4)	58) Syrian Arab Republic (12.2)	
25)	Montserrat (4.6)	59) Egypt (12.4)	
26)	Denmark (4.8)	60) Anguilla (12.5)	
27)	Finland (4.9)	61) Chile (12.5)	
28)	Switzerland (4.9)	62) Tunisia (12.5)	
29)	Trinidad & Tobago (5.0)	63) Tonga (12.8)	
30)	Saint Kitts & Nevis (5.3)	64) Uruguay (13.5)	
31)	United Kingdom (5.5)	65) Slovakia (13.9)	
32)	Germany (5.7)	66) Kuwait (14.0)	
33)	United States Virgin Islands (6.1)	67) Saint Vincent & the Grenadines (14.4)	
34)	Oman (6.6)	68) Iran (14.4)	

# APPENDIX A: LOW TB INCIDENCE COUNTRIES WITH VERY HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT (Con't)

Very High Human Development (Index Score) <sup>†</sup>				
<ol> <li>Luxembourg (0.958)</li> <li>Norway (0.955)</li> <li>Liechtenstein (0.951)</li> <li>Canada (0.950)</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>14) Andorra (0.934)</li> <li>15) Finland (0.934)</li> <li>16) Austria (0.933)</li> <li>17) Denmark (0.931)</li> </ul>			
<ol> <li>Australia (0.946)</li> <li>Netherlands (0.946)</li> <li>United States (0.945)</li> <li>Sweden (0.944)</li> <li>Switzerland (0.943)</li> <li>Japan (0.942)</li> <li>Iceland (0.942)</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Spain (0.929)</li> <li>United Kingdom (0.929)</li> <li>Ireland (0.929)</li> <li>Germany (0.926)</li> <li>New Zealand (0.924)</li> <li>Italy (0.924)</li> <li>Israel (0.905)</li> </ol>			
12) France (0.939)25) Greece (0.903)13) Belgium (0.937)26) Brunei Darussalam (0.901)Low TB Incidence Countries with Very High Human Development				
<ol> <li>Andorra</li> <li>Australia</li> <li>Austria</li> <li>Belgium</li> <li>Canada</li> <li>Denmark</li> <li>Finland</li> <li>France</li> <li>Germany</li> <li>Greece</li> <li>Iceland</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>12) Ireland</li> <li>13) Israel</li> <li>14) Italy</li> <li>15) Luxembourg</li> <li>16) Netherlands</li> <li>17) New Zealand</li> <li>18) Norway</li> <li>19) Sweden</li> <li>20) Switzerland</li> <li>21) United Kingdom</li> <li>22) United States</li> </ul>			

\* Global TB database. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2010. (http://www.who.int/tb/country/global\_tb\_database/en/) (Accessed August 25, 2010).

<sup>†</sup> Human development reports. Getting and using data: Get data by country, indicator or table from the 2009 report. HDI trends and indicators (1980-2007). New York, NY: United Nations Development Programme; 2009. (http://hdr.undp.org/en/statistics/data/). (Accessed August 25, 2010).

# APPENDIX B: ETHICS APPROVAL FOR THE STUDY OF BEIJING STRAINS IN ALBERTA

# **Re-Approval Form**

Date:	January 12, 2011
Principal Investigator:	Richard Long
Renewal ID:	Pro00001161_REN3
Study Title:	Mycobacterium tuberculosis
Approval Expiry Date:	January 11, 2012
Sponsor/Funding Agency:	CIHR - Canadian Institutes for Health Research

The Health Research Ethics Board - Biomedical Panel has reviewed the renewal request and file for this project and found it to be acceptable within the limitations of human experimentation.

The re-approval for the study as presented is valid for one year. It may be extended following completion of the annual renewal request. Beginning 45 days prior to expiration, you will receive notices that the study is about to expire. Once the study has expired you will have to resubmit. Any proposed changes to the study must be submitted to the HREB for approval prior to implementation.

All study-related documents should be retained, so as to be available to the HREB on request. They should be kept for the duration of the project and for at least five years following study completion.

Sincerely,

S.K.M. Kimber, MD, FRCPC Chair, Health Research Ethics Board - Biomedical Panel

Note: This correspondence includes an electronic signature (validation and approval via an online system).

# APPENDIX C: PERMISSION TO REPRODUCE 'MAP MAKER' MAP

Re: Permission request Sent: Thu 18/08/2011 1:35 AM From: Map Maker [info@mapmaker.com] To: Deanne Langlois-Klassen

Deanne Langlois-Klassen,

You are very welcome to reproduce the map. If you do include a credited we'd prefer it if it read "the figure was created with Map Maker *Gratis* (www.mapmaker.com)."

Good luck with your thesis.

Eric Dudley (PhD!).



Map Maker Ltd, The Pier Carradale, Kintyre, Argyll, PA28 6SQ, United Kingdom Telephone: [44] (0)1583 431 358, Fax: +44 (0)870 622 1428 web site: www.mapmaker.com

Sun Clock can now be used as your desktop, with or without near real-time clouds.

Registered as a limited liability company in England and Wales, Company number: 3147372 Registered company address: 64 Tensison Road, Cambridge, CBI 2DW VAT number: 676-6821-88